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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2013
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 000-51788

Oracle Corporation
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(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
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(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which register¢
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per st The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%ed®#turities Act. YESIX] NO O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. YESO NO
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seati8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥ES NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&bsite, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRide 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this d:he)pjurmg the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). YHRI NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (828% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the beskgistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference
in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthéstForm 10-K. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maocelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
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Act.

Large accelerated fileilx] Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer I Smaller reporting company]
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). YESO NO
The aggregate market value of the voting stock hgldon-affiliates of the registrant was $113,623,800 based on the number of shares he
by non-affiliates of the registrant as of May 3013, and based on the closing sale price of constamk as reported by the NASDAQ Global
Select Market on November 30, 2012, which is tise baisiness day of the registrant’s most recemtfyaeted second fiscal quarter. This
calculation does not reflect a determination tlespns are affiliates for any other purpo:
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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

” w

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@raéwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporati and its consolidated subsidiaries. This
Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statementsahanot historical in nature, are predictive itun@, or that depend upon or refer to future
events or conditions or otherwise contain forwaroking statements within the meaning of Sectiom®the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

as amended, and the Private Securities Litigatieioin Act of 1995. These include, among other thjrsgatements regarding:

e our expectation to continue to acquire companiexjycts, services and technologi

 our intention that our direct sales force will ggibportionately more of our hardware systems petlin the future

» continued realization of gains or losses with respe our foreign currency exposur:

e our expectation that our software busir total revenues generally will continue to incret

« our belief that software license updates and prosgport revenues and margins will grc

e our expectation that our hardware business wileHawer operating margins as a percentage of reasthan our software busine
* our international operations providing a significportion of our total revenues and expen

* our expectation to continue to make significanestments in research and development and relateldigiropportunities, includir
those related to hardware products and serv

e our expectation to grow our consulting revent
« the sufficiency of our sources of funding for agjtidns or other matter.
e our expectation to continue paying comparable dagtends on a quarterly bas

» our belief that we have adequately provided for @asonably foreseeable outcomes related tcaauiabilities and that any tax
settlement will not have a material adverse eféecour consolidated financial position or resufteperations

« our belief that the outcome of certain legal pextings and claims to which we are a party wil| imatividually or in the aggregate,
result in losses that are materially in excessduants already recognized, if at

e our expectation to incur the majority of the rémirag expenses pursuant to the Fiscal 2013 OraefrRcturing Plan through fiscal
2014 and our expectation to improve efficienciesunoperations that will impact our Fiscal 201&6e Restructuring Pla

e our expectation that seasonal trends will continuéscal 2014;

e our expectation to continue to depend on thindyp@anufacturers to build certain hardware systproglucts and third party
logistics providers to deliver our produc

e our expectation that to the extent customerswengport contracts or cloud software subscriptimorgracts, we will recognize
revenues for the full contra’ values over the respective renewal perit

< our experience and ability to predict quarterlydveare systems products revent

 the timing of customer orders and delays in duilitg to manufacture or deliver a few large tractians substantially affecting the
amount of hardware systems products revenues, sgp@md operating margins that we will rep

as well as other statements regarding our futuegatipns, financial condition and prospects, arsir®ss strategies. Forward-looking
statements may be preceded by, followed by or decthe words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intendspgldns,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,”
“will,” “is designed to” and similar expressions.a/¢laim the protection of the safe harbor for favboking statements contained in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 &l forward-looking statements. We have baseddtierward-looking statements on our
current expectations and projections about futuemes. These forward-looking statements are subjeisks, uncertainties and assumptions
about our business that could affect our futureltesind could cause those results or other outsamediffer materially from those expressed
or implied in the forward-looking statements. Fastthat might cause or contribute to such diffeesniaclude, but are not limited to, those

discussed in “Risk Factors” included elsewhere
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in this Annual Report and as may be updated ingdiwe make from time to time with the Securitied Exchange Commission (the SEC),
including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q tdileel by us in our fiscal year 2014, which runsrrdune 1, 2013 to May 31, 2014.

We have no obligation to publicly update or re\asg forward-looking statements, whether as a reguiew information, future events or
risks, except to the extent required by applicakleurities laws. If we do update one or more fodAaoking statements, no inference shoul
drawn that we will make additional updates withpess to those or other forward-looking statemelesw information, future events or risks
could cause the forward-looking events we discashis Annual Report not to occur. You should nlecp undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which reflect our expectationly as of the date of this Annual Report.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business
General

We are the world largest provider of enterprise software and diteggprovider of computer hardware products andises that are engineel
to work together in the cloud and in the data aemi&e are a leader in the core technologies ofcckmmputing, including database and
middleware as well as web-based applications, alitation, clustering and largesale systems management. We provide cloud seracel|
as software and hardware products to other clotdceeproviders, both public and private. Oracléattase and middleware software,
applications software and hardware systems—inctudomputer server, storage and networking produate-the building blocks of our own
cloud services, our partners’ cloud services anccagstomers’ private cloud environments. Our cugtiantan subscribe to use select Oracle
software and hardware products through our clotetiofys, or purchase our software and hardwareymtscand related services to build their
own private cloud or opremise information technology (IT) environmentsirGtrategy is to deliver reliable and scalabledpris and service
that are built upon industry standards and arenemsged to work together or independently. We alssye new or emerging growth
opportunities in order to maintain technology leatig. Offering customers a choice in how they aseproducts and services—while
maintaining enterprise-grade reliability, secudtyd interoperability—is important to our corporateategy.

We believe that internal growth and continued irat@mn with respect to our software, hardware amdices businesses are the foundation of
our long-term strategic plans. In fiscal 2013, weeisted $4.9 billion and in each of fiscal 2012 26d1 we invested $4.5 billion, in research
and development to enhance our existing portfdijproducts and services and to develop new produadsservices. We continue to focus the
engineering of our hardware and software productadke them work together more effectively andwéelimproved computing performance,
reliability and security to our customers. For epdanOracle Engineered Systems, which include agacl® Exadata Database Machine, Oracl
Exalogic Elastic Cloud and Oracle SPARC SuperCiysteducts, among others, combine certain of omkare and software offerings in a
way that increases computing performance relativaut competitors’ products, creating time savirgficiencies and operational cost
advantages for our customers. With products tteaeagineered to work together, our customers aduceemuch of the complexity of IT and
make available resources they would otherwise spand operations. In addition to our introducti@fsew, innovative hardware and
software products, we also continue to demonstrateommitment to customer choice through ongomg@cements to our existing produ
including our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, Reqit and JD Edwards applications software praguct

Our software, hardware systems and services busgisese further divided into certain operating segs1 Our software business is comprisec
of two operating segments: (1) new software licerss®l cloud software subscriptions and (2) softWieemse updates and product support.
hardware systems business is comprised of two tpgrsegments: (1) hardware systems products gritef@ware systems support. Our
services business is comprised of the remaindeubperating segments and offers consulting sesyimanaged cloud services and educatio
services. Our software, hardware systems and ssriigsinesses represented 74%, 14% and 12% aftaliredvenues, respectively, in fiscal
2013; 70%, 17% and 13%, respectively, in fiscalZ@hd 68%, 19% and 13%, respectively, in fiscdl12(Bee Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included elsesvimethis Annual Report, for additional informaticelated to our operating segments.

We believe that an active acquisition program istla@r important element of our corporate strategif anhances the products and services
we can offer to customers, expands our custome, Ipagvides greater scale to accelerate innovagiaws our revenues and earnings and
increases stockholder value. In recent years, we imwvested billions of dollars to acquire a numbiecompanies, products, services and
technologies that add to, are complementary tbage otherwise enhanced our existing offerings éWfect to continue to acquire companies
products, services and technologies to furthercogporate strategy.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslawsre corporation and is the successor to opastioiginally begun in June 1977.

Oracle and Cloud Computing

Oracle’s cloud solutions include a broad suiteutfsgription-based, enterprise-grade cloud sendodsa portfolio of cloud products to build
and manage public and private clouds. Our compsathertioud strategy enables customers to choosegtiteapproach for them, whether it is
a cloud environment through the use of Oracle Clthudugh one of our Oracle private cloud environtrefferings, or through the use of our
Oracle Engineered Systems as the foundation fdoeess’ cloud environments.
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Oracle Cloud

Oracle Cloud is a comprehensive set of cloud servfterings that is designed to provide customatsgartners with access to application
services, social services, platform services amdnson infrastructure services on a subscriptiondodsit we host, manage and support. Oracl
Cloud is built upon open industry standards sucB@k, Java and HTMLS5 for easier application pottahiintegration and development.
Oracle Cloud is designed to deliver:

» data isolation and flexible upgrad:

 self-service control for user

« a Servic-Oriented Architecture (SOA) for integration with-premise system:

« built-in social, mobile and business insight capabilitaes

 a high performance, high availability infrastruetirased on Oracle Exadata Database Machine ante@vealogic Elastic Clouc

Oracle Cloud Application Services automate missiotieal business functions, including enterprieeaurce planning, budgeting, financial
reporting, human capital management, talent managersales and marketing, and customer servics@pybrt, among others.

Oracle Cloud Social Services include secure so@gtorking for enterprise collaboration, social apgment and monitoring across social
channels, social marketing, and data and insigtsticl® Cloud Social Services are designed to heJprozations use social data, channels and
tools to drive greater customer understandingntiage customers through compelling social expeegro gain brand insights, to transform
enterprise collaboration and recruitment, and ticarbusiness applications with external companytact and industry data.

Oracle Cloud Platform Services deliver Oracle Dasgband Java services in the cloud so that dewslopa extend Oracle Cloud Application
Services or build new applications. Customers arthprs can use our open, standards-based Jafampléased on Oracle WebLogic Server
to build, test, deploy and scale applications sdloud. Customers also have access to Oracle &sdas a cloud service, including tools for
rapid application development, RESTful web servi&3L and PL/SQL support and a suite of produgtiajiplications.

Oracle Private Cloud Offerings

Oracle’s private cloud offerings are a comprehangiertfolio of software and hardware products asmises that enterprises use to build,
deploy, integrate, secure and manage their praaitevare-as-a-service, platform-as-a-service afrdstructure-as-a-service cloud services.
Oracle’s private cloud offerings include applicagoplatform and infrastructure offerings.

Oracle’s Cloud Applications span numerous missidtical business functions, can be deployed iniegpe cloud, and can be hosted and
managed through Oracle Managed Cloud Serviceslésacloud Platform provides a shared and elasticaiffable platform for consolidatii
existing applications and developing and deployiag applications. Oracle’s Cloud Platform inclu@scle Database, Oracle Fusion
Middleware and Oracle Engineered Systems, all a€lwprovide a high level of performance and efficig for mixed workloads, and Oracle
Enterprise Manager for cloud management. OracleadCInfrastructure offers a wide selection of sesy storage, networking fabric,
virtualization software, operating systems and rgangnt software to support diverse applicationireqments. Oracle’s Cloud Infrastructure
supports dynamic resource pooling, elastic scafplaihd rapid application deployment through apgien-aware virtualization and
management capabilities.

In addition, our Oracle Infrastructure-as-a-Sen{ieaS) offerings, which are generally 3 year naneellable arrangements, provide Oracle
Engineered Systems hardware and related suppodrhaeployed in our customers’ data centers fooathly fee. Eligible systems for our
Oracle laaS offerings include Oracle Exadata Daabsachine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oractalfgics In-Memory Machine, Oracle
SPARC SuperCluster, Oracle Database Appliance aadi®©Big Data Appliance. For certain of our Ordeéteineered Systems, Oracle laaS
includes elastic compute capacity on demand sacthsibmers pay for the extra capacity only durivegtime it is used. For certain Oracle
Engineered Systems, Oracle laaS also includes ®©PRdatinum and PlatinumPlus Services for a higéeellof support and advisory services.
Oracle PlatinumPlus Services helps ensure thesensgsemain configured and tuned correctly withrigrly automated assessments for
performance, availability and security.
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Oracle Engineered Systems

Oracle Engineered Systems are core building bltmk®racle’s data center and cloud computing ofiigsi These pre-integrated products are
designed to be upgraded effectively and efficieatig simplify routine maintenance by providing rgé solution for software patching. They
are tested before they are shipped to customerdelivéred ready to run, enabling customers totshahe time to production. Oracle’s
Engineered Systems include:

» Oracle Exadata Database Machireefamily of integrated software and hardware pregititat combines our database, storage anc
operating system software with our server, stoeagknetworking hardware and is designed to prozidigh performance database
system for online transaction processing and datalousing application

« Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloudin engineered system that combines Oracle Fusiddidivare software with our server, storage
networking hardware to run Java and non-Java adjits and provide customers with an applicatidagrm for cloud
computing;

« Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machina,single server that is designed to be configupeéhfmemory analytics for business
intelligence workloads

« Oracle SPARC SuperClustergeneral purpose engineered system that comlieemptimized database performance of Oracle
Exadata storage and the accelerated middlewarampiatation processing of the Oracle Exalogic EtaStoud on a SPARC/Sola
platform;

« Oracle Database Appliancan integrated, fault resilient system of databeperating system and virtualization software, sexve
storage and networking hardware in a single bokithdesigned to deliver high-availability databasevices for a wide range of
homegrown and packaged online transaction proag$8hTP) and data warehousing applications;

« Oracle Big Data Appliancean engineered system designed for acquiring, ozganand loading unstructured data into an Oracle
database. By integrating the key components of alaia platform such as Hadoop and Oracle NoSQhHaske into a single
product, Oracle Big Data Appliance is a scalabtedaita infrastructure system that is designeddaae the risks of a custom-built
solution.

Software, Hardware Systems and Services Businesses
Software Business

Our software business consists of our new softegases and cloud software subscriptions segmehsaftware license updates and produc
support segment.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi

The new software licenses and cloud software sigiurs operating segment of our software busimedsdes database, middleware and
applications software licenses, as well as clodthsoe subscriptions that provide access to a braade of our software offerings.

Our software solutions are built on a standardethaschitecture that is designed to help customeehsce the cost and complexity of their IT
infrastructure. Our commitment to industry standabults in software that works in customer emritents with Oracle or non-Oracle
hardware or software components and that can lEedito meet specific industry or business neeldis. dpproach is designed to support
customer choice and reduce customer risk. Our softywroducts are designed to operate on both ssegler and clustered server
configurations for cloud or on-premise IT enviromteand to support a choice of operating systeeiading Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux,
Microsoft Windows and third party UNIX products, ang others.

New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptrevenues represented 28%, 27% and 26% of¢ahues in fiscal 2013, 2012 &
2011, respectively.

Database and Middleware Software

Our database and middleware software provide aerahgfferings that are designed to provide a effgetive, high-performance platform for
running and managing business applications for imedsusinesses, as well as large, global entegr@er customers are increasingly focused
on reducing the total cost of their IT infrastruet@nd we believe that our software offerings hiegm
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achieve this goal. Our software is designed to moeodate demanding, non-stop business environmsing olustered middleware and
database servers and storage. These clusterssigeetbto scale incrementally as required to addoas customers’ IT capacity, satisfy their
planning and procurement needs, support their basiapplications with a standardized platform &echire, reduce their risk of data loss and
IT infrastructure downtime and efficiently utilizzvailable IT resources to meet quality of serviggeetations.

Database Softwar

Oracle Database software is the world’s most popniterprise database software. It is designedable reliable and secure storage, retrieval
and manipulation of all forms of data, includingartsactional data, business information and aratysiemi-structured and unstructured data it
the form of weblogs, text, social media feeds, Xfiles, office documents, images, video and spatialges; and other specialized forms of
data, such as human genomic and medical data.eObathbase software is used for a variety of pwgdacluding packaged applications,
custom application development, OLTP applicatiatata warehousing and business intelligence andlaswanent repository or specialized
data store.

We also offer customers in-memory database softvirackiding Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database vtiogld’'s most popular in-memory
database. Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database igribto deliver real-time data management andg#@tion processing speeds for
performance-critical applications, from complex lgtieal queries and speed-of-thought data visutibna to mission-critical, industry-specific
applications such as call centers, trading platfpnaservation systems and smart meters. Oracleslien In-Memory Database supports
multiple computing platforms, can serve as a caclsecelerate Oracle Database and can work asdattame database at the application tier.

A number of optional addn products are available with Oracle Databaserfrise Edition software to address specific custorequirements
In the areas of performance and scalability, wero@iracle Real Application Clusters, Oracle Advah€empression and Oracle Partitioning
software options. In the area of data securitypffer Oracle Advanced Security, Oracle Databasdty@uacle Audit Vault and Database
Firewall software options.

In addition to Oracle Database, we also offer d@fpliw of specialized database software productsddress particular customer requirements,
including:

* MySQL, the world’s most popular open source datapdssigned for high performance and scalabilitwelh applications and
embedded applications, available in Enterprisendgted, Classic, Cluster and Community editic

» Oracle Berkeley DB, a family of open source, emladydie] relational, XML and key-value (NoSQL) datadxmdesigned for
developers to embed within their applications aedaks; anc

» Oracle NoSQL Database, a distributed key-valuebdesa designed for high availability and massivéabdiy of high volume
transaction processing with predictable -latency.

Big Data

Oracle also offers products to address the fultspe of enterprise big data requirements, inclgdimbedded Java, Oracle NoSQL Database
and MySQL products for acquiring big data; Oracig Bata Appliance and Oracle Data integrator tcaaige big data; and Oracle Advanced
Analytics database option, Oracle Exadata Databsdine, and Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machinatalyze big data. With Oracle’s big
data offerings, an enterprise can evolve its ctireaterprise data architecture to incorporate big @vhile taking advantage of the proven
reliability, flexibility and performance of Oracleformation management products.

Middleware Softwar:

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is a broad famfljntegrated application infrastructure softwpreducts that is designed to form a reli
and scalable foundation on which customers camlpdéploy, secure, access and integrate businpisatjpns and automate their business
processes. Built with Oracle’s Java technologyfpiat, Oracle Fusion Middleware products can be wsed foundation for custom, packaged
and composite applications—or applications thatlmadeployed in private or public cloud environnsent

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is designed tdqmt customers’ IT investments and work with b@tlacle and non-Oracle database,
middleware and applications software through itsrogrchitecture and adherence to industry stand@p#ifically, Oracle Fusion Middlewa
software is designed to enable customers to ine@eacle and non-Oracle business applications,

6



Table of Contents

automate business processes, scale applicationsgbcustomer demand, simplify security and comp&amanage lifecycles of documents
and get actionable, targeted business intelligeadt®hile continuing to utilize their existing I9ystems. In addition, Oracle Fusion Middlew
software supports multiple development languages@ois, which enables developers to build andalepleb services, websites, portals and
web-based applications.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is available @mious software products and suites, includingeiewing:

» Oracle WebLogic Server and Cloud Application Fourmaa designed to be the most complete, best-aébpatform for
developing cloud application

» Oracle SOA Suite of software products used to eredploy and manage applications on a Se-Oriented Architecture

» Business Process Management Suite software prothattare designed to enable businesses and I&gsiofals to design,
implement, automate and evolve business processesarkflows within and across organizatio

» Business Intelligence Suite, a comprehensive saenhaliytic software products designed to providearusrs with the information
they need to make better business decis

 Identity and Access Management software, whicldagggned to enable customers to manage internabdechal users, to secure
corporate information from potential software thseand to streamline compliance initiatives whileéring the total cost of their
security and compliance initiative

< Data Integration software, which is designed tdoaervasive and continuous access to timely arstetd data across
heterogeneous systems, including real-time and dat& movement, transformation,difectional replication, data services and
quality for customer and product domai

« Web Experience Management, Portals, Content Manageamd Social Networks software, a user engageptatfiorm for social
business, designed to help people work togethee mfficiently through contextual collaboration tethat optimize connections
between people, information and applications arehure users have access to the right informatitre context of the business
process in which they are engaged;

« Development Tools, including Oracle JDeveloperind@grated software environment designed to fatdirapid development of
applications using Oracle Fusion Middleware andupexpopen source technologit

Oracle Fusion Middleware software products alsaesklkey enterprise technology trends includingneass analytics and mobile computing.

Business Analytics

Business analytics software enables enterprisdistover new ways to strategize, plan and optirhizginess operations. Oracle Business
Analytics products are designed to enable customegain insight into every aspect of their businés better plan and forecast, and to flex
access their data from a number of computing devideacle Business Analytics products include gmise performance management and
analytic applications software, business intellgeroftware, and advanced analytic software.

Mobile Computing

Oracle provides a wide range of software for mobdmputing. For example, Oracle Business IntelligeMobile provides business
intelligence functionality, from interactive daslalsds to location intelligence, while enabling ugdermitiate business processes from a mobile
device. Oracle ADF Mobile enables developers tédoand extend enterprise applications for populabife devices from a single code base.
Oracle ADF Mobile supports access to native desawices, enables offline applications and protentsrprise investments from future
technology shifts.

Java

Java is the computer industry’s most widely-usdthsoe development language and is viewed as aafkihndard. The Java programming
language and platform together represent one ahitbet popular and powerful development environmantse world, one that is used by
millions of developers globally to develop businapglications. Oracle Fusion Middleware softwaredpicts and Oracle Fusion Applications
are built using our Java technology platform, whighbelieve is a key advantage for our business.

7
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Java is designed to enable developers to writevacdton a single platform and run it on many ottiferent platforms, independent of
operating system and hardware architecture. Javaden adopted by both independent software verii®v3 that have built their products on
Java and by enterprise organizations building eastpplications or consuming Java-based ISV products

Management Software

Oracle Enterprise Manager is Oracle’s integratedrpnise IT management and cloud management farhityoducts. Oracle Enterprise
Manager is designed to combine the self-manageoagathilities built into Oracle products with itsdinessdriven IT management capabiliti
to deliver a holistic approach to IT managemenbdsgthe entire Oracle technology portfolio, inchglOracle Database and Oracle Exadata,
Oracle Fusion Middleware and Oracle Exalogic E¢aSloud, Oracle Applications, Oracle Solaris, Oeddhux, Oracle VM and our complete
hardware portfolio. Oracle Enterprise Manager sigleed to manage Oracle’s software and hardwatéfiorwhether deployed using
traditional IT architectures or in cloud computiaghitectures. In both cases, Oracle Enterpriseag@nis designed to provide a complete IT
lifecycle management approach, including configgieétements of an IT environment, monitoring senels, diagnosing and
troubleshooting problems, patching and provisionihg@nvironments, managing compliance reporting groiding change management in a
unified way across physical and virtualized IT eamments.

Applications Software

Oracle Applications are designed using an industampdards-based, integrated architecture to maaradyautomate core business functions
across the enterprise, as well as to help custodifféesentiate and innovate in those processesugniq their industries or organizations.
Through a focused strategy of investments in irleresearch and development and strategic acquisjtive also provide industry-specific
solutions for customers in a number of differemtistries including communications, engineering emstruction, financial services,
healthcare, manufacturing, public sector, retail atfilities, among others. Oracle Applications designed to reduce the risk, cost and
complexity of our customers’ IT infrastructures,iletsupporting customer choice with flexible depimwnt models and upgrade paths.

Our applications strategy is designed to providgtamers with complete choice and a secure patbrefli from the latest technology
advances. Our Oracle Applications Unlimited progemonstrates our commitment to customer choi@igir ongoing investment and
innovation in current applications offerings. Sirameouncing our Applications Unlimited program D03, we have delivered major release
all applications product lines by combining busm&mctionality with innovative technologies, prdwig customers with more adaptive
industry processes, business intelligence and apemd-user productivity.

We continue to broaden the number of cloud-bas#édare applications that we offer on a subscriptiasis. This includes a comprehensive
suite of modular, next-generation software applicet that span core business functions includingrprise resource planning, planning and

budgeting, financial reporting, human capital mamagnt, talent management, sales and marketing;ustdmer service and support, among
others.

Oracle Applications address specific business addstry requirements including:
¢ Human Capital and Talent Managem:e
« Customer Experience and Customer Relationship Mamagt;
» Financial Management and Governance, Risk and Qangd;
¢ Procurement
» Project Portfolio Managemer
* Supply Chain Managemer
« Business Analytics and Enterprise Performance Mamagt; anc
 Industry-Specific Applications
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Human Capital and Talent Managem

Our complete and integrated suite of human capitalagement applications software is designed drglanizations manage their human
resource operations and attract, develop, motaaderetain human capital. Oracle Human Capital Mangent delivers core human resource
transactions, workforce service delivery and cotepémterprise talent management via our OracledCémd on-premise solutions.

Customer Experience and Customer Relationship Memagt

We offer a complete customer experience softwatdisa—including customer relationship managemertatis designed to help
organizations deliver simple, consistent, and @al¢experiences across all channels, touch pamtsréeractions. We provide customer
experience solutions for commerce, loyalty and retink), service and support, integrated sales anlatiag, social, insight and industry
requirements. In fiscal 2013, we acquired Eloquoe, (Eloqua), a provider of cloud-based marketintpmation and revenue performance
management software. We expect Eloqua to becomeetiterpiece of the Oracle Marketing Cloud.

Financial Management and Governance, Risk and Ciaimgx

Our complete and integrated financial managemeftwarce solutions are designed to help organizatioast fiduciary and statutory
requirements, manage risk across the global emerand achieve business performance and socmnsibilities. We offer solutions for
finance operations, risk management and advannaddial controls.

Procuremen

We offer integrated procurement software suitesdhadesigned to provide packaged integratiorattkinffice applications in order to support
the complete source-to-settle process. Our proaemeapplications also provide industry-specificataifities.

Project Portfolio Managemet

We offer a broad portfolio of project portfolio megement applications software that is designeelio tompanies propose, prioritize and
select project investments as well as plan, maaadecontrol the most complex projects and projectfplios. Additionally, we provide
industry-specific solutions for project-intensivelustries such as oil and gas, utilities, engimgeaind construction, aerospace and defense ar
public sector.

Supply Chain Management

Our supply chain management software applicatioaslasigned to help organizations achieve valuadhansformation. Oracle offers a brt
portfolio of supply chain management applicatidrs tustomers can adopt as an entire suite orichadil/applications, including value chain
planning, value chain execution, product lifecytlanagement, asset lifecycle management, ordersiratien and fulfillment and
manufacturing solutions.

Business Analytics and Enterprise Performance Managni

Our business analytics software solutions includernprise performance management and analyticagigns that are designed to help
organizations discover new ways to strategize, plathoptimize business operations and capture nekanopportunities. Our integrated suite
of enterprise performance management applicatiam&swvith both Oracle and non-Oracle transactisyatems and supports strategic
planning and goal setting, financial and operatigtenning, financial close and reporting and paddility management. We also deliver
packaged business intelligence applications thapat business functions and industry-specific psses.

Industry-Specific Applications

Oracle Applications can be tailored to offer custesna variety of industry-specific solutions. Agaat of our strategy, we strive to ensure that
our applications portfolio addresses the major stiguinfluenced technology challenges of custonireksey industries that we view as strategic
to our future growth, including communications, somer goods, education, energy, engineering anstrumtion, financial services,
healthcare, life sciences, manufacturing, profesdiservices, public sector, retail, travel, traorsgtion and utilities. Our ability to offer
applications to address industry-specific complecpsses provides us an opportunity to expandustomers’ knowledge of our broader
product offerings and address customer specifiertelogy challenges.
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We continue to broaden the number of cloud-bas#d/iae applications available on a subscriptiondakhis includes a comprehensive suite
of modular, next-generation software applicatidreg span core business functions including entpasource planning, budgeting, financial
reporting, human capital management, talent managersales and marketing, and customer servics@pyubrt, among others.

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’raumeestments in Oracle software by offering ptoacand personalized support services,
including Oracle Lifetime Support and product erteanents and upgrades. Software license updateslprowstomers with rights to software
product upgrades and maintenance releases andcepatitbased during the term of the support peRoaduct support includes internet and
telephone access to technical support personretdddén our global support centers, as well agneteaccess to technical content through “My
Oracle Support”. Software license updates and mtoslupport contracts are generally priced as agpéage of the net new software license
fees. Substantially all of our customers purchassvare license updates and product support castileen they acquire new software licer
and renew their software license updates and ptadyoport contracts annually. Our software licamsdates and product support revenues
represented 46%, 43% and 42% of our total reveimugscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Hardware Systems Business

Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware syst@msrssegment.

Hardware Systems Produc

We provide a broad selection of hardware systerdgelated services including servers, storage, owivwg, virtualization software, operating
systems and management software to support diVErsevironments, including public and private claz@mputing environments. We
engineer our hardware systems with virtualizatind management capabilities to enable the rapicogilapnt and efficient management of
cloud and on-premise IT infrastructures. Our hamdwaoducts support many of the world’s largestligtdnd private clouds, including the
Oracle Cloud, our software development private dland our Oracle University self-service privateuc.

Our hardware products and services are designedroin customer environments that may include o@eacle or non-Oracle hardware or
software components. These products and servisedalp to meet customers’ demands to manage gyamrounts of data and business
requirements to meet increasing compliance andatgy demands and to reduce energy, space andtape costs. We have also enginet
our hardware systems products to create performamt@perational cost advantages for customers whehardware and software products
are combined as Oracle Engineered Systems.

We also provide our customers flexible deploymeatats for certain of our hardware systems prod@tacle laaS, an on-premise cloud
offering for deploying certain Oracle Engineeredt®ns to customers on a subscription basis, akbmwsustomers to cost effectively handle
peak computing workloads with capacity on demand.

Our hardware systems products represented 8%, h@l%226 of our total revenues in fiscal 2013, 204@ 2011, respectively.

Servers

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&RC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers are diffexed by their reliability, security
and scalability. Our mid-size and large serversdasigned to offer greater performance and lowai tmst of ownership than mainframe
systems for business critical applications and:tmtomers having more computationally intensivedee®/e recently announced T-5 and M-5,
the new versions of our mid-range and high-end SBABrver lines built upon new SPARC processorschvhieasurably increase computing
performance. These new versions of our serversneikpar SPARC portfolio and are designed to be igidforms for building cloud
computing IT environments.

Our SPARC servers run the Oracle Solaris operatystem and are designed for mission critical enapenvironments. SPARC servers are
also a core component of the Oracle SPARC Supete|ume of our Oracle Engineered Systems.

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x8@&seare based on microprocessor platforms froel @brporation (Intel) and are also
compatible with Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Misoft Windows and other operating systems. Our ¥86sns are also a core component of
many of our Oracle Engineered Systems, includirgc@rExadata Database Machine, Oracle Exalogidi€l@oud, Oracle Exalytics In-
Memory Machine and the Oracle Big Data Appliance.
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Storage

Our storage products are designed to securely reapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive sofveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems envirartmeéur storage products are designed to imprate availability by providing fast da
access and dynamic data protection for restoratimhsecure archiving for compliance. Our storagelypets are designed to work together, to
work with Oracle software and to work with multindor application and systems environments to madrperformance and efficiency while
minimizing management overhead and reducing tte ¢oist of ownership.

Our Sun ZFS Storage Appliance Network Attached&sier(NAS) offering improves performance, managéstaihd reduced total cost of
ownership by combining our software with high-penfiance controllers, flash-based caches and dislesfdundation of our Oracle Pillar
Axiom Storage Area Network (SAN) system is a padrguality-of-service architecture designed to nibesiness critical service level
agreements under dynamic, multi-application loatksenable customers to consolidate storage applisainto a single data center storage
solution.

Our tape storage product line includes StorageTikiéries, drives, virtualization systems, media dadice software. These products are
intended to provide robust solutions for both ldagn preservation and negarm protection of customer data at a lower totat ©f ownershig

Networking and Data Center Fabric Prodt

Our networking and data center fabric productduiiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Inf8@nd and Ethernet technologies, are |
with our server and storage products and are iatediinto our management tools to help enterprstomers improve infrastructure
performance, reduce cost and complexity and sinptifirage and server connectivity.

Communications Networks Solutions

We recently expanded our products and servicesindfe for communications networks with our acquasis of Acme Packet, Inc. (Acme
Packet) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, amddlec Global, Inc. (Tekelec) in the first quaéfiscal 2014. Acme Packet is a global
provider of session border control technology fnvie providers and enterprises that enables sellivery of next-generation voice, data
and unified communications services and applicatidiekelec is a global provider of network signglipolicy control and subscriber data
management solutions for communications networkgyded to enable service providers to deliver, rmbaind monetize innovative and
personalized communications services.

Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux Operating Systevirsualization and Other HardwaiRelated Software

The Oracle Solaris operating system provides abilelj secure and scalable operating system enveontirough significant kernel feature
development, networking, security and file systenohhologies as well as close integration with haméveatures. This design provides us witl
an ability to combine Oracle Solaris with our owardware components to achieve certain performandefiiciency advantages in
comparison with our competitors. The Oracle Solapisrating system is based on the UNIX operatirsgesy, but is unique among UNIX
systems in that it is available on our SPARC serasd x86 servers. We also support Oracle Solepkged on other companies’ hardware
products.

The Oracle Linux operating system with Oracle’s téatkable Enterprise Kernel is a Linux operatingeysfor enterprise workloads including
databases, middleware and applications. Oracletgaskable Enterprise Kernel is designed to work wigh Oracle products and enables
users to patch core operating systems without davent

Oracle provides a broad portfolio of virtualizatisolutions from the desktop to the data centercl@rdM is server virtualization software for
both Oracle SPARC and x86 servers and supports@atble and non-Oracle applications. Oracle VMwaft is designed to enable different
applications to share a single physical systenifginer utilization and efficiency and simplify setire deployment by enabling pre-configured
software images to be created and rapidly depleyittbut installation or configuration errors. Indition, Oracle Solaris 11 provides
comprehensive, built-in virtualization capabilities both SPARC and x86 servers, networking antagi® resources.

In addition to Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux @tierg systems and Oracle’s virtualization software,also develop a range of other
hardware-related software, including developmealstaccompilers, management tools for servers amage, diagnostic tools and file systems.
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Hardware Systems Suppc

Our hardware systems support offerings provideatusts with software updates for software compontatisare essential to the functionality
of our server and storage products, such as Ofmtéis and certain other software products, amdreelude product repairs, maintenance
services and technical support services. We coatiowvolve hardware systems support processearéhaitended to proactively identify and
solve quality issues and to increase the amounaafware systems support contracts sold and reniemegthnection with the sales of our
hardware systems products. Hardware systems supgracts are generally priced as a percentatfeeafet hardware systems products fees
Our hardware systems support revenues represe¥ted 6ur total revenues in fiscal 2013 and 7% icheaf fiscal 2012 and 2011.

Oracle Platinum Service is a special hardware stigeovice available to Oracle Premier Supportamst's running certified configurations on
Oracle Engineered Systems to ensure these systemasnr configured and tuned correctly for optimaf@enance.

Services Business

We deliver an integrated services solution to fwelgtomers and partners maximize the performanteegfinvestments in Oracle technology.
Our services are differentiated based on our focu®racle technology, extensive experience anddssetof intellectual property and best
practices. Our services business is comprisedeofdimainder of our operating segments and offarsuiting services, managed cloud service:
and education services. Our services businessseqar 12% of our total revenues in fiscal 2013%8% in each of fiscal 2012 and 2011.

Consulting

Oracle Consulting is designed to help our custommense successfully architect and deploy our praglUur consulting services include
business and IT strategy alignment, enterpriseitaathre planning and design, initial product impéntation and integration and ongoing
product enhancements and upgrades. Together thesees are designed to help our customers aclii@iebusiness goals, reduce the risk
associated with their IT initiatives and maximibeit return on investment. Oracle Consulting engagestomers directly and provides
specialized expertise to our global systems integgzartners. We utilize a global, blended deliverydel to optimize value for our customers
and partners, consisting of on-premise consultaois local geographies, industry specialists anusatiants from our global delivery and
solution centers.

Managed Cloud Service

Oracle managed cloud services provide comprehessiteare and hardware management and maintenandees—including deployment,
management, monitoring, patching, security and aggiservices—for customers hosted at our Oracéeddatter facilities, select partner data
centers or physically on-premise at customer fiesli Additionally, we provide support servicesttbon-premise and remote, to our customer
to enable increased performance and higher aviityabi their products and services. We believe thar managed cloud services offerings
provide our customers with greater value and chihiceugh increased business performance, redusledarpredictable cost and more
flexibility in terms of service in order to maxingizhe performance of their Oracle software andware products and services.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as a part of our mission of acceleratingtioption and use of our software and
hardware products and to create opportunitiesda grur product revenues. Our training is providewagh a variety of formats, including
instructor-led classes at our education centers Mirtual training, selpaced online training, private events and custainitrg. Our live virtua
class offerings allow students anywhere in the ehtwlreceive real-time, interactive training onlitre addition, we also offer a certification
program for database administrators, developegdgimenters, consultants and architects.

Marketing and Sales

We directly market and sell our products and sew/to businesses of many sizes and in many indssgovernment agencies and educations
institutions. We also market and sell our prodtictsugh indirect channels. No single customer actamifor 10% or more of our total
revenues in fiscal 2013, 2012 or 2011.
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In the United States, our sales and services erapigire based in our headquarters and in fieldesfthroughout the country. Outside the
United States, our international subsidiaries sefbport and service our products in their locaintdes as well as within other foreign count
where we do not operate through a direct saleddiabs Our geographic coverage allows us to dravbesiness and technical expertise frc
global workforce, provides stability to our opeoais and revenue streams to offset geography-specifinomic trends and offers us an
opportunity to take advantage of new markets farpraducts. Our international operations subjedbusertain risks, which are more fully
described in “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A.tbfs Annual Report. A summary of our domestic andrnational revenues and long-lived
assets is set forth in Note 16 of Notes to Conatdid Financial Statements included elsewhere snthnual Report.

We also market our products worldwide through iedichannels. The companies that comprise ourdaidahannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. The Oracle Partner Netis a global program that manages our busir@ationships with a large, broad-based
network of companies, including independent sofensard hardware vendors, system integrators antlerssthat deliver innovative solutions
and services based upon our products. By offeriigpartners access to our premier products, eduadtinformation, technical services,
marketing and sales support, the Oracle Parthavdtktprogram extends our market reach by providingpartners with the resources they
need to be successful in delivering solutions &t@wers globally. The majority of our hardware syst products are sold through indirect
channels including independent distributors andevaldded resellers.

Seasonality and Cyclicalit

Our quarterly revenues have historically been &by a variety of seasonal factors, includinggtnecture of our sales force incentive
compensation plans, which are common in the tedyydhdustry. Our total revenues and operating margre typically highest in our fourth
fiscal quarter and lowest in our first fiscal qeartThe operating margins of our businesses arerghy affected by seasonal factors in a sin
manner as our revenues (in particular, our newso# licenses and cloud software subscriptions sagjnas certain expenses within our cost
structure are relatively fixed in the short terreeSSelected Quarterly Financial Data” in Item & Annual Report for a more complete
description of the seasonality and cyclicality af cevenues, expenses and margins.

Competition

We face intense competition in all aspects of ausitess. The nature of the IT industry createsnapetitive landscape that is constantly
evolving as firms emerge, expand or are acquireteehnology evolves and as customer demands amgetitive pressures otherwise change.

Our customers are demanding less complexity andrdwetal cost in the implementation, sourcing, gméion and ongoing maintenance of t
enterprise software and hardware systems. Our@igersoftware and hardware offerings compete tiyradgth some offerings from some of
the largest and most competitive companies in thdyincluding Microsoft Corporation (Microsoftiternational Business Machines
Corporation (IBM), Intel, HewletRackard Company (HP) and SAP AG and smaller corepdikie salesforce.com, inc., as well as many el
In addition, the low barriers to entry in many ofr anarket segments regularly introduce new techgietoand new and growing competitors to
challenge our offerings. Our competitors range frammpanies offering broad IT solutions across mafrur lines of business to vendors
providing point solutions, or offerings focusedaspecific functionality, product area or industryaddition, as we expand into new market
segments, we will face increased competition asvileeompete with existing competitors, as wellfams that may be partners in other areas
of our business and other firms with whom we havtepneviously competed. Moreover, we or our competimay take certain strategic
actions—including acquisitions, partnerships anatjeentures, or repositioning of product lines—alinvite even greater competition in one
or more product categories.

Key competitive factors in each of the segmentstiich we currently compete and may compete in tibgré include: total cost of ownership,
performance, scalability, reliability, securitynietionality, efficiency, ease of management andityuef technical support. Our product sales
(and the relative strength of our products verbosé of our competitors) are also directly andraatly affected by the following, among other
things:

« the adoption of softwa-as-a-service (SaaS), hosted or cloud software offeri
 the adoption of commaodity servers and microproass

« the broader “platformtompetition between our industry standard Javan@olgy platform and the .NET programming environt
of Microsoft;
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» operating system competition among our Oraclar®oand Linux operating systems with alternatimetuding Microsoft's
Windows Server, and other UNIX and Linux operatéygtems

 the adoption of open source alternatives to comiaesoftware by enterprise software custom
« products, features and functionality developedrivetly by customers and their IT sta

« products, features or functionality customized anplemented for customers by consultants, systetagrators or other third
parties; anc

« attractiveness of offerings from business processirtsourcers
For more information about the competitive risksfage, refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” includedalhere in this Annual Report.

Manufacturing

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrernal manufacturing operations as well agdtparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgjicontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers, storage systems and networking pradeectsll other manufacturing, we
generally rely on third party manufacturing partnter produce our hardware related components amidvage products and we may involve
internal manufacturing operations in the final assly, testing and quality control processes fostheomponents and products. We distribute
most of our hardware products either from our faes or partner facilities. Our manufacturing peeses are based on standardization of
components across product types, centralizati@ssémbly and distribution centers and a “build+ied’ methodology in which products
generally are built only after customers have pldaen orders. Production of our hardware produetguires that we purchase materials,
supplies, product subassemblies and full assenfitiesa number of vendors. For most of our hardvpmeoglucts, we have existing alternate
sources of supply or such sources are readilyahail However, we do rely on sole sources for oedhour hardware products. As a result,
continue to evaluate potential risks of disruptiorour supply chain operations. Refer to “Risk Begtincluded in Item 1A. within this Annual
Report for additional discussion of the challengesencounter with respect to the sources and @#ieof supplies for our products and the
related risks to our business.

Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our produatsrnally. In addition, we have extended our prcicbfferings and intellectual property
through acquisitions of businesses and technoloWesalso purchase or license intellectual propegtyts in certain circumstances. Internal
development allows us to maintain technical conikar the design and development of our producesh@éve a number of United States and
foreign patents and pending applications thatedtatarious aspects of our products and technolMyle we believe that our patents have
value, no single patent is essential to us or yocdmour principal business segments. Researcldanelopment expenditures were $4.9 billion
in fiscal 2013 and $4.5 billion in each of fisc&l12 and 2011, or 13%, 12% and 13% of total reveimufiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Rapid technological advances in hardvand software development, evolving standardsiimputer hardware and software
technology, changing customer needs and frequempneduct introductions and enhancements charaeténe software and hardware marl
in which we compete. We plan to continue to dedi@asignificant amount of resources to researctdamdlopment efforts to maintain and
improve our current product and services offerings.

Employees

As of May 31, 2013, we employed approximately 100,€ull-time employees, including approximately BX) in sales and marketing,
approximately 9,000 in software license updatespnduct support, approximately 1,000 in the maciuigng of our hardware systems
products, approximately 6,000 in hardware systamppart, approximately 25,000 in services, approxatya35,000 in research and
development and approximately 11,000 in generalaaimdinistrative positions. Of these employees, @xprately 43,000 were employed in
the United States and approximately 77,000 werdayag internationally. None of our employees in thated States is represented by a I
union; however, in certain foreign subsidiaries kevs’ councils represent our employees.
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Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporidForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdsnto reports filed pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exch&wgef 1934, as amended, are available, free afgdy on our Investor Relations web site a
www.oracle.com/investor as soon as reasonablyipedoié after we electronically file such materiathywor furnish it to, the SEC. The
information posted on or accessible through our sitghis not incorporated into this Annual Report.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Elliso Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directc

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Mark V. Hurd President and Directc

John Fowle! Executive Vice President, Systel

Thomas Kuriar Executive Vice President, Product Developn

Dorian E. Daley Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€CAccounting Officel

Mr. Ellison, 68, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as Chairman of the Board
from May 1995 to January 2004.

Mr. Henley, 68, has served as Chairman of the Beaack January 2004 and as a Director since JW3& He served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer from Marct9190 July 2004.

Ms. Catz, 51, has been a President since Janu@dy @hief Financial Officer most recently since Ag011 and has served as a Director sinc
October 2001. She was previously Chief Financidicef from November 2005 until September 2008 artdrim Chief Financial Officer from
April 2005 until July 2005. Prior to being nameds§ident, she held various other positions withisesjoining Oracle in 1999. She also
currently serves as a director of HSBC Holdings plc

Mr. Hurd, 56, has been a President and servedéa®etor since September 2010. Prior to joininghesserved as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of HP from September 2006 to August 2840 as Chief Executive Officer, President and a besrof the Board of Directors of HP
from April 2005 to August 2010.

Mr. Fowler, 52, has been Executive Vice PresidSpstems since February 2010. Prior to joining us,Adwler served as Sun Microsystems,
Inc.’s Executive Vice President, Systems Group fiday 2006 to February 2010, as Executive Vice Eerdi Network Systems Group from
May 2004 to May 2006 and as Chief Technology OffiGoftware Group from July 2002 to May 2004.

Mr. Kurian, 46, has been Executive Vice PresidBmdduct Development since July 2009. He servecea®EVice President of Development
from February 2001 until July 2009. Mr. Kurian wetkin Oracle Server Technologies as Vice PresioieDevelopment from March 1999
until February 2001. He also held various otheiitfmyss with us since joining Oracle in 1996.

Ms. Daley, 54, has been Senior Vice President, Gé@munsel and Secretary since October 2007. &ived as Vice President, Legal,
Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secratamy June 2004 to October 2007, as Associate Ge@Geraisel and Assistant Secretary fi
October 2001 to June 2004 and as Associate Gebeuasel from February 2001 to October 2001. She Veslious other positions with us
since joining Oracle’s Legal Department in 1992.

Mr. West, 51, has been Senior Vice President, GatpdController and Chief Accounting Officer sirfeebruary 2008 and was Vice President,
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officesrh April 2007 to February 2008. His previous exgece includes 14 years with Arthur
Andersen LLP, most recently as a partner.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in rapidly changing economic and teatgichl environments that present numerous riskeyméwhich are driven by factors that
we cannot control or predict. The following disdoss as well as our “Critical Accounting PoliciesdaEstimates”
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discussion in Management’'s Discussion and Analysiinancial Condition and Results of Operationier(i 7), highlights some of these risks.
The risks described below are not exhaustive amdshould carefully consider these risks and uniceiéa before investing in our securities.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeey affect our business, results of operations dimdhncial condition, including our
revenue growth and profitability, which in turn cdd adversely affect our stock price. Our business is influenced by a range of factioat
are beyond our control and that we have no comiparativantage in forecasting. These include:

« general economic and business conditi

 the overall demand for enterprise software, hardwgstems and service

« governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegnment spending prioritie
« general political developments; a

« currency exchange rate fluctuatio

Macroeconomic developments like the ongoing econamisis in the European Union, the continued shawe of economic recovery in the
United States and slowing economic conditions ispaf Asia and South America could negatively etffieur business, operating results or
financial condition which, in turn, could adversealffect our stock price. In addition, there is dligant focus in the United States on the overal
reduction in government spending at the federadllkmown as “sequestration” that has recently goteeffect. A general weakening of, and
related declining corporate confidence in, the glazonomy or the curtailment in government or ocage spending could cause current or
potential customers to reduce their informatiomtexdogy (IT) budgets or be unable to fund softwaerdware systems or services purchases
which could cause customers to delay, decreasanmet purchases of our products and services seagaustomers not to pay us or to delay
paying us for previously purchased products andces.

In addition, political unrest in regions like thaddle East, terrorist attacks around the globethrdotential for other hostilities in various
parts of the world, potential public health crisesl natural disasters continue to contribute tiinaate of economic and political uncertainty
that could adversely affect our results of operatiand financial condition, including our revenuevgth and profitability. These factors
generally have the strongest effect on our sale®wfsoftware licenses, hardware systems produaidyare systems support and related
services and, to a lesser extent, also may affeatemewal rates for software license updates aodugt support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dt@inaccurate sales forecasts or other factors.Our revenues, and particularly our new
software licenses revenues and hardware systerdsgisorevenues, are difficult to forecast, andj essult, our quarterly operating results can
fluctuate substantially. Our limited experiencehwitanaging our hardware business and forecassrgtitre financial results creates additic
challenges with our forecasting processes.

We use a “pipeline” system, a common industry ficacto forecast sales and trends in our busir@@sssales personnel monitor the status of
all proposals and estimate when a customer willereafurchase decision and the dollar amount ofdlee These estimates are aggregated
periodically to generate a sales pipeline. OurIpipeestimates can prove to be unreliable bothparsicular quarter and over a longer perior
time, in part because the “conversion rate” or Sal@ rate” of the pipeline into contracts can bey difficult to estimate. A reduction in the
conversion rate, or in the pipeline itself, coutdise us to plan or budget incorrectly and adveisé#gt our business or results of operation:
particular, a slowdown in IT spending or econonuaditions generally can unexpectedly reduce theemion rate in particular periods as
purchasing decisions are delayed, reduced in anmw#ncelled. The conversion rate can also betaffieby the tendency of some of our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peifiothe hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwidan also impede our ability to negotiate,
execute and deliver upon these contracts in ayimenner. In addition, for newly acquired companies have limited ability to predict how
their pipelines will convert into sales or revenimsa number of quarters following the acquisiti@onversion rates post-acquisition may be
quite different from the acquired companies’ higtarconversion rates. Differences in conversideg&an also be affected by changes in our
business practices that we implement with our negtyuired companies that may affect customer behavi

A substantial portion of our new software licensmsgnue contracts and hardware systems productisactmis completed in the latter part of a
guarter and a significant percentage of theseasget orders. Because a significant portion ofamst structure is largely fixed in the short-
term, revenue shortfalls tend to have a dispropoatiely negative impact on our profitability. The
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number of large new software licenses transactmas to a lesser extent, hardware systems prottacsactions increases the risk of
fluctuations in our quarterly results because aylal even a small number of these transactionklaause our quarterly revenues and
profitability to fall significantly short of our gdictions.

Our hardware systems revenues and profitability tbdecline further if we do not manage the riskssagiated with our hardware systems
business. Our hardware systems business may adversagtaftir overall profitability if we do not effecély manage the associated risks.
We may not achieve our estimated revenue, profitleer financial projections with respect to ourdveare systems business in a timely
manner or at all due to a number of factors, inicigd

< as we develop and introduce new versions or nextiggions of our hardware systems products, customay defer or delay
purchases of existing hardware systems productsvaitdor these new releases, all of which couldeagely affect our hardware
systems revenues in the short te

< our hardware systems business has higher expessggaicentage of revenues, and thus has bequrdéisable, than our software
business. We have reported lower overall operatiaggins as a percentage of revenues in the past@amday report lower
operating margins as a percentage of revenueg ifuthre;

« our focus on our more profitable Oracle Engineegstems, such as our Oracle Exadata Database Machiacle Exalogic Elast
Cloud and Oracle SPARC SuperCluster products, wéiiehin the relatively early stages of adoptioroby customers, and our de-
emphasis on our lower profit margin commodity haadsvsystems products that historically constitatdarger portion of our
hardware systems revenu

« the unplanned departures of some important empsogeeald adversely impact our ability to run suctidgsour hardware systems
business, which could adversely impact our abibtyealize the forecasts for our hardware systems@ess and its results of
operations

» we face a greater risk of potential write-downs ampairments of inventory, higher warranty experibas we had historically
encountered in our existing software and servicsinesses, higher amortization from intangible tassad potential impairment of
intangible assets and goodwill associated withhaudware systems business. Any of these items cesidt in material charges
and adversely affect our operating rest

« we may not be able to increase sales of hardwatersg support contracts or such increase may ¢aket than we anticipate,
which could result in lower revenues and profitiilor slower than expected growth of such reverard profitability; ant

« we may forgo sales opportunities, customers anema®s as a result of our reducing the resale af garty products and services
for which Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun) historicallgted as a reselle

Our periodic workforce restructurings, including rganizations of our sales force, can be disruptive We have in the past restructured or
made other adjustments to our workforce, includingdirect sales force on which we rely heavilyrésponse to management changes, pr
changes, performance issues, acquisitions and intieenal and external considerations. For exanipléscal 2013, we hired a significant
number of new people to our direct sales forcerandyanized the various sales teams so that tlvegased their focus on specific products
services and became more specialized. In the thask types of sales force restructurings havdteelsin temporary reduced productivity wt
the sales teams adjusted to their new roles apamegilities. In addition, we may not achieve ostain the expected growth or cost savings
benefits of these restructurings, or do so withméxpected timeframe. These effects could reccommection with future acquisitions and
other restructurings and our revenues and othaltsesf operations could be negatively affected.

Our strategy of transitioning to a mixed direct anddirect sales model for our hardware systems prots may not succeed and could result
in lower hardware revenues or profits. Disruptiots our software indirect sales channel could affemtr future operating results.

Although we will continue to sell our hardwagstems products through indirect channels, inolyididependent distributors and value
added resellers, we have enhanced our direct saesage for our hardware products and intendahatlirect sales force will sell a larger
portion of our hardware products in the future thia@y do now. These direct sales efforts, howawer; not be successful. Our relationships
with some of our channel partners may deterioratabse we have reduced our reliance on some & paeters for sales of our hardware
products and have modified our approach and tirtortge manufacturing of our products, which codsult in reduced demand from the
channel partners or certain customer segmentsceerby these channel partners. Some hardware reydérmum channel partners may not be
replaced by revenues generated from our own sals®pnel or may not be replaced as quickly as we
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expect. In addition, these newly hired salespeoyag not be able to achieve our sales forecasuiohardware business. If we experience an
of these risks, our hardware revenues and profig decline.

Our software indirect channel network is compripdtharily of resellers, system integrators/impletees, consultants, education providers,
internet service providers, network integrators e pendent software vendors. Our relationshipls thiese channel participants are impot
elements of our software marketing and sales sff@ur financial results could be adversely affédteur contracts with channel participants
were terminated, if our relationships with chanpetticipants were to deteriorate, if any of our petitors enter into strategic relationships \
or acquire a significant channel participant, & fmancial condition or operations of our chanpeticipants were to weaken or if the level of
demand for our channel participants’ products ardises were to decrease. There can be no assutaiage will be successful in
maintaining, expanding or developing our relatidpstwith channel participants. If we are not sustidswe may lose sales opportunities,
customers and revenues.

Our cloud computing strategy, including our Oracféloud and Oracle managed cloud services offeringgy not be successful. We offer
customers a broad portfolio of software and hardvpmoducts and services to enable customers ta addpud computing strategy that is right
for them. Oracle Cloud is a comprehensive setaidlservice offerings that is designed to providgt@mers and partners with access to
application services, social networking servicéatfprm services and common infrastructure servarea subscription basis and managed,
hosted and supported by Oracle. Oracle managed skenvices include software and hardware manageamehtaintenance services hosted 8
our data center facilities, select partner datdersror physically on-premise at customer fac#itiEhese business models continue to evolve,
and we may not be able to compete effectively, ggaesignificant revenues or maintain their prdiitity. We have acquired other cloud
computing companies and incur expenses associatiedhe infrastructures and marketing of our mawlagjeud services and cloud software
subscriptions offerings in advance of our abildyrécognize the revenues associated with theseraffe Demand for our cloud offerings may
unfavorably impact demand for certain of our otducts and services, including new software Besmand software license updates and
product support services.

If our data protection or other security measureseacompromised and as a result our data, our cusese’ data or our IT systems are
accessed improperly, made unavailable, or improperiodified, our products and services may be peredias vulnerable, our brand and
reputation could be damaged, the IT services wevide to our customers could be disrupted, and costos may stop using our products
and services, all of which could reduce our revenaed earnings, increase our expenses and exposmusgal claims and regulatory
actions. We are in the information technology business, @ndproducts and services store, retrieve, manipalad manage our customers’
information and data as well as our own. We harapatation for secure and reliable software andware products and services and have
invested a great deal of time and resources ireptiog the integrity and security of our produsesyvices and internal and external data that w
manage.

Nevertheless, we encounter attempts by third mamigpenetrate or bypass our data protection dret security measures and g

unauthorized access to our networks, systems aacdaompromise the confidential information otadaf our customers. Computer hackers
and others may be able to develop and deploy Etedlviruses, worms, and other malicious softwaognams that could attack our products
and services, exploit potential security vulneiiéib# of our products and services, create systsrtions and cause shutdowns or denials of
service. Data may also be accessed or modifiedopaply as a result of employee or supplier erramaifeasance and third parties may atte

to fraudulently induce employees or customers digalosing sensitive information such as user napesswords or other information in order
to gain access to our data, our customers’ dadaolT systems.

Although this is an industry-wide problem that affeother software and hardware companies, it &ff@cacle in particular because computer
hackers tend to focus their efforts on the mosugapor wellknown IT companies, and they may focus on Oractabiee of our reputation fc
and marketing efforts associated with, having seguoducts and services. These risks for us wiliease as we continue to grow our cloud
offerings and services and store and process isiogg large amounts of our customers’ confiderititdrmation and data and host or manage
parts of our customers’ businesses in cloud-babeshvironments, especially in customer sectorslinng particularly sensitive data such as
health sciences, financial services and the govenhrWe also have an active acquisition programheawve acquired a number of companies,
products, services and technologies over the yd#nde we make significant efforts to address ahgécurity issues with respect to our
acquisitions, we may still inherit such risks wivea integrate these acquisitions within Oracle.

If a cyber attack or other security incident ddsedi above were to allow unauthorized access toodgiifioation of our customers’ data or our
own data or our IT systems or if the services we/igle to our customers were disrupted, or if owdpicts or services are perceived as having
security vulnerabilities, we could suffer damageto brand and reputation. Customers could lose
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confidence in the security and reliability of owogucts and services and perceive them to be pateeThis in turn could lead to fewer
customers using our products and services and iaselduced revenue and earnings. The costs wédviroeur to address and fix these sect
incidents would increase our expenses. These tfpescurity incidents could also lead to lawsuigulatory investigations and claims and
increased legal liability, including in some caseatractual costs related to customer notificatinod fraud monitoring.

Further, as regulatory focus on privacy issuesioaas to increase and worldwide laws and regulat@mmcerning the protection of personal
information expand and become more complex, thesmpal risks to our business will intensify. Clgas in laws or regulations associated
with the enhanced protection of certain types ob&ve data, such as healthcare data or otheopellg identifiable information, could greatly
increase our cost of providing our products andises.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produantsl services and enhance our
existing products and services. Rapid technological advances and evolving standardesmputer hardware and software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and indéregyg sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the enterprise softmdrbadware systems industries in which we comppietee are unable to develop new or
sufficiently differentiated products and servicesenhance and improve our products and supporicesrin a timely manner or to position
and/or price our products and services to meet ddpwustomers may not buy new software licensesidcsoftware subscriptions or hardware
systems products or purchase or renew softwaredecapdates and product support or hardware sysigoport contracts. Renewals of these
support contracts are important to the growth aflusiness. In addition, IT standards from bothsootia and formal standards-setting forums
as well as de facto marketplace standards arelyapidlving. We cannot provide any assurance thattandards on which we choose to
develop new products will allow us to compete ffey for business opportunities in emerging areas

We have continued to refresh and release new offemf our software and hardware products andasyincluding our Oracle Cloud and
Oracle Engineered Systems offerings. If we do potiaue to develop and release these or other n@ml@anced products and services within
the anticipated time frames, if there is a delagnarket acceptance of a new, enhanced or acquiceldigt line or service, if there are changes
in information technology trends for which we dd adequately anticipate or react our product deoraknt efforts toward, if we do not timely
optimize complementary product lines and servicegwe fail to adequately integrate, support ohance acquired product lines or services,
our business may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to compete effectively with exigtior new hardware systems or software competittne, results of operations and prospe
for our business could be harmed through fewer auster orders, reduced pricing, lower revenues or &wprofits. Our hardware systems
business will compete with, among others, (i) systenanufacturers and resellers of systems basedraswn microprocessors and operating
systems and those of our competitors, (ii) micropssor/chip manufacturers and (iii) providers ofage products. Our hardware systems
business may also cause us to compete with comgatie historically have been our partners. Sontbese competitors may have more
experience than we do in managing a hardware kassielarge portion of our hardware products aeddan our SPARC microprocessor anc
Oracle Solaris operating system platform, whichdamaller installed base than certain of our cditgus’ platforms and which may make it
difficult for us to win new customers that haveeallly made significant investments in our compeifplatforms. Certain of these competitors
also compete very aggressively on price. A lossuincompetitive position could result in lower rauves or profitability, which could advers:
impact our ability to realize the revenue and padiility forecasts for our hardware systems busines

Many vendors develop and market databases, midddepvaducts, application development tools, busirsgplications, collaboration products
and business intelligence products, amongst ottreascompete with our software offerings. In aibaif several companies offer software-as-a
service (SaaS) or cloud computing and businessepsoautsourcing (BPO) as competitive alternatigdsuling software and hardware, and
customer interest in cloud or SaaS solutions ie@sing. Our competitors that offer business appitios and middleware products may
influence a customer’s purchasing decision foruhéerlying database in an effort to persuade piatiesustomers not to acquire our products.
We could lose customers if our competitors intradoew competitive products, add new functionaligquire competitive products, reduce
prices or form strategic alliances with other conips. Vendors that offer SaaS, cloud or BPO salstimay persuade our customers not to
purchase our on-premise products. We may alsoifiaceasing competition from open source softwaitéatives in which competitors may
provide software and intellectual property for frEgisting or new competitors could gain sales opputies or customers at our expense.
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Acquisitions present many risks and we may not iealthe financial and strategic goals that were ¢emplated at the time of a transactio

In recent years, we have invested billionsaifads to acquire a number of companies, prodsetsjices and technologies. An active
acquisition program is an important element of @egrall corporate strategy and we expect to coetiloumake acquisitions in the future. Risks
we may face in connection with our acquisition perg include:

< our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesneigt’s attention may be diverted by acquisiticemgition or integration
activities;

e an acquisition may not further our business stsatesgwe expected, we may not integrate an acqaoethany or technology as
successfully as we expected or we may overpayfartherwise not realize the expected return onjraeestments, which could
adversely affect our business or operating resmitspotentially cause impairment to assets thaieeerded as a part of an
acquisition including intangible assets and gookh

« we may have difficulties (i) managing an acquirechpany’s technologies or lines of business orefiifering new markets where
we have no or limited direct prior experience orewehcompetitors may have stronger market posit

e our operating results or financial condition mayddeersely impacted by claims or liabilities tha assume from an acquired
company or technology or that are otherwise rel&deah acquisition, including claims from governmagencies, terminated
employees, current or former customers, formerk$toiclers or other third parties; pre-existing cantual relationships of an
acquired company that we would not have otherwigered into, the termination or modification of whimay be costly or
disruptive to our business; unfavorable revenuegaition or other accounting treatment as a rexudin acquired company’s
practices; and intellectual property claims or disg;

» we may fail to identify or assess the magnitudeeastain liabilities, shortcomings or other circuarstes prior to acquiring a
company or technology, which could result in unetee litigation or regulatory exposure, unfavoraddeounting treatment,
unexpected increases in taxes due, a loss of paitiz] tax benefits or other adverse effects orbosiness, operating results or
financial condition

« we may not realize the anticipated increase inreuenues from an acquisition for a number of regsimluding if a larger than
predicted number of customers decline to renewvswoé license updates and product support contiaatdyare systems support
contracts and cloud subscription contracts, if veeumable to sell the acquired products to ouratust base or if contract models
an acquired company do not allow us to recognizemees on a timely basi

< we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies, products, services and their related sugiphin operations with our
existing lines of business and supply chain infracttire and maintaining uniform standards, archite; controls, procedures and
policies;

* we may have multiple product lines as a resultwfarquisitions that are offered, priced and sujggbdifferently, which could
cause customer confusion and del

* we may have higher than anticipated costs in cam@support and development of acquired productgeneral and administrati
functions that support new business models, ooingliance with associated regulations that are moneplicated than we had
anticipated

* we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frontay otherwise have certain limitations, restoics, penalties or other
sanctions imposed on us by, worker councils orlaimhiodies under applicable employment laws asaltref an acquisition, which
could adversely affect our integration plans intaierjurisdictions and potentially increase ouegriation and restructuring
expenses

« we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgorernmental authorities under competition andctiarsti laws on a timely basis,
if at all, which could, among other things, delaypoevent us from completing a transaction, othsewestrict our ability to realize
the expected financial or strategic goals of anuesitipn or have other adverse effects on our curbeisiness and operatiol

« our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintltes potential uses of our cash, including stogkirehases, dividend payments .
retirement of outstanding indebtedne

< we may significantly increase our interest expetesarage and debt service requirements if we indditional debt to pay for an
acquisition and we may have to delay or not proseitita substantial acquisition if we cannot obtdie necessary funding to
complete the acquisition in a timely manner or avofable terms
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« to the extent that we issue a significant amourgcpfity securities in connection with future acgiioss, existing stockholders may
be diluted and earnings per share may decreast

* we may experience additional or unexpected chaimgesw we are required to account for our acquisgipursuant to U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, includingngements that we assume from an acquis

The occurrence of any of these risks could havaimnal adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition or cash flo
particularly in the case of a larger acquisitiorseveral concurrent acquisitions.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ourenating results. We derive a substantial
portion of our revenues from, and have signifiagmerations, outside of the United States. Our liational operations include software and
hardware systems development, manufacturing, adgesatbes, customer support, consulting, managaadcservices and shared
administrative service centers.

Compliance with international and U.S. laws andutatjons that apply to our international operationgeases our cost of doing business in
foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulatiordude U.S. laws and local laws which include gataacy requirements, labor relations laws,
tax laws, anteompetition regulations, prohibitions on paymentgdvernmental officials, import and trade resimics and export requiremer
Violations of these laws and regulations could ltasuines, criminal sanctions against us, ouiagfs or our employees, and prohibitions on
the conduct of our business. Any such violationddoesult in prohibitions on our ability to offeur products and services in one or more
countries, could delay or prevent potential acgioiss and could also materially damage our repaathur brand, our international expansion
efforts, our ability to attract and retain employeeur business and our operating results. Congdiarith these laws requires a significant
amount of management attention and effort, whicly digert managemerg’attention from running our business operatiorsculd harm ou
ability to grow our business, or may increase ogreases as we engage specialized or other additeswurces to assist us with our
compliance efforts. Our success depends, in parduo ability to anticipate these risks and martagse difficulties. We monitor our operatic
and investigate allegations of improprieties ralgtio transactions and the way in which such tretitsas are recorded. Where circumstances
warrant, we provide information and report our fimgb to government authorities, but no assurannéeagiven that action will not be taken
such authorities.

We are also subject to a variety of other risks @mallenges in managing an organization operatingrious countries, including those related
to:

« general economic conditions in each country orang
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates and relagéhcts to our operating resul
* natural disaster:

 regulatory changes, including government austenigasures in certain countries that we may not ketatsufficiently plan for or
avoid that may unexpectedly impair bank depositstoer cash assets that we hold in these coumtritgat impose additional taxes
that we may be required to pay in these count

 political unrest, terrorism and the potential ftner hostilities;

« longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtiaccounts receivabl

« overlapping tax regime:

 our ability to repatriate funds held by our foregpbsidiaries to the United States at favorabladtes;

« difficulties in transferring funds from or convertj currencies in certain countries such as Venazhek have led to a devaluation
of our net assets, in particular our cash assethat countr’s currency

« public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operations; a
» reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countries

As a result of our hardware systems business,uhar and complexity of laws and regulations thatane subject to have increased. The
variety of risks and challenges listed above cald disrupt or otherwise negatively impact theptyphain operations for our hardware
systems products segment and the sales of our gieodnd services in affected countries or regions.

As the majority shareholder of Oracle Financiah@8&s Software Limited, a publicly traded Indiarite@re company focused on the banking
industry, we are faced with several additionalsjskcluding being subject to local securities tagjons and being unable to exert full control.
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Our hardware systems offerings are complex produttsve cannot successfully manage the required pesses to meet customer
requirements and demand on a timely basis, the fessaf our hardware systems business will sufferDesigning, developing, manufacturi
and introducing new hardware systems products@rglicated processes. The development processéstaim and requires a high level of
innovation from both systems hardware and softwaneuct designers and engineers and the suppfi¢he components used in these
products. The development process is also lengthycastly. Once a new hardware systems produ&vsldped, we face several challenges i
the manufacturing process. We must be able to dstemistomer demand and manufacture new hardwstensy products in sufficient volun
to meet this demand and do so in a cost effectaenar. Our “build-to-order” manufacturing modelwhich our hardware systems products
generally are not built until after customers plaogers, may from time to time experience delaydelivering our hardware systems products
to customers in a timely manner. These delays coalde our customers to purchase hardware prodgodtservices from our competitors. We
must also manage new hardware product introductiodgransitions to minimize the impact of custouhelayed purchases of existing
hardware systems products in anticipation of nemhliare systems product releases. Because the desigmanufacturing processes for
components are also very complicated, it is posghmt we could experience design or manufactdtaivgs. These design or manufacturing
flaws could delay or prevent the production of tbenponents for which we have previously committeddy or need to fulfill orders from
customers. These types of component flaws coutdisvent the production of our hardware productsanose our hardware products to be
returned, recalled or rejected resulting in loseraies, increases in warranty costs or costs detateemediation efforts, damage to our
reputation, penalties and litigation.

The future operating results of our hardware systeiiusiness will depend on our ability to manage @amponent inventory to meet the
demands of our hardware systems customers and tidagomponent inventory write-downs. We depend on suppliers to design, develop,
manufacture and deliver on a timely basis the ressgcomponents for our hardware products. Whilayntd the components purchased are
standard, some components (standard or otherveiga)re long lead times to manufacture and deliverthermore, there are some compon
that can only be purchased from a single vendottalpeice, quality, technology, availability or ethbusiness constraints. As a result, our
supply chain operations could be disrupted or neglgtimpacted by natural disasters, political wtrer other factors affecting the countries or
regions where these single source component veadelscated. We may be unable to purchase thexss iirom the respective single vendors
on acceptable terms or may experience significalatyd or quality issues in the delivery of necesgarts or components from a particular
vendor. If we had to find a new supplier for thesgts and components, hardware systems produchehis could be delayed, which would
adversely affect our hardware systems revenuesold also experience fluctuations in componerdgsriwhich, if unanticipated, could
negatively impact our hardware systems businedsstogture. These factors may make it difficult éis to plan and procure appropriate
component inventory levels in a timely fashion teancustomer demand for our hardware products.eftrer we may experience component
inventory shortages which may result in productiefays or customers choosing to purchase fewemtaaedproducts from us or systems
products from our competitors. We negotiate supplymitments with vendors early in the manufactupngcess to ensure we have sufficient
components for our hardware products to meet gatied customer demand. We must also manage ous fvelder component inventories
used in our hardware products to minimize inventerye-offs or write-downs. If we have excess intggy, it may be necessary to write-down
the inventory, which would adversely affect our igimg results. If one or more of the risks desadilabove occurs, our hardware systems
business and related operating results could berially and adversely affected.

We expect to continue to depend on third party méaaiurers to build certain hardware systems prodsieind third party logistics providers
to deliver our products. As such, we are suscepgtitol manufacturing and logistics delays that coyddevent us from shipping customer
orders on time, if at all, and may result in theds of sales and customers.We outsource the manufacturing, assembly and dglvfecertair
of our hardware products to a variety of comparmigsy of which are located outside the United Stabair reliance on these third parties
reduces our control over the manufacturing andsdgfiprocess, exposing us to risks, including redumntrol over quality assurance, product
costs, product supply and delivery delays as veetha political and economic uncertainties and naatlisasters of the international locations
where certain of these third party manufacturexgHacilities and operations. Any manufacturingaigion or logistics delays by these third
parties could impair our ability to fulfill ordefer these hardware systems products for extendeddseof time. If we are unable to manage
relationships with these third parties effectivaly jf these third parties experience delays, g@isoms, capacity constraints, regulatory issues o
quality control problems in their operations, df fa meet our future requirements for timely deliy, our ability to ship and/or deliver certain
of our hardware systems products to our custonariside impaired and our hardware systems bustctagd be harmed.
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We have simplified our supply chain processes dyeig the number of third party manufacturing pars and the number of locations where
these third party manufacturers build our hardvegstems products. We therefore have become moendept on a fewer number of these
manufacturing partners and locations. If thesengastexperience production problems or delays mna@ameet our demand for products, we
may not be able to find alternate manufacturing®esiin a timely or cost effective manner, if atlilwe are required to change third party
manufacturers, our ability to meet our scheduladi\vare systems products deliveries to our custocmurkl be adversely affected, which cc
cause the loss of sales and existing or potenig&bmers, delayed revenue recognition or an inergasur hardware systems products
expenses, all of which could adversely affect tlaggims of our hardware business.

These challenges and risks also exist when we @cqompanies with hardware products and relatedlgghain operations. In some cases
may be dependent, at least initially, on supplyircioperations that we are less familiar with angstmay be slower to adjust or react to these
challenges and risks.

We may experience foreign currency gains and lossedVe conduct a significant number of transactiand hold cash in currencies other
than the U.S. Dollar. Changes in the value of migjogign currencies, particularly the Euro, Japanésn and British Pound relative to the
U.S. Dollar can significantly affect our assetsereues and operating results. Generally, our rea®ate adversely affected when the dollar
strengthens relative to other currencies and asgipely affected when the dollar weakens. Gengrallr assets are adversely affected when
we must devalue our cash and other bank depoddsrha foreign currency due to fluctuations or mpes in exchange rates.

During fiscal 2013 and 2010, we incurred foreignrency losses associated with our Venezuelan siabgidue to it being designated as
operating in a highly inflationary economy and doi¢he subsequent devaluation of the Venezuelaiv@alelative to the U.S. Dollar. We
could experience similar foreign currency volafilih the future if the Venezuelan government furtthevalues the Venezuelan currency, the
amounts and timing of which are uncertain.

In addition, we incur foreign currency transactgains and losses, primarily related to sublicerss find other intercompany agreements
among us and our subsidiaries that we expect tosetle in the near term, which are charged agaarsings in the period incurred. We have
a program which primarily utilizes foreign currerfoyward contracts to offset the risks associaté these foreign currency exposures that
we may suspend from time to time. As a part of pihegram, we enter into foreign currency forwardtcacts so that increases or decreases ir
our foreign currency exposures are offset by gairlesses on the foreign currency forward contraccterder to mitigate the risks and volatility
associated with our foreign currency transactiongar losses. A large portion of our consolidatpdrations are international, and we expect
that we will continue to realize gains or lossethwéspect to our foreign currency exposures, hgams or losses from our foreign currency
forward contracts. For example, we will experiefareign currency gains and losses in certain iresauif it is not possible or cost effective to
hedge our foreign currency exposures or shoulduspend our foreign currency forward contract progr@ur ultimate realized loss or gain
with respect to currency fluctuations will geneyalepend on the size and type of cross-currencgsxgs that we enter into, the currency
exchange rates associated with these exposureghandes in those rates, whether we have enterébirgign currency forward contracts to
offset these exposures and other factors. All e§é¢hfactors could materially impact our resultsdrations, financial position and cash flows,
the timing of which is variable and generally odéspf our control.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, confidentiality
procedures, controls and contractual commitmenpsdtect our intellectual property rights. Despite efforts, these protections may be
limited. Unauthorized third parties may try to camyreverse engineer portions of our products betise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidiatécumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinuture patent applications, whethe
not being currently challenged, may not be issuitd thie scope of the claims we seek, if at alladidition, the laws of some countries do not
provide the same level of protection of our intefilel property rights as do the laws and courthefUnited States. If we cannot protect our
intellectual property rights against unauthorizedying or use, or other misappropriation, we matyramain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, majaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights and/or breach of license
agreement provisions. We periodically receive notices from, or haaesuits filed against us by, others claiming irdement or other
misuse of their intellectual property rights anddoeach of our agreements with them. These thirtlgsanclude entities that do not have the
capabilities to design, manufacture, or distriquigducts or services or that acquire intellectuapprty like patents for the sole purpose of
monetizing their acquired intellectual propertyotingh asserting claims of infringement and misuse.ékpect the number of such claims will
increase as:

* we continue to acquire companies and expand intomssinesses
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« the number of products and competitors in our ifrgusegments grow:

« the use and support of third party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in thustiryg

« the volume of issued patents continues to increasd

« the proliferation of no-practicing entities asserting intellectual propentfyingement claims increase
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itsligl could:

« be time consuming, costly and result in litigati

« divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

e require us to pay monetary damages or enter in@itsoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find acceptable

* require us to stop selling or to redesign certéious products

e require us to release source code to third papessibly under open source license tel

* require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢

» otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash floy

We may lose key employees or may be unable todni@igh qualified employees. We rely on the continued service of our senior
management, including our Chief Executive Officed founder, members of our executive team and diineemployees and the hiring of n
qualified employees. In the technology industrgréhis substantial and continuous competition fohlly skilled business, product
development, technical and other personnel. Int@tdiacquisitions could cause us to lose key persbof the acquired companies or at
Oracle. We may also experience increased compensaists that are not offset by either improvedipotivity or higher sales. We may not
successful in recruiting new personnel and in nétgi and motivating existing personnel. With raxeeptions, we do not have long-term
employment or non-competition agreements with oopleyees. Members of our senior management team leévOracle over the years for a
variety of reasons, and we cannot assure youlieat till not be additional departures, which maydisruptive to our operations.

We continually focus on improving our cost struetby hiring personnel in countries where advaneebnical expertise is available at lower
costs. When we make adjustments to our workforeemay incur expenses associated with workforceatezhs that delay the benefit of a
more efficient workforce structure. We may alsoexignce increased competition for employees inetltesintries as the trend toward
globalization continues, which may affect our enyple retention efforts and increase our expensas gffort to offer a competitive
compensation program. Our compensation programdies! stock options, which are an important toealtiracting and retaining employees in
our industry. If our stock price performs poorlyniay adversely affect our ability to retain oratt employees. In addition, because we
expense all stock-based compensation, we may ifuthee change our stock-based and other compengatactices. Some of the changes we
consider from time to time include a reductiontie humber of employees granted stock options, &ctixh in the number of stock options
granted per employee and a change to alternatimesfof stock-based compensation, all of which mayehan impact on our ability to retain
employees and also impact the amount of stock-bem@gensation expense that we record. Any chamgasricompensation practices or
changes made by competitors could affect our gtidiretain and motivate existing personnel anduieoew personnel.

Our sales to government clients subject us to besis volatility and risks, including government bugting cycles and appropriations, early
termination, audits, investigations, sanctions apénalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the lgdvernment, state and local
governments, and foreign governments and theilectsfe agencies, which may terminate most of tiseséracts at any time, without cause.
There is increased pressure for governments afmdatiencies, both domestically and internationatiyseduce spending, including a series of
spending cuts at the U.S. federal level known agusstration” that has recently gone into effectahich may cause a reduction in revenues
from our U.S. federal government customers. Fuytier U.S. federal government contracts are subjettte approval of appropriations being
made by the U.S. Congress to fund the expenditindsr these contracts. Similarly, our contracthatstate and local levels in the U.S. and
our contracts with foreign governments and thearages are generally subject to government fundirtforizations. Additionally, government
contracts are generally subject to audits and trgeggons which could result in various civil andinginal penalties and administrative sancti
including termination of contracts, refund of atomr of fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspen of payments, fines and suspensions or
debarment from future government business.
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We may need to change our pricing models to competecessfully. The intense competition we face in the salesuofproducts and
services and general economic and business camglitin put pressure on us to change our pricear kompetitors offer deep discounts on
certain products or services or develop productsttie marketplace considers more valuable, wemaay to lower prices or offer other
favorable terms in order to compete successfully such changes may reduce margins and could adyeffect operating results. Our
software license updates and product support feghardware systems support fees are generallgchas a percentage of our net new
software licenses fees and net new hardware sygterdscts fees, respectively. Our competitors nfégr dower pricing on their support
offerings, which could put pressure on us to furtiscount our new license prices.

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricitigips could cause our revenues to decline or leydd as our sales force implements and
our customers adjust to the new pricing policiesn8 of our competitors may bundle products for ptiomal purposes or as a long-term
pricing strategy or provide guarantees of prices pnoduct implementations. These practices cowldr ime, significantly constrain the prices
that we can charge for certain of our productaidfdo not adapt our pricing models to reflect clesnig customer use of our products or
changes in customer demand, our revenues couldairAdditionally, increased distribution of apations through cloud and SaaS
providers, may reduce the average price for outlywrts or adversely affect other sales of our prtejueducing our revenues unless we can
offset price reductions with volume increases. ifloeease in open source software distribution nisy eause us to change our pricing moc

We might experience significant errors in our softie and hardware products and services.Despite testing prior to their release, sofavar
and hardware products sometimes contain errorecedly when first introduced or when new versians released. The detection and
correction of any errors can be time consumingasdly. Errors in our software or hardware prodectsld affect the ability of our products
work with other software or hardware products, dalglay the development or release of new prodaratew versions of products and could
adversely affect market acceptance of our prodifoige experience errors or delays in releasingraw software or hardware products or new
versions of our software or hardware products, addclose revenues. In addition, we run our owriress operations and run the cloud
software subscriptions, Oracle managed cloud ses\and other services that we offer to our custsmermour products and networks.
Therefore any flaws, if exploited, could affect @lnility to conduct our business operations. Eretsjsavho rely on our software products and
services for applications that are critical to thrisinesses, may have a greater sensitivity tdymteerrors than customers for software prod
generally. Errors in our software and hardware petglor services could expose us to product ligbilierformance and/or warranty claims as
well as harm our reputation, which could impact future sales of products and services.

We may not receive significant revenues from ourri@nt research and development efforts for seveyahbrs, if at all. Developing softwai
and hardware products is expensive and the investim@roduct development often involves a longimeton investment cycle. We have made
and expect to continue to make significant investi:ié research and development and related praghpzirtunities. Accelerated product
introductions and short product life cycles reqiigh levels of expenditures for research and dgraknt that could adversely affect our
operating results if not offset by revenue increa¥ée believe that we must continue to dedicaigraficant amount of resources to our
research and development efforts to maintain oompetitive position. However, we do not expect toefee significant revenues from these
investments for several years, if at all.

Business disruptions could affect our operating td#s. A significant portion of our research and depehent activities and certain other
critical business operations are concentratedf@wageographic areas. We are a highly automateishéss and a disruption or failure of our
systems could cause delays in completing saleprviding services, including some of our cloudisaie subscriptions and managed cloud
services offerings. A major earthquake, fire oreotbatastrophic event that results in the destrnair disruption of any of our critical business
or IT systems could severely affect our abilitycomduct normal business operations and, as a resulfuture operating results could be
materially and adversely affected.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busire: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgafion can be lengthy, expensive and
disruptive to our operations, and can divert ounaggment’s attention away from the running of augibess. The results of our litigation also
cannot be predicted with certainty. An adversesdenicould result in monetary damages or injuncatelief that could affect our business,
operating results or financial condition. Additibir#formation regarding certain of the lawsuits are involved in is discussed under Note 1
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incluedsewhere in this Annual Repc

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.As a multinational corporation, we are subjedncome taxes as well as non-income
based taxes, in both the United States and vaftwagyn jurisdictions. Significant judgment is réxpd in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. We aagularly under audit by tax authorities and thagthorities often do not agree with positions
taken by us on our tax returns.
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Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a Bagritly adverse impact on our effective tax r&ter example, certain U.S. government
proposals for fundamental U.S. international tdrnre, if enacted, could have a significant advenggact on our effective tax rate. Further, in
the ordinary course of a global business, thereramy intercompany transactions and calculationsre/the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Our intercompany transfer pricing haanbend is currently being reviewed by the U.S.riERevenue Service (IRS) and by fore
tax jurisdictions and will likely be subject to atidnal audits in the future. We have negotiatedaie unilateral Advance Pricing Agreements
with the IRS and certain selected bilateral AdvaRdeing Agreements that cover many of our interpany transfer pricing issues and
preclude the relevant tax authorities from makingaasfer pricing adjustment within the scope @sthagreements. However, these agreer
do not cover substantial elements of our trangfieiry. In addition, our provision for income taxasuld be adversely affected by earnings
being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions whigh consider to be indefinitely reinvested outglteUnited States that have lower statutory
tax rates and earnings being higher than antidipiatgurisdictions that have higher statutory tases.

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,asiphyroll, sales, use, valadéded, net worth, property and goods and servécesst in bot
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioffe are regularly under audit by tax authoritiéthwespect to these non-income based taxe
and may have exposure to additional non-incomedbtseliabilities. Our acquisition activities hawereased our non-income based tax
exposures, particularly with our entry into thedvaare systems business, which increased the vaumie€omplexity of laws and regulations
that we are subject to and with which we must cgmpl

Although we believe that our income and rinobeme based tax estimates are reasonable, theoedissurance that the final determination o
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psdwns and accruals.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions maglversely affect our operating results. Under business combination accounting
standards pursuant to ASC 8®aisiness Combinationave recognize the identifiable assets acquireal|itibilities assumed and any non-
controlling interests in acquired companies getegdltheir acquisition date fair values and, icleaase, separately from goodwill. Goodwil

of the acquisition date is measured as the exeeesra of consideration transferred, which is alsnagally measured at fair value, and the net
of the acquisition date amounts of the identifisddsets acquired and the liabilities assumed. &timates of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whiclnhegently uncertain. After we complete an acdigisi the following factors could result in
material charges and adversely affect our opera&nglts and may adversely affect our cash flows:

e costs incurred to combine the operations of canigsawe acquire, such as transitional employeeressgseand employee retention,
redeployment or relocation expens

< impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, arfcular within our hardware systems productsamstilting reporting units, for
which the amounts of goodwill and intangible as#let$ we have recorded increased in recent yearsnay continue to increase in
the future, and for which we have experienced regsrand margin declines as compared to prior y

< amortization of intangible assets acquir
< areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

« identification of or changes to assumed contingjehilities, both income tax and non-income talated, after our final
determination of the amounts for these contingenaiehe conclusion of the measurement period (gépeip to one year from the
acquisition date), whichever comes fii

» charges to our operating results to maintainageduplicative pre-merger activities for an extedigheriod of time or to maintain
these activities for a period of time that is lontfen we had anticipated, charges to eliminat@ceduplicative pre-merger
activities, and charges to restructure our opematar to reduce our cost structt

» charges to our operating results resulting fromeasps incurred to effect the acquisition;
« charges to our operating results due to the expgrmdicertain stock awards assumed in an acquis

Substantially all of these costs will be accourftedchs expenses that will decrease our net incardesarnings per share for the periods in
which those costs are incurred. Charges to ouratipgrresults in any given period could differ salpsially from other periods based on the
timing and size of our future acquisitions andéfeent of integration activities. A more detaila@daission of our accounting for business
combinations and other items is presented in th@it@l Accounting Policies and Estimates” sectarManagemens$ Discussion and Analys
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationerl 7).
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There are risks associated with our outstanding afiudiure indebtedness. As of May 31, 2013, we had an aggregate of%b8lion of
outstanding indebtedness that will mature betwbenémainder of calendar 2013 and calendar 204@vanday incur additional indebtedness
in the future. Our ability to pay interest and rgfze principal for our indebtedness is dependponwur ability to manage our business
operations, generate sufficient cash flows to sersuch debt and the other factors discussedsrséution. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to manage any of these risks succégsfu

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtanting debt as it matures. There is a risk thainag not be able to refinance existing debt
or that the terms of any refinancing may not béaaerable as the terms of our existing debt. Furtioee, if prevailing interest rates or other
factors at the time of refinancing result in highderest rates upon refinancing, then the integgpense relating to that refinanced indebtec
would increase. Should we incur future increasesterest expense, our ability to utilize certafroor foreign tax credits to reduce our U.S.
federal income tax could be limited, which couldaworably affect our provision for income taxes afigctive tax rate. In addition, changes
by any rating agency to our outlook or credit rgttould negatively affect the value of both ourtdmid equity securities and increase the
interest amounts we pay on outstanding or futube. dehese risks could adversely affect our finanoiadition and results of operations.

Environmental and other related laws and regulatisisubject us to a number of risks and could redualsignificant liabilities and costs.
Some of our hardware systems operations are subjstite, federal and international laws govermirgjection of the environment, proper
handling and disposal of materials used to manufaaiur products, human health and safety, regugjdkie use of certain chemical substance:
and disclosure of the use of certain “conflict mais.” We endeavor to comply with these environrakand other laws, yet compliance with
such laws could increase our product design, dewsdmt, procurement, manufacturing and administnatwsts, limit our ability to manage
excess and obsolete non-compliant inventory, changsales activities, or otherwise impact futunarcial results of our hardware systems
business. Any violation of these laws can subjedbusignificant liability, including fines, penas and possible prohibition of sales of our
products into one or more states or countries asdltrin a material adverse effect on the finanodaldition or results of operations of our
hardware systems business. A significant portioousfhardware systems revenues come from intemetg8ales. Environmental legislation
within the European Union (EU), including the EUr&itive on Restriction of Hazardous Substances &atid Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment Directive (WEEE Directive),wwsll as China’s regulation on Management Methad<Controlling Pollution Caused by
Electronic Information Products may increase owt ©f doing business internationally and impacttmandware systems revenues from EU
countries and China as we endeavor to comply withimplement these requirements. In addition, siméhvironmental legislation has bee!
may be enacted in other jurisdictions, the cumwugsitinpact of which could be significant.

Our stock price could become more volatile and ydawestment could lose value. All of the factors discussed in this sectionldoaffect ou
stock price. The timing of announcements in thdipubarket regarding new products, product enhamcgsior technological advances by our
competitors or us and any announcements by usgofisiions, major transactions, or management absuguld also affect our stock price.
Changes in the amounts and frequency of sharealepses or dividends could adversely affect outkgpoice. Our stock price is subject to
speculation in the press and the analyst commuttignges in recommendations or earnings estimgitisancial analysts, changes in
investors’ or analysts’ valuation measures forsiock, our credit ratings and market trends unedlad our performance. A significant drop in
our stock price could also expose us to the riskectirities class actions lawsuits, which couldltés substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which calvdraely affect our business.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devetspintonsulting, manufacturing and
administrative personnel. Our headquarters fadglitysists of approximately 2.0 million square feeRedwood City, California, substantially
all of which we own. We lease our principal intdrmenufacturing facility for our hardware systemsduicts in Hillsboro, Oregon. We also
own or lease other office facilities for curreneuonsisting of approximately 23.8 million squagetfin various other locations in the United
States and abroad. We believe our facilities agoid condition and suitable for the conduct of lousiness. Approximately 3.9 million square
feet, or 15%, of total owned and leased spacehikesar is being actively marketed for subleasdisposition.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 18 of Notes to Cdidlsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AalnReport on Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globaé&eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beedddson the NASDAQ since our
initial public offering in 1986. On June 20, 2013 announced that we applied to list our commookstm the New York Stock Exchange (the
“NYSE") under our current symbol “ORCL". Subjectttoe approval by the NYSE of our listing applicatiove expect that our common stock
will begin trading on the NYSE on July 15, 2013.cAdding to the records of our transfer agent, wek 1#270 stockholders of record as of
May 31, 2013. The following table sets forth thevland high sale prices per share of our commorkst@sed on the last daily sale, in each of
our last eight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarter $ 31.2¢ $ 36.3¢ $ 25.61 $ 30.2¢
Third Quartel $ 31.6] $ 36.21 $ 25.51 $ 31.9(
Second Quarte $ 29.5¢ $ 33.1C $ 26.0C $ 33.6¢
First Quartel $ 26.0( $ 32.2( $ 24.7¢ $ 34.0¢

During fiscal 2013, our Board of Directors declaegu paid cash dividends in the aggregate of $§8eBGhare of outstanding common stock,
which included an accelerated cash dividend of&gr share of outstanding common stock paid oreDéer 21, 2012. This accelerated casl|
dividend was intended by our Board of Director¢ain lieu of quarterly dividends that we would Batherwise announced with our earnings
results for the second, third and fourth quartéfssoal 2013, and that would have been paid iewrdar year 2013. During fiscal 2012, we
declared and paid cash dividends totaling $0.24pare of outstanding common stock.

In June 2013, our Board of Directors declared atgus cash dividend of $0.12 per share of outstamdommon stock. This $0.12 per share
cash dividend was an increase of $0.06 per shametbe last regular quarterly cash dividend of 8@6r share of outstanding common stock
paid on November 2, 2012 and was declared eahliar the Board of Directors had previously planfidtw $0.12 per share cash dividend is
payable on August 2, 2013 to stockholders of reesrdf the close of business on July 12, 2013. Mveently expect to continue paying
comparable cash dividends on a quarterly bastsarfuture; however, future declarations of divideadd the establishment of future record
and payment dates are subject to the final detetioim of our Board of Directors.

For equity compensation plan information, pleagerr® Item 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. On1Riri2012, we announced that our
Board of Directors approved an expansion of ouckstepurchase program by an additional $10.0 billion June 20, 2013, we announced tha
our Board of Directors approved a further expansipan additional $12.0 billion. Approximately $2illion remained available for stock
repurchases as of May 31, 2013 pursuant to ouk sepuirchase program prior to the additional amawriorized in June 2013.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquiations and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchases of our dt
our stock price and economic and market conditi@ns.stock repurchases may be effected from tintierte through open market purchase
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repucpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delayiscontinued at any time.
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The following table summarizes the stock repurcleasivity for the three months ended May 31, 2048 the approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to @ck s#purchase program:

Total Number

of Shares

(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased
March 1, 201—March 31, 201! 22t
April 1, 201:—April 30, 2013 33.7
May 1, 201—May 31, 201: 28.2
Total 84.2

30

Average Price
Paid per
Share

34.17
32.6¢
33.9i

33.4¢

BB eH

Total Number of
Shares Purchased ¢
Part of Publicly
Announced
Program
22.t
33.7
28.2
84.L

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchase:

Under the Program

$
$
$

4,185.(
3,084.¢
2,125
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $toldler return on our common stock with the cumutatbtal return of the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Information Technology Index for eatthe last five fiscal years ended May 31, 2013uasing an investment of $100 at the
beginning of such period and the reinvestment gfdividends. The comparisons in the graphs bel@bassed upon historical data and are nc
indicative of, nor intended to forecast, futurefpanance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Oracle Corporation, the S&P 500 Index,
and the S&P Information Technology Index

OO0 m————— e

150

mDPeprroo
i
g
]

$50 F————————————————
50
5/08 5/00 510 511 512 513
——— Oracle Corporafion — A = 5&P 500 —+3-— 5&F Information Technokogy
*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2008 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS
5/08 5/09 5/10 5/11 5/12 5/13

Oracle Corporation 100.0( 85.9¢ 99.9¢ 152.6¢ 119.0¢ 153.3¢
S&P 500 Inde) 100.0(¢ 67.4: 81.5¢ 102.7¢ 102.3: 130.2¢
S&P Information Technology Inde 100.0(¢ 71.2¢ 91.5Z 110.8¢ 119.2¢ 137.2¢
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financialalas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heitected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial stataetseand related notes included in Iltem 15 of tm&idal Report. Over the last five fiscal
years, we have acquired a number of companiesdmgusun Microsystems, Inc. in fiscal 2010, amotigees. The results of our acquir
companies have been included in our consolidatexthiial statements since their respective datasapfisition and have contributed to our
growth in revenues, income, earnings per shard¢aatiassets.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

(in millions, except per share amounts 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 37,18( $ 37,120 $ 35,620 $ 26,82( $ 23,25.
Operating incomi $ 1468 $1 7 $ 12,03 $ 9,062 $ 8,321
Net income $ 10928 $ 9,981 $ 8547 $ 6,13t $ 5,59:
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 22 $ 19 $ 167 $ 121 $ 1.0¢
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 4,844 5,09t 5,12¢ 5,07: 5,13(
Cash dividends declared per common s $ 03C $ 022 $ 021 $ 020 $ 0.0¢
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati

Working capital® $ 28,82( $ 24,63t $24,98. $ 12,317 $ 9,43
Total asset $81,81: $ 78,327 $ 73,53t $ 61,57¢ $ 47,41¢
Notes payable and other borrowir® $ 18,49 $ 16,47« $ 15,92: $ 14,65¢ $ 10,23¢

(1) Total working capital sequentially increased iastperiods primarily due to the favorable impaobtir net current assets resulting from our nedrime generated during these periods
and the issuances of $5.0 billion, $3.25 billiod 4.5 billion of longterm senior notes in fiscal 2013, 2011 and 201$peetively. These increases were partially offgetdsh used fi
acquisitions, repurchases of common stock and elidcayments made in all periods presented angmegpas of certain of our senior notes in fiscal @010 and 200¢

(2)  Our notes payable and other borrowings, whichesgmted the summation of our notes payable, duarehother current borrowings, and notes payatdeather non-current
borrowings as reported per our consolidated balaheets as of the dates listed in the table atiowesased between fiscal 2009 and 2013 due taguances of $5.0 billion of long-
term senior notes in fiscal 2013, $1.7 billion &1d15 billion of short-term borrowings made purduarour revolving credit agreements in fiscal 2@h2 2011, respectively, $3.25
billion of long-term senior notes in fiscal 201hda$4.5 billion of long-term senior notes in fis@8l10. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated FinhSt&ements, included elsewhere in
this Annual Report, for additional information redi@g our notes payable and other borrowit
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ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis oéftial Condition and Results of Operations witltoaarview of our key operating
business segments and significant trends. Thisv/aaxeiis followed by a summary of our critical acoting policies and estimates that we
believe are important to understanding the assamgtind judgments incorporated in our reportechfifed results. We then provide a more
detailed analysis of our results of operations famehcial condition.

Business Overview

We are the world largest provider of enterprise software and diteggprovider of computer hardware products andises that are engineel
to work together in the cloud and in the data acemi&e are a leader in the core technologies ofcclmamputing, including database and
middleware as well as web-based applications, alization, clustering and largesale systems management. We provide cloud seratce®ll
as software and hardware products to other cloncseproviders, both public and private. Oracléattase and middleware software,
applications software and hardware systems—inctudomputer server, storage and networking produate-the building blocks of our own
cloud services, our partners’ cloud services arccagtomers’ private cloud environments. Our cugiantan subscribe to use select Oracle
software and hardware products through our clotetiofys, or purchase our software and hardwareymtscand related services to build their
own private cloud or opremise information technology (IT) environmentsirGtrategy is to deliver reliable and scalabledpis and service
that are built upon industry standards and arenemsged to work together or independently. We alssye new or emerging growth
opportunities in order to maintain technology leatig. Offering customers a choice in how they aseproducts and services—while
maintaining enterprise-grade reliability, securépd interoperability—is important to our corporatmtegy.

We believe that internal growth and continued irat@mn with respect to our software, hardware amdiees businesses are the foundation of
our long-term strategic plans. In fiscal 2013, weeisted $4.9 billion, and in each of fiscal 2018 2611 we invested $4.5 billion, in research
and development to enhance our existing portfdliproducts and services and to develop new prodaradsservices. We continue to focus the
engineering of our hardware and software productaake them work together more effectively andwéelimproved computing performance,
reliability and security to our customers. For epdeanOracle Engineered Systems, which include gacl® Exadata Database Machine, Oracl
Exalogic Elastic Cloud and Oracle SPARC SuperCiysteducts, among others, combine certain of omlkare and software offerings in a
way that increases computing performance relativaut competitors’ products, creating time savirggiciencies and operational cost
advantages for our customers. With products tleaeagineered to work together, our customers aduceemuch of the complexity of IT and
make available resources they would otherwise spand operations. In addition to our introductiafsew, innovative hardware and
software products, we also continue to demonstrateommitment to customer choice through ongomg@cements to our existing produ
including our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, Reqit and JD Edwards applications software praduct

We believe that an active acquisition program istla@r important element of our corporate strategif anhances the products and services
we can offer to customers, expands our custome, Ipagvides greater scale to accelerate innovagianys our revenues and earnings and
increases stockholder value. In recent years, we imwvested billions of dollars to acquire a numblecompanies, products, services and
technologies that add to, are complementary tbhage otherwise enhanced our existing offerings eWfeect to continue to acquire companies
products, services and technologies to furthercoyporate strategy.

We are organized into three businesses—softwardwaae systems and services—which are further dividto certain operating segments.
Each of our businesses and operating segmentsiftagewcharacteristics and faces different oppotiesand challenges. Although we report
our actual results in U.S. Dollars, we conductgmificant number of transactions in currencies othan U.S. Dollars. Therefore, we present
constant currency information to provide a framédwfor assessing how our underlying businesses pee excluding the effect of foreign
currency rate fluctuations. An overview of our ghifmisinesses and related operating segments follows

Software Busines

Our software business, which represented 74%, 1a%68% of our total revenues in fiscal 2013, 204@ 2011, respectively, is comprised of
two operating segments: (1) new software licenselscboud software subscriptions and (2) softwarerlse updates and product support. On &
constant currency basis, we expect that our soétwasinesstotal revenues generally will continue to incredse to continued demand for «
software products and subscription offerings, afitvgare license updates and product support offerimcluding the high percentage of
customers that renew their software license updatdgproduct support contracts, and our acquistiaich should allow us to grow our
profits and continue to make investments in reseand development.
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New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi  We license our database and middleware, as welliaapplications software,
and provide access to a broad range of our softeféeengs through cloud software subscriptionstecacts. Our software solutions are built on
a standards-based, integrated architecture tloasigned to help customers reduce the cost andlegitypof their IT infrastructure. Our
software products are designed to operate on limglesserver and clustered server configurationglmud or onpremise IT environments, a
to support a choice of operating systems includingcle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Windows ahdd party UNIX products, among
others. Our customers include businesses of maeg,gjovernment agencies, educational institutmiasresellers. We market and sell our
software products and services to these customidrsavgales force positioned to offer the comboradithat best fit their needs. We enable
customers to evolve and transform to substantaally | T environment at whatever pace is most appatepfor them.

The growth in new software licenses and cloud saféwsubscriptions revenues that we report is a&feloy the strength of general economic
and business conditions, governmental budgetargtigints, the competitive position of our softwafferings, our acquisitions and foreign
currency fluctuations. The substantial majorityoaf new software licenses transactions is chailiaetéby long sales cycles and the timing of
few large software license transactions can subiatiyraffect our quarterly new software licensesl &loud software subscriptions revenues.
Since our new software licenses and cloud softwabscriptions revenues in a particular quarterbeadifficult to predict as a result of the
timing of a few large software license transactjams believe that analysis of new software liceraes cloud software subscriptions revenues
on a trailing 4-quarter period (as provided in Qurarterly Reports on Form X} provides additional visibility into the undenhg performanc

of this business segment. New software licensesknd software subscriptions revenues represet@es 27% and 26% of our total reven

in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Ooudlsoftware subscriptions contracts are genesaléyto three years in duration and we strive
to renew these contracts when they are eligibledoewal. Our new software licenses and cloud sofvgubscriptions segment’s margin has
historically trended upward over the course offthe quarters within a particular fiscal year daodte historical upward trend of our new
software licenses revenues over those quarterlggeand because the majority of our costs forgagment are predominantly fixed in the
short-term. However, our new software licensesadodd software subscriptions segment’s margin leenland will continue to be affected by
the fair value adjustments relating to the clouftveare subscriptions obligations that we assumealinbusiness combinations (described
further below) and by the amortization of intangilbksets associated with companies and technolbgieae have acquired.

For certain of our acquired businesses, we recaad@ggtments to reduce cloud software subscriptidatigations to their estimated fair values
at the acquisition dates. As a result, as requiyeblusiness combination accounting rules, we didexgnize cloud software subscriptions
revenues related to cloud software subscriptiomsraots that would have been otherwise recordethdncquired businesses as independent
entities in the amounts of $45 million and $22 ioillin fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively. To tkeeet underlying cloud software
subscriptions contracts are renewed with us folh@nan acquisition, we will recognize the revenuestie full values of the cloud software
subscriptions contracts over their respective emtiial periods.

Software License Updates and Product SupportCustomers that purchase software license updatepraduct support are granted rights to
unspecified product upgrades and maintenance esdesasl patches released during the term of theostupgriod, as well as technical support
assistance. Our software license updates and pgredpport contracts are generally one year in chrand substantially all of our customers
renew their software license updates and prodygiat contracts annually. The growth of softwacetise updates and product support
revenues is primarily influenced by three fact¢t3:the percentage of our software support contrastomer base that renews its software
support contracts, (2) the amount of new softwappsert contracts sold in connection with the sdleew software licenses and (3) the amoun
of software support contracts assumed from compaméhave acquired.

Software license updates and product support resenwhich represented 46%, 43% and 42% of our tet@nues in fiscal 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively, is our highest margin busingés Our software support margins during fiscal20vere 88% and accounted for 74% of
our total margins over the same period. Our softvliaense updates and product support margins lheee affected by fair value adjustments
relating to software support obligations assumealisiness combinations (described further belowl)gnamortization of intangible assets.
However, over the longer term, we believe thatvarfe license updates and product support revemgemargins will grow for the following
reasons:

» substantially all of our customers, including caséss from acquired companies, renew their softwapgport contracts when
eligible for renewal

» substantially all of our customers purchase sofwiaense updates and product support contracta Wisy buy new software
licenses, resulting in a further increase in odtvwgare support contract base. Even if new softviaemses

34



Table of Contents

revenues growth was flat, software license updatelsproduct support revenues would continue to gnovomparison to the
corresponding prior year periods assuming conteaewal and cancellation rates and foreign curreats remained relatively
constant since substantially all new software kesntransactions result in the sale of softwasm$ie updates and product support
contracts, which add to our software support centrase; an

e our acquisitions have increased our software sumomtract base, as well as the portfolio of praglawailable to be licensed and
supported

We recorded adjustments to reduce software suppbdations assumed in business combinations io ¢lsémated fair values at the
acquisition dates. As a result, as required byrtass combination accounting rules, we did not reizegsoftware license updates and product
support revenues related to software support coistthat would have been otherwise recorded bwadheired businesses as independent
entities in the amounts of $14 million, $48 milliand $80 million in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011pexdively. To the extent underlying
software support contracts are renewed with usyielig an acquisition, we will recognize the revesiter the full values of the software
support contracts over the respective support gerithe majority of which are one year.

Hardware Systems Busine:

Our hardware systems business is comprised of pgoating segments: (1) hardware systems produdt¢2amardware systems support. Our
hardware business represented 14%, 17% and 19% tdtal revenues in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 201dpeetively. We expect our hardware
business to have lower operating margins as a p&@e of revenues than our software business dile tocremental costs we incur to
produce and distribute these products and to peostgbport services, including direct materials lahdr costs. We expect to make investment
in research and development to improve existingware products and services and to develop newuaaedproducts and services.

Hardware Systems Product We provide a broad selection of hardware systend related services including servers, storagf@jorking,
virtualization software, operating systems, and aga@ment software to support diverse IT environmenttuding public and private cloud
computing environments. We engineer our hardwaseesys with virtualization and management capaddito enable the rapid deployment
and efficient management of cloud and on-premisiafiBstructures. Our hardware products supportynedinhe world’s largest public and
private clouds, including the Oracle Cloud; ourtsafe development private cloud; and our Oraclevelsity self-service private cloud.

We have also engineered our hardware systems pgrotucreate performance and operational cost adgas for customers when our
hardware and software products are combined adedEagineered Systems. Oracle Engineered Systesreoag building blocks for Oracle’s
data center and cloud computing products and ssvidracle Infrastructure-as-a-Service (laaS),rapremise cloud offering for deploying
Oracle’s Engineered Systems to customers on agptisc basis, provides our customers with flextiiin deployment models and allows our
customers to cost effectively handle peak computingkloads with capacity on demand.

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&RC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers run thel®&alaris operating system and are
differentiated by their reliability, security, asdalability. Our mid-size and large servers arégiesl to offer greater performance and lower
total cost of ownership than mainframe system®éminess critical applications, for customers hgvirore computationally intensive needs,
and as platforms for building cloud computing I'Tvieanments. Our SPARC servers are also a core coamiof the Oracle SPARC
SuperCluster, one of our Oracle Engineered Systems.

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x8seare based on microprocessor platforms froel @orporation (Intel) and are also
compatible with Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Misoft Windows and other operating systems. Our ¥86sns are also a core component of
many of our Oracle Engineered Systems includingl@rBxadata Database Machine, Oracle Exalogic iEl&éud, Oracle Exalytics In-
Memory Machine and the Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Our storage products are designed to securely reapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missiitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive sofveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems enviranme

Our networking and data center fabric productduiiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Inf8@ind and Ethernet technologies, are |
with our server and storage products and are iatedrinto our management tools to help enterpriseomers improve infrastructure
performance, reduce cost and complexity and sigptibrage and server connectivity.

The majority of our hardware systems products al@ through indirect channels, including independ#stributors and value added resellers.
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To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrdernal manufacturing operations as well agltparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgjicontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers and storage systems. For all other raetwing, we generally rely on third party
manufacturing partners to produce our hardwarg¢agleomponents and hardware products and we maijvaour internal manufacturing
operations in the final assembly, testing and ¢yiabntrol processes for these components and ptedwe distribute most of our hardware
products either from our facilities or partner fiigis. We strive to reduce costs by simplifying omanufacturing processes through increased
standardization of components across product tgpdsa “build-to-order” manufacturing process in ethproducts generally are built only
after customers have placed firm orders. We coattowevolve hardware systems support processeartattended to proactively identify and
solve quality issues and to increase the amoungéwfand renewed hardware systems support consi@ldtsn connection with the sales of our
hardware systems products.

Our hardware systems products revenues, cost diaae systems products and hardware systems apgemtirgins that we report are affec
by our strategy for and the competitive positiomof hardware systems products, the strength afrgeaconomic and business conditions,
governmental budgetary constraints, certain ofamguisitions and foreign currency rate fluctuatidnsaddition, our operating margins for our
hardware systems products segment have been drzbwiffected by the amortization of intangibleedss

We have limited experience in predicting our qudythardware systems products revenues. The timirogistomer orders and delays in our
ability to timely manufacture or deliver a few largardware transactions could substantially affezamount of hardware systems products
revenues, expenses and operating margins thatpeet.re

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideotusts with software updates for software componitatis
are essential to the functionality of our serve atorage products, such as Oracle Solaris andicarther software products, and can include
product repairs, maintenance services and techsiggdort services. Typically, our hardware systeapport contract arrangements are
invoiced to the customer at the beginning of thepsut period and are one year in duration. Ourlward systems support revenues that we
report are influenced by a number of factors, iditlg the volume of purchases of hardware prodtiecésmix of hardware products purchased,
whether customers decide to purchase hardwarensysigpport contracts at or in close proximity @ tilme of sale, and the percentage of our
hardware systems support contract customer baseetiaws its support contracts. All of these faxme heavily influenced by our customers’
decisions to either maintain or upgrade their éxgshardware systems’ infrastructure to newly depet technologies that are available.

Our hardware systems support margins have beewidlirizk affected by certain of our acquisitions arthted accounting including fair value
adjustments relating to hardware systems supptigations assumed and by the amortization of intalegssets. As required by business
combination accounting rules, we recorded adjustsienreduce our hardware systems support revdouesntracts assumed from our
acquisitions to their estimated fair values. Thas®unts would have been recorded as hardware systgmport revenues by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amotifitsiamillion, $30 million and $148 million for ftsl 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. To
the extent underlying hardware systems supportactstare renewed with us following an acquisitiva,will recognize the revenues for the
full values of the hardware systems support cotgrager the respective support periods.

Services Busines

Our services business is comprised of the remaioideur operating segments and offers consultimgiees, managed cloud services and
education services. Our services business, whiptesented 12% of our total revenues in fiscal 281813% in each of fiscal 2012 and 2011,
has lower margins than our software and hardwasebases. Our services revenues are impacted tayncef our acquisitions, general
economic conditions, governmental budgetary comggpersonnel reductions in our customers’ ITadtgpents, tighter controls over
discretionary spending and the growth in our sofénand hardware systems products revenues.

Our consulting line of business is designed to leelpcustomers more successfully architect andogemlir products. Our consulting services
include business and IT strategy alignment, en@rchitecture planning and design, initial pidmplementation and integration, and
ongoing product enhancements and upgrades. Thersmbconsulting revenues recognized tends toHagamount of our software and
hardware systems products revenues by severakgsigihce consulting services, if purchased, gieajly segmentable from the products to
which they relate and are performed after the enet purchase of the products. Our services reversiieq relate to consulting services
dependent upon general economic conditions ankbted
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of our product revenues, in particular the newvgafe licenses sales of our application productsh&extent we are able to grow our product:
revenues, in particular our software applicatioodoict revenues, we would also generally expecetalide to eventually grow our consulting
revenues.

Oracle managed cloud services provide comprehessiteare and hardware management and maintenandees—including deployment,
management, monitoring, patching, security and aggiservices—for customers hosted at our Oracéeddatter facilities, select partner data
centers or physically on-premise at customer fiesli Additionally, we provide support servicesttbon-premise and remote, to our customer
to enable increased performance and higher aviityabi their products and services. We believe thar managed cloud services offerings
provide our customers with greater value and chihiceugh increased business performance, redusledarpredictable cost and more
flexibility in terms of service in order to maxingizhe performance of their Oracle software andvare products and services.

Education services provide training to customeastners and employees as a part of our missionadlarating the adoption and use of our
software and hardware products and to create apputes to grow our product revenues.

Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is another importaliement of our corporate strategy. In recent yemeshave invested billions of dollars to
acquire a number of complementary companies, ptedservices and technologies including Acme Padket (Acme Packet) in fiscal 2013,
and Taleo Corporation (Taleo) and RightNow Techgigs, Inc. (RightNow) in fiscal 2012, among othé&k&e believe our acquisition program
strengthens our competitive position, enhancegtbeéucts and services that we can offer to custsnespands our customer base, provides
greater scale to accelerate innovation, grows egrrues and earnings and increases stockholder. Wallei expect to continue to acquire
companies, products, services and technologiagrindrance of our corporate strategy. Note 2 oeBled Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report providédigonal information related to our pending andemat acquisitions.

We believe we can fund our pending and future aifijoms with our internally available cash, cashieglents and marketable securities, cash
generated from operations, additional borrowingBan the issuance of additional securities. Wéreste the financial impact of any potential
acquisition with regard to earnings, operating rrgrgash flow and return on invested capital tagdpetfore deciding to move forward with an
acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aatting Standards Codification (Codification) and sioier the various staff accounting
bulletins and other applicable guidance issuechbyunited States Securities and Exchange Commi$Sie&). GAAP, as set forth within the
Cadification, requires us to make certain estimgtefgments and assumptions. We believe that tima&es, judgments and assumptions upo
which we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable to us at the time that these estimfuudgments and assumptions are made.
These estimates, judgments and assumptions cam #iféereported amounts of assets and liabilitiesfahe date of the financial statements as
well as the reported amounts of revenues and egpahging the periods presented. To the extent thier differences between these estimate
judgments or assumptions and actual results, nanéiial statements will be affected. The accountivigcies that reflect our more significe
estimates, judgments and assumptions and whichelievb are the most critical to aid in fully undersding and evaluating our reported
financial results include the following:

« Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

e Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
« Accounting for Income Taxe

« Legal and Other Contingenci

« Stocl-Based Compensatic

« Allowances for Doubtful Account
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In many cases, the accounting treatment of a jpéattitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARIadoes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areagshich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alternativeuld not produce
materially different result. Our senior managentes reviewed our critical accounting policies agldted disclosures with the Finance and
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software, winicludes new software licenses revenues earoetdranting licenses to use our software
products and fees from cloud software subscriptafferings, and software license updates and proslygport revenues; (2) hardware systt
which includes the sale of hardware systems preductuding computer servers, storage productsyor&ing and data center fabric products,
and fees from infrastructure-assarvice (laaS) offerings, and hardware systemsastpgvenues; and (3) services, which includesasof anc
hardware related services including consulting, agad cloud services and education revenues. Revgenerally are recognized net of any
taxes collected from customers and subsequentlittezhio governmental authorities.

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and So#viRelated Services (Software Elements)

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesrg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &
applications software and exclude cloud softwatsstiptions revenues and revenues derived frorwvaodtlicense updates, which are inclu
in software license updates and product suppoemees. The basis for our new software licensesitevescognition is substantially governed
by the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-60%ware-Revenue Recognitifile exercise judgment and use estimates in conmectio
with the determination of the amount of softwared anftware related services revenues to be recedmizeach accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undaties; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmdause the foregoing conditions are not meteamgnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howeaf/acceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are ejby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentingreement and are short-term in nature, wergéy recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory hiath&r revenue recognition criteria have been. igicceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptaeriod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiméclude software license updates and prodypiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teahonantent, as well as internet and telephone adeetechnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsearerglly priced as a percentage of the net newvaodtlicenses fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Software Products and Software Related Servicdsn@® Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customerspghichase both software related products and aoétwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @etd to as software related multiple-element geaments). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiplelement arrangements, we have applied the residegiod to determine the amount of software liceagenues to t
recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Under the wesichethod, if fair value exists for undeliveredrakbnts in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undelivered

38



Table of Contents

elements is deferred with the remaining portiothefarrangement consideration recognized uponatglief the software license or services
arrangement. We allocate the fair value of eachmeie of a software related multiple-element arramgrg based upon its fair value as
determined by our vendor specific objective evide(MSOE—described further below), with any remagn@mount allocated to the software
license.

Revenue Recognition for Hardware Systems Prodhieisjware Systems Related Services, Cloud Softwalbs@iptions and laaS Offerings
(Nonsoftware Elements)

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejatssent amounts earned primarily from the sad®mputer servers, storage and
networking products. Our revenue recognition pofiythese nonsoftware deliverables and other rfomace deliverables including hardware
systems related services and cloud software suyitigers offerings is based upon the accounting guidaontained in ASC 60Revenue
Recognitior, and we exercise judgment and use estimates imection with the determination of the amount ofdaare systems products
revenues, hardware systems related services revamdecloud software subscriptions revenues tedegnized in each accounting period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence afrmmgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc¢8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled é4) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce regefur estimated returns or certain other incergiagrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéné an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiarited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the smfwomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our server and storage producis ean also include product repairs, maintenanocgcgsr and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generatiggoas a percentage of the net hardware systerdsqis fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered into at the customer’s optimhare recognized ratably over the contractual tf the arrangements, which are typically
one year.

Our cloud software subscriptions offerings gengnatbvide customers access to certain of our seéwathin a cloud-based IT environment
that we manage and offer to customers on a sultiseripasis. Revenues for our cloud software supsoris offerings are recognized ratably
over the contract term commencing with the dateseuwvice is made available to customers and adliratwenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied.

Our laas offerings are on-premise cloud offerirggsdieploying certain of Oracle’s Engineered Systants support services to customers on a
subscription basis. Customers that enter into Eaghgements are also able to purchase additiapakity on demand. Our revenue
recognition policy for laaS offerings is in acconda with ASC 605 and ASC 84eases Substantially all of our laaS offerings are acded

for as operating leases as our contracts are staatso that the term of the arrangement is less ™% of the economic life of the equipment
and the present value of the minimum fixed paymargdess than 90% of the fair market value ofetlpgipment at the inception of the
arrangement. Our evaluation of useful life is basedur historical product development cycles amdhistorical customer hardware upgrade
cycles. Capacity on demand is a contingent paymaueats therefore excluded from our assessmeneafi¢h present value of fixed payments.
Revenue for capacity on demand is recognized ipéned our customers access additional capacityighed all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Hardware Systems Products and Hardware Systemddgehervices (Nonsoftwe
Arrangements

We enter into arrangements with customers thathfase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as némgre multiple-element arrangements). Each elémwéhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntbe delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righttofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgreduct or service is considered probable asdlstantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the prbduservice is sold separately by us or anotkeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinobhtde a general right of return relative to thedivered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of
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accounting are not met, the deliverable is combimitldl the undelivered element(s) and treated asglesunit of accounting for the purposes
allocation of the arrangement consideration andmae recognition. For those units of accountingittdude more than one deliverable but
treated as a single unit of accounting, we generatiognize revenues over the delivery period.tRempurposes of revenue classification of the
elements that are accounted for as a single urit@bunting, we allocate revenue to the respeotivenue line items within our consolidated
statements of operations based on a rational amslstent methodology utilizing our best estimateetditive selling prices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememgsallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdohupon the following selling price hierarchy: iS@ available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available dption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanmsystems product includes software, we determirether the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheeliver the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obacting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadteunit based on the aforementioned selling griesarchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishadt contingent upon future delivery of addiibproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppatthandware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE is estatliby evaluating similar and interchangeable cditgpgoroducts or services in standalone
arrangements with similarly situated customersvdfare unable to determine the selling price bec®®0OE or TPE does not exist, we
determine ESP for the purposes of allocating thengement by reviewing historical transactionsluding transactions whereby the
deliverable was sold on a standalone basis anddarimgy several other external and internal factoctuiding, but not limited to, pricing
practices including discounting, margin objectiveampetition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and
services, the type of customer (i.e. distributadue added reseller, government agency and dinectigser, among others) and the stage of the
product lifecycle. The determination of ESP is mitdeugh consultation with and approval by our nggmaent, taking into consideration our
pricing model and go-to-market strategy. As oupuar competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strégsgevolve, we may modify our pricing
practices in the future, which could result in o to our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. Aesalt, our future revenue recognition
for multiple-element arrangements could differ materially framm i@sults in the current period. Selling prices analyzed on an annual basi
more frequently if we experience significant changeour selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to botht@afe and Nonsoftware Elements

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Arrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevaalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including hardvegstems products, hardware systems support, néwaseflicenses, software license upd
and product support, cloud software subscriptionslaaS offerings, consulting, managed cloud sesvénd education. In such arrangements,
we first allocate the total arrangement consideraliased on the relative selling prices of thewsa®é group of elements as a whole and to the
nonsoftware elements. We then further allocateidenstion within the software group to the respexglements within that group following
the guidance in ASC 985-605 and our policies asrite=d above. After the arrangement consideratasbeen allocated to the elements, we
account for each respective element in the arrapgeas described above.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable tim&oe and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consgllitimplementation services sold separately undeswlting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Ctingukevenues from these arrangements are genaatunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88&-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the nattisenvices (i.e. consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalittheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptanteiarbn the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthed.
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there is a significant uncertainty about the progemnpletion or receipt of payment for the consigjtservices, revenues are deferred until the
uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimdte proportional performance on contracts with fieednot to exceed” fees on a monthly basis
utilizing hours incurred to date as a percentagetaf estimated hours to complete the projeadfdo not have a sufficient basis to measure
progress towards completion, revenues are recogjmiben we receive final acceptance from the custahad the services have been
completed. When total cost estimates exceed regsemeaccrue for the estimated losses immediathgilcost estimates that are based upor
an average fully burdened daily rate applicablthéoconsulting organization delivering the serviddse complexity of the estimation process
and factors relating to the assumptions, riskswuarartainties inherent with the application of gineportional performance method of
accounting affects the amounts of revenues antetbbxpenses reported in our consolidated finastaéments. A number of internal and
external factors can affect our estimates, inclgdiéor rates, utilization and efficiency variane@sl specification and testing requirement
changes.

Our managed cloud services are offered as starglalwangements or as a part of arrangements torcast buying new software licenses or
hardware systems products and services. Oraclegedrdoud services are designed to provide compsie software and hardware
management and maintenance services for custorostsdhat our Oracle data center facilities, seladner data centers or physically on-
premise at customer facilities. Additionally, wepide support services, both on-premise and renm®racle customers to enable increased
performance and higher availability of their prothuand services. Depending upon the nature ofrla@gement, revenues from managed c
services are recognized as services are performedably over the term of the service period, whHikgenerally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsmess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargegcognized as the classes or other educafierngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements aresd ot qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sysisydsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based orractraicccounting using either the percentage-of-detiogm or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safewhardware systems and services arrangemeptha{include milestones or customer
specific acceptance criteria that may affect ctibecof the software license or hardware systeroslyet fees; (2) where consulting services
include significant modification or customizatiohtbe software or hardware systems product or fieespecialized nature and generally
performed only by Oracle; (3) where significant solting services are provided for in the softwacerise contract or hardware systems
product contract without additional charge or afestantially discounted; or (4) where the softwiarense or hardware systems product
payment is tied to the performance of consultingises. For the purposes of revenue classificaticthe elements that are accounted for as a
single unit of accounting, we allocate revenuesatitware and nonsoftware elements based on a ahimil consistent methodology utilizing
our best estimate of the relative selling pricewth elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w§ the software or hardware systems productst@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suciterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@aggrof the applicable funding provision by the govnental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalie diime of sale and recognize revenues if abiotbvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 dayset#r, payment terms may vary based on the coimtihich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgataémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoacessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredri@ifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within lousinesses include short-term payment terms, we aatandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers pnityathrough our financing division. Since fisca89, when our financing division was
formed, we have established a history of colle¢twithout concessions, on these receivables wiimeat terms that generally extend up to
five years from the contract date. Provided alkottevenue recognition criteria have been met,egegnize new software licenses revenues
and hardware systems products revenues for themmggaments upon delivery, net of any payment disisoiiom financing transactions. We
have generally sold receivables financed througHinancing division on a non-recourse basis tedtipiarty financing institutions within 90
days of the contracts’ dates of execution and assifly the
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proceeds from these sales as cash flows from apgrattivities in our consolidated statements ahclows. We account for the sales of these
receivables as “true sales” as defined in ASC &6@nsfers and Servicingas we are considered to have surrendered caftioése financing
receivables.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with leggiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeoduats. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing casgpganerally have no recourse to us in the eviesiefault by the end-user and we recognizc
revenue upon delivery, if all the other revenueggition criteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersaésionally, we have purchased goods or servizesuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent TransartBoffware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nath time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment asdliasure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @selin cash. We recognize new software
licenses revenues or hardware systems productuesdrom Concurrent Transactions if all of our rawe recognition criteria are met and the
goods and services acquired are necessary fouotent operations.

Business Combination

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased at their acquisition date fair values. Gotichgi of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred over thefrtbe acquisition date fair values of the asaetwiired and the liabilities assumed. While wi
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvatek assets acquired and liabilities assuméaeahcquisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimate$ndwerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquiktiailities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabusof the measurement period or final determinatibiine values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anyssgjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidéaéements of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires canagement to make significant estimates and asgumpespecially at the acquisition d
including our estimates for intangible assets, i@attial obligations assumed, restructuring liabsit pre-acquisition contingencies and
contingent consideration, where applicable. AltHouge believe the assumptions and estimates werhade in the past have been reasonable
and appropriate, they are based in part on histiogicperience and information obtained from the ag@ment of the acquired companies and
are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certdithe intangible assets we have acquired includetminot limited to:

« future expected cash flows from software licensess&loud software subscriptions contracts, hardwsgstems product sales,
support agreements, consulting contracts, oth@orwes contracts, acquired developed technologidgatents

« expected costs to develop the in-process reseattdevelopment into commercially viable productd estimated cash flows from
the projects when complete

« the acquired company’s brand and competitive positis well as assumptions about the period of timaecquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined com['s product portfolio; an

 discount rates
Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocatinty affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions, estimates or actual results.

We estimate the fair values of cloud software stipgons, software license updates and product eigmd hardware systems support
obligations assumed. The estimated fair valuebedd performance obligations are determined uigia cost build-up approach. The cost
build-up approach determines fair value by estingathe costs related to fulfilling the obligatiguisis a normal profit margin. The estimated
costs to fulfill the obligations are based on tisdrical direct costs related to providing thevsegs including the correction of any errors in the
products acquired. The sum of these costs and tipgraofit approximates, in theory, the amount thva would be required to pay a third
party to assume the performance obligations. Weaddnclude any costs associated with selling &for research and development or the
related fulfillment margins on these costs. Pradisociated

42



Table of Contents

with any selling efforts is excluded because thguaed entities would have concluded those sebBifigrts on the performance obligations p

to the acquisition date. We also do not includeetstimated research and development costs in owallae determinations, as these costs are
not deemed to represent a legal obligation atithe of acquisition. As a result, we did not recagnéloud software subscriptions revenues
related to cloud software subscriptions contratthé amount of $45 million and $22 million thatwld have been otherwise recorded by the
acquired businesses as independent entities &l 2843 and 2012, respectively. We did not recagsiztware license updates and product
support revenues related to support contractseimthounts of $14 million, $48 million and $80 naillithat would have been otherwise
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeexiits in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respedtiviel addition, we did not recognize
hardware systems support revenues related to hezdwatems support contracts that would have ofkeraeen recorded by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amotififsiamillion, $30 million and $148 million for ftwl 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Historically, substantially all of our customensciuding customers from acquired companies, reieiv software license updates and product
support contracts when the contracts are eligillednewal and we strive to renew cloud softwalesstiptions and hardware systems suppor
contracts. To the extent cloud software subscmgtigoftware support or hardware systems suppottagis are renewed, we will recognize
revenues for the full values of the contracts dkiercontracts’ periods, which are generally one yeduration.

In connection with a business combination or offtetegic initiative, we may estimate costs assediwith restructuring plans committed to
by our management. Restructuring costs are typicalinprised of employee severance costs, costsnsiotidating duplicate facilities and
contract termination costs. Restructuring expeasedased upon plans that have been committed dartbypanagement, but may be refined in
subsequent periods. We account for costs to exdésiructure certain activities of an acquired canypseparately from the business
combination pursuant to ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligationg liability for costs associated with an exit osposal activity is
recognized and measured at its fair value in onsalidated statement of operations in the periadhith the liability is incurred. When
estimating the fair value of facility restructuriagtivities, assumptions are applied regardingresgd sub-lease payments to be received,
which can differ materially from actual results.i¥ may require us to revise our initial estimatdésolr may materially affect our results of
operations and financial position in the periodiingsion is made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatednd may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafificient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of therédile estimates of assets acquired and liaksildEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.

If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglaby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matifirsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed oiadility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (ii) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relateluation allowances assumed in connection withsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinzunoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary estésdeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatiothe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatethl@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Impairment Assessiten

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wiegar events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with ASC 3Bllangibles—Goodwill and OtherEffective fiscal 2012, we opted to perform a dative assessment
to test a reporting unit’'s goodwill for impairmeBtased on our qualitative assessment, if we deterthiat the fair value of a reporting unit is
more likely than not (i.e. a likelihood of more th&0 percent) to be less than its carrying amdhetfwo step impairment test will be
performed. In the first step, we compare the falue of each reporting unit to its carrying valli¢he fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
the carrying value of the net assets assignecatauttit, goodwill is not considered impaired andawe not required to perform further testing.
If the carrying value of the net assets assigndddo
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reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the repgrunit, then we must perform the second step@ifimpairment test in order to determine the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwilf the carrying value of a reporting unit’'s godtexceeds its implied fair value, then we
would record an impairment loss equal to the déffiee.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imwes the use of significant estimates and assumptibhese estimates and assumptions in
revenue growth rates and operating margins usedltollate projected future cash flows, risk-adjdstiscount rates, future economic and
market conditions and determination of appropnmteket comparables. We base our fair value estsrateassumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inhgrantertain. Actual future results may differ fréhose estimates. In addition, we make
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagymlues for each of our reporting units. Our
most recent annual goodwill impairment analysisiciwlvas performed on March 1, 2013, did not reisuét goodwill impairment charge, nor
did we record any goodwill impairment in fiscal 20dr 2011. Our consulting and hardware systemsuatsdeporting units have experienced
revenues and operating margin declines in fiscaB28s compared to prior years. As a result, ouswting and hardware systems products
reporting units may be at greater risk for gooduailpairment than our other reporting units if oatual results for these reporting units differ
from our projections.

We make judgments about the recoverability of paseld finite lived intangible assets whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. Each period we evaltlze estimated remaining useful lives of purctlas&angible assets and whether events
changes in circumstances warrant a revision toahmining periods of amortization. Recoverabiliftyioite lived intangible assets is measurec
by comparison of the carrying amount of the assété future undiscounted cash flows the assetdeaed to generate. We review indefinite
lived intangible assets for impairment annually arfgtnever events or changes in circumstances tedica carrying value may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of indefinite livedangible assets is measured by comparison of thgimgramount of the asset to its fair value
the asset is considered to be impaired, the amaflarty impairment is measured as the differencedxt the carrying value and the fair value
of the impaired asset.

Assumptions and estimates about future valuesemdining useful lives of our intangible and otherd-lived assets are complex and
subjective. They can be affected by a variety ofdis, including external factors such as induatrgt economic trends and internal factors suc
as changes in our business strategy and our ihfeneaasts. Although we believe the historicalumsptions and estimates we have made are
reasonable and appropriate, different assumptindsatimates could materially impact our reportedrfcial results. We did not recognize any
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2@03,2 or 2011.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining ewarldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a global business, there are man
transactions and calculations where the ultimate@tdacome is uncertain. Some of these uncertaiatiss as a consequence of revenue sharir
and cost reimbursement arrangements among relat#igés the process of identifying items of reves@and expenses that qualify for
preferential tax treatment and segregation of preind domestic earnings and expenses to avoidaltaxation. Although we believe that our
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieeske matters could be different from that whicreffected in our historical income tax
provisions and accruals. Such differences coule lamaterial effect on our income tax provision aatlincome in the period in which such
determination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvesigidide the United States. Remittances of foreagniags to the United States are planned
based on projected cash flow, working capital anvéstment needs of our foreign and domestic opgrstBased on these assumptions, we
estimate the amount that will be distributed toltléted States and provide U.S. federal taxes esdtamounts. Material changes in our
estimates as to how much of our foreign earningidoeidistributed to the United States or tax legien that limits or restricts the amount of
undistributed foreign earnings that we consideefimitely reinvested outside the United States douéterially impact our income tax
provision and effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be alglerierate sufficient taxable income in those juciszhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We consider future growth, forecastedirge) future taxable income, the mix of earningthim jurisdictions in which we operate,
historical earnings, taxable income in prior yed#rsarryback is permitted under the law and prudem feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehievent we were to determine that we would natide to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethietaleferred tax assets valuation allowance wbeldharged to earnings in the period in wi
we make such a determination, or goodwill would be
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adjusted at our final determination of the valuatidlowance related to an acquisition within theemweement period. If we later determine that
it is more likely than not that the net deferrexl dasets would be realized, we would reverse thécgble portion of the previously provided
valuation allowance as an adjustment to earningsdt time.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provibiased on estimates and assumptions that couét #liéim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generatiprded in the period when the tax return:
are filed and the global tax implications are knowhich can materially impact our effective taxerat

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgeiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonaay uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentatescription of our accounting policies
associated with tax related contingencies assumedoart of a business combination is provided utiBlgsiness Combinations” above. For
those tax related contingencies that are not agbabusiness combination, we account for thesentain tax issues pursuant to ASC 740,
Income Taxe, which contains a two-step approach to recogniaimgy measuring uncertain tax positions taken oeebea to be taken in a tax
return. The first step is to determine if the weighavailable evidence indicates that it is mdkelyy than not that the tax position will be
sustained in an audit, including resolution of aglated appeals or litigation processes. The sestaplis to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmdized upon ultimate settlement. Although we veliee have adequately reserved for our
uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be giterrespect to the final outcome of these mattéfs.adjust reserves for our uncertain tax
positions due to changing facts and circumstarstes) as the closing of a tax audit, judicial rufingefinement of estimates or realization of
earnings or deductions that differ from our estesafl o the extent that the final outcome of thea#ters is different than the amounts recor
such differences generally will impact our provisfor income taxes in the period in which such dsination is made. Our provisions for
income taxes include the impact of reserve prous@nd changes to reserves that are consideredpaigpe and also include the related
interest and penalties.

In addition, as a part of our accounting for bussneombinations, intangible assets are recogniziir aalues and goodwill is measured as the
excess of consideration transferred over the righated fair values of assets acquired. Impairnsbarges associated with goodwill are
generally not tax deductible and will result ininoreased effective income tax rate in the periad &ny impairment is recorded. Amortization
expenses associated with acquired intangible ageetgenerally not tax deductible pursuant to aistiag tax structure; however, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anatidizexpenses as a part of the accounting fonkasicombinations. We have taken into
account the allocation of these identified intategtamong different taxing jurisdictions, includitigpse with nominal or zero percent tax rates
in establishing the related deferred tax liabiitie

Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. A description of agcounting policies associated with contingencéssianed as a part of a business combinatio
is provided under “Business Combinations” above.|egal and other contingencies that are not aqfatbusiness combination, we accrue a
liability for an estimated loss if the potentiabfofrom any claim or legal proceeding is considgmtbable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgment is required in bibith determination of probability and the deterrtioraas to whether the amount of an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of waictes related to these matters, accruals aralmdg on the best information available at
the time the accruals are made. As additional médion becomes available, we reassess the potéaligity related to our pending claims and
litigation and may revise our estimates. Such femisin the estimates of the potential liabiliteesild have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employeaading grants of employee stock options, restddtock-based awards and purchases
under employee stock purchase plans, in accordaiticedSC 718,Compensation—Stock Compensatishich requires that share-based
payments (to the extent they are compensatoryg@dmgnized in our consolidated statements of omeratbased on their fair values. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense oaighstline basis over the service period of therawanhich is generally four years.

We are required to estimate the stock awards teatltimately expect to vest and to reduce stogked compensation expense for the effec
estimated forfeitures of awards over the expensegration period. Although we estimate the ratéubiire
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forfeitures based upon historical experience, adtuteitures in the future may differ. To the emt®ur actual forfeitures are different than our
estimates, we record a true-up for the differencdé period that the awards vest and suchupseeould materially affect our operating rest
Additionally, we also consider on a quarterly bagigether there have been any significant changéscts and circumstances that would affect
our expected forfeiture rate.

We estimate the fair values of employee stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation modek Tir value of an award is affected by
our stock price on the date of grant as well asraéissumptions including the estimated volatilitypor stock price over the term of the awards
and the estimated period of time that we expecti@yeps to hold their stock options. The risk-freerest rate assumption we use is based
upon U.S. treasury interest rates appropriatenf@eipected life of the awards. We use the impl@ditility of publicly traded options in our
stock in order to estimate future stock price teeasl we believe that implied volatility is more negentative of future stock price trends than
historical volatility. In order to determine thetiesated period of time that we expect employedsoid their stock options, we have used
historical rates of employee groups by senioritjobf classification. Our expected dividend ratbased upon an annualized dividend yield
based on the per share dividend declared by ourdBwaDirectors. The aforementioned inputs enténgal the option valuation model we ust
fair value our stock awards are subjective estimatel changes to these estimates will cause theafaies of our stock awards and related
stock-based compensation expense that we receathyo

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based casagien awards that result in deductions on ouwrine tax returns, based on the amount of
stock-based compensation recognized and the faiesattributable to the vested portion of stoclkas assumed in connection with a
business combination, at the statutory tax ratberjurisdiction in which we will receive a tax dedion. Because the deferred tax assets we
record are based upon the stock-based compensati@mses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiomed inputs that affect the fair values of
our stock awards may also indirectly affect ounime tax expense. In addition, differences betwberdéeferred tax assets recognized for
financial reporting purposes and the actual tasudgdn reported on our income tax returns are goin additional paid-in capital. If the tax
deduction is less than the deferred tax assetdaloellated shortfall reduces our pool of excesdbnefits. If the pool of excess tax benefits is
reduced to zero, then subsequent shortfalls wowgietase our income tax expense.

To the extent we change the terms of our emplotek$ased compensation programs, experience maolatlity in the pricing of our
common stock that increases the implied volatd@jculation of publicly traded options in our stposfine different assumptions in future
periods such as forfeiture rates that differ fram current estimates, or assume stock awards fomuiged companies that are different in
nature than our stock award arrangements, amorg ptiential impacts, the stotlesed compensation expense that we record in fpauied:
and the tax benefits that we realize may diffensigantly from what we have recorded in previoaparting periods.

Allowances for Doubtful Account:

We make judgments as to our ability to collect autding receivables and provide allowances foptirtion of receivables when collection
becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based ugpedafic review of all significant outstanding inwes. For those invoices not specifically
reviewed, provisions are provided at differing sateased upon the age of the receivable, the tiolfekistory associated with the geographic
region that the receivable was recorded and cuessriomic trends. If the historical data that we tascalculate the allowances for doubtful
accounts does not reflect the future ability tdestiloutstanding receivables, additional provisifoxaddoubtful accounts may be needed and ou
future results of operations could be materialfeeted.

Results of Operations

Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results in fis2813 compared to fiscal 2012 is impacted by @gussitions, primarily our acquisitions of
Acme Packet in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018leb in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 and Rigw during the third quarter of fiscal 2012.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2812 compared to fiscal 2011 is impacted by @gussitions, primarily our acquisitions of
Taleo in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, RightiNm the third quarter of fiscal 2012, Art TechngyoGroup, Inc. (ATG) in the third quarter of
fiscal 2011 and Phase Forward Incorporated (Phaseafd) during the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

In our discussion of changes in our results of agens from fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 fschl 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, we
guantify the contributions of our acquired produotshe growth in new software licenses and claftirare
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subscriptions revenues and software license updatkproduct support revenues for the one yeaogertibsequent to the acquisition date.
incremental contributions of our acquisitions to other businesses and operating segments’ revamaesxpenses are not provided as they
either were not separately identifiable due toitihegration of these operating segments into oistiey operations and/or were insignificant to
our results of operations during the periods prieskn

We caution readers that, while pre- and post-ad@riscomparisons, as well as the quantified ametimmselves, may provide indications of
general trends, the acquisition information thatpr@vide has inherent limitations for the followingasons:

« the quantifications cannot address the substasffetts attributable to changes in business stiegencluding our sales force
integration efforts. We believe that if our acqdimmpanies had operated independently and satassfbad not been integrated,
the relative mix of products sold would have be#feent; and

« although substantially all of our customers, inahgdcustomers from acquired companies, renew Hudfware license updates and
product support contracts when the contracts agilkd for renewal and we strive to renew cloudhsafe subscriptions contracts
and hardware systems support contracts, the amshioten as new software licenses and cloud softavscriptions deferred
revenues, software license updates and producbsugigferred revenues, and hardware systems sugyferred revenues in our
supplemental disclosure related to certain chafgresented below) are not necessarily indicativeeénue improvements we will
achieve upon contract renewals to the extent cust®nD not renev

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and eahtinue to provide a significant portion of oatal revenues and expenses. As a result,
revenues and expenses will continue to be affényerhanges in the U.S. Dollar against major intéonal currencies. In order to provide a
framework for assessing how our underlying busieegerformed excluding the effect of foreign cucsefiuctuations, we compare the perc
change in the results from one period to anothgogén this Annual Report using constant curredigclosure. To present this information,
current and comparative prior period results fdities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Bdlare converted into U.S. Dollars at con:
exchange rates (i.e. the rates in effect on May812, which was the last day of our prior fiscahs) rather than the actual exchange rates in
effect during the respective periods. For examphm entity reporting in Euros had revenues ofrhilion Euros from products sold on

May 31, 2013 and May 31, 2012, our financial staets would reflect reported revenues of $1.29 amilin fiscal 2013 (using 1.29 as the
month-end average exchange rate for the period$arb million in fiscal 2012 (using 1.25 as thentivend average exchange rate for the
period). The constant currency presentation waaldsiate the fiscal 2013 results using the fis@d22exchange rate and indicate, in this
example, no change in revenues during the pendath of the tables below, we present the peaterige based on actual, unrounded resul
in reported currency and in constant currency.
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Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $19,71¢ 3% 3%  $19,23¢ 5% 5% $18,35:
EMEA @) 11,15¢ -3% 0% 11,56 1% 1% 11,497
Asia Pacific® 6,30: 0% 3% 6,324 10% 7% 5,77:
Total revenue: 37,18( 0% 2% 37,12: 4% 4% 35,62:
Total Operating Expense 22,49¢ -4% -2% 23,41°¢ -1% -1% 23,58¢
Total Operating Margin $14,68¢ 7% 10% $13,70¢  14% 14% $12,03¢
Total Operating Margin % 39% 37% 34%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 52% 52%
EMEA 30% 31% 32%
Asia Pacific 17% 17% 16%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $27,46: 5% 7%  $26,11¢ 9% 9%  $24,03:
Hardware Systemr 5,34¢  -15% -13% 6,30z -9% -10% 6,94¢
Services 4,371 -T% -5% 4,703 1% 1% 4,64
Total revenue $37,18( 0% 2% $37,12: 4% 4%  $35,62:
% Revenues by Busines
Software 74% 70% 68%
Hardware Systemr 14% 17% 19%
Services 12% 13% 13%

(1) Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi
(@ Asia Pacific includes Japs

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012 Excluding the effect of unfavorable foreign currgmate fluctuations of 2 percentage points, oual
revenues increased in fiscal 2013 due to an inergagur software business revenues, which wabatable to growth in our software license
updates and product support revenues and our ritmese licenses and cloud software subscriptiomemaes. This constant currency increase
was partially offset by reductions in our hardwsystems and services business’ revenues. On aaobesirrency basis, the Americas region
contributed 77% and the Asia Pacific region coniiéldl 23% to our growth in total revenues duringdi2013.

Excluding the effect of favorable foreign curremaje fluctuations of 2 percentage points, totakrafieg expenses decreased in fiscal 2013
primarily due to a $387 million acquisition relateenefit (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated RrsiStatements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report for additional information), a $30@lion benefit related to certain litigation (se®fd 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Réporddditional information), lower hardware systeproducts costs associated with lower
hardware systems products revenues, and certan gpierating expense decreases in most of our lilesrof business primarily due to lower
variable compensation expenses, lower externatachotr expenses and lower amortization of intamgéslsets. In constant currency, these
expense decreases during fiscal 2013 were partieiiet by higher salary and benefit expenses dimegpily to additional sales and marketing
and research and development headcount added disdag2013.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, our total operating margin and our topsrating margin as a percentage of total
revenues increased during fiscal 2013 due to ttre#&se in our total revenues and the decrease iotalioperating expenses.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011 Excluding the effect of foreign currency raligcfuations, the increase in our total revenudsaal
2012 was primarily attributable to growth in oufta@re business’ revenues, partially offset by@ducdion in
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our hardware systems business’ revenues. Exclutisgffect of currency rate fluctuations, the Aroasi contributed 65%, EMEA contributed
8% and Asia Pacific contributed 27% to our totaler@ies growth in fiscal 2012.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, total operating expenses decreased $lighfiiscal 2012 primarily due to reductions
in our hardware systems business’ expenses duédercies gained through our hardware systemgagripntegration efforts and lower
hardware systems products costs associated wittr loardware systems products revenues; decreaseddin variable compensation
expenses; and a reduction in restructuring costsaaquisition related costs primarily associateith wkpenses incurred in fiscal 2011 relate
our acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc (Sun). Séhéiscal 2012 expense decreases were partiaigtdffy fiscal 2012 expense increases in
salaries and benefits primarily related to addaisales and marketing headcount and an increagmigral and administrative expenses that
was primarily due to a $120 million legal expenseavery in fiscal 2011.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, the increase in total operating margin@etating margin as a percentage of
revenues in fiscal 2012 was due to our increasetah revenues while our total expenses decreased.
Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our consolidated financial informative believe the following information is helptolan overall understanding of our past
financial performance and prospects for the futMis should review the introduction under “Impat#equisitions” (above) for a discussion
of the inherent limitations in comparing pre- aripacquisition information.

Our operating results included the following buseombination accounting adjustments and expeakded to acquisitions, as well as
certain other significant expense and income items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

New software licenses and cloud software subsoniptieferred revenu® $ 4 $ 2 3 —
Software license updates and product support defeavenue® 14 48 80
Hardware systems support deferred rever®) 14 30 14¢
Amortization of intangible asse 2,38t 2,43( 2,42¢
Acquisition related and oth()®) (604) 56 20¢
Restructuring® 352 29t 487
Stoclk-based compensati(® 722 62€ 50C
Income tax effect® (896€) (967) (1,009

$ 203 ¢ 2540 % 2,84¢

(@) In connection with our acquisitions, we havereated the fair values of the cloud software supsioris, software support and hardware systems stippligations assumed. Due to
our application of business combination accountirigs, we did not recognize cloud software subsorig revenues related to contracts that would loélverwise been recorded by the
acquired businesses as independent entities entioeints of $45 million and $22 million in fiscal2and 2012, respectively. We also did not recagsftware license updates and
product support revenues related to software stjgpotracts that would have otherwise been recobgetie acquired businesses as independent enitibe amounts of $14 million,
$48 million and $80 million in fiscal 2013, 2012caR011, respectively. In addition, we did not retiag hardware systems support revenues relatearthwvare systems support
contracts that would have otherwise been recorgigtidacquired businesses as independent entittbg iamounts of $14 million, $30 million and $IBlion in fiscal 2013, 2012 ar
2011, respectively

Approximately $6 million of estimated clouditseare subscriptions revenues related to contr@sssimed will not be recognized during fiscal 201a4 tvould have otherwise been
recognized as revenues by the acquired businessedependent entities due to the application efaforementioned business combination accountileg.rApproximately $6 million
of estimated hardware systems support revenudsdel@ahardware systems support contracts assuiitietbivbe recognized during fiscal 2014 that wobhbive otherwise been
recognized by certain acquired companies as indigperentities due to the application of the afonetiv@ed business combination accounting rules h€ektent customers renew
these contracts with us, we expect to recognizermess for the full contrac values over the respective contr’ renewal periods

49



Table of Contents

(2) Represents the amortization of intangible asaeistantially all of which were acquired in coni@etwith our acquisitions. As of May 31, 2013, estted future amortization expenses
related to intangible assets were as follows (iltioni):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 2,12¢
Fiscal 201¢ 1,65¢€
Fiscal 201€ 1,09¢
Fiscal 2017 528
Fiscal 201¢ 397
Thereatftel 80z

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 6,59¢
In-process research and developn 45

Total intangible assets, r $ 6,64

(3)  Acquisition related and other expenses primamilgsist of personnel related costs for transitiamel certain other employees, stock-based compensatpenses, integration related
professional services, certain business combinatifjmstments including certain adjustments aftemtieasurement period has ended and changes Valiaér of contingent
consideration payable and certain other operatérgd, net. In fiscal 2013, acquisition related atiger expenses included a benefit of $306 millielated to certain litigation (see Note
18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemerdisiited elsewhere in this Annual Report for addiidnformation), and a net benefit of $387 millidne to an acquisition related
item (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Finari8fatements included elsewhere in this Annual Rdpoadditional information)

(4)  The significant majority of restructuring expesisiiring fiscal 2013 related to employee severanckfacility exit costs in connection with our Fs2013 Oracle Restructuring Plan
(the 2013 Restructuring Plan). Restructuring exgermfiring fiscal 2012 and 2011 primarily relateddsts incurred pursuant to our Sun Restructurlag.FAdditional information
regarding certain of our restructuring plans isvited in Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Finan8i@tements included elsewhere in this Annual Re

(5)  Stock-based compensation was included in the followingrating expense line items of our consolidated:stants of operations (in millions
Year Ended May 31,

2013 2012 2011

Sales and marketing $ 14 $ 12 $ 8
Software license updates and product sug 2C 18 14
Hardware systems produt 3 1 2
Hardware systems suppt 5 5 5
Services 31 23 16
Research and developme¢ 352 29t 231
General and administratiy 164 162 14E

Subtotal 72z 62€ 50C
Acquisition related and otht 33 33 10

Total stocl-based compensatic $ 75k $ 65¢ $ 51C

Stock-based compensation included in acqoisitélated and other expenses resulted from urt/ettek options and restricted stock-based awasisnaed from acquisitions whose
vesting was accelerated upon termination of thel@yeps pursuant to the terms of those stock optiodsrestricted sto-based award:

(8) The income tax effects presented were calcukasdtithe above described charges were not inclirdedr results of operations for each of the retipe periods presented. Income tax
effects for fiscal 2013 were calculated based erafbplicable jurisdictional tax rates applied te items within the table above and resulted infeacgve tax rate of 23.0%, instead of
21.4% which represented our effective tax rateesiveld per our consolidated statement of operatiomsarily due to the net tax effects of acqusitrelated items, including the tax
effect of amortization of intangible assets. Incameeffects for fiscal 2012 were calculated reflegan effective tax rate of 24.0%, instead 0028 .which represented our effective
tax rate as derived per our consolidated stateofespterations, due to the disproportionate ratesichpf certain discrete items, income tax effeelated to our acquired tax exposures,
and differences in jurisdictional tax rates andted tax benefits attributable to our restructugrgenses in the period. Income tax effects fe@afi2011 were calculated reflecting an
effective tax rate of 25.3%, instead of 25.1% whiepresented our effective tax rate as derivedpeconsolidated statement of operations, primatilg to differences in jurisdiction
tax rates and the related tax benefits attributabt®ir restructuring expenses in the period ardrtbome tax effects related to our acquired tgposures

Software Business

Our software business consists of our new softeeases and cloud software subscriptions segmehsaftware license updates and produc
support segment.

50



Table of Contents

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi  New software licenses revenues represent teeee from granting customers
licenses to use our database and middleware arapplication software products. Cloud software stpsons revenues represent fees earne
from granting customers access to a broad rangaraoftware offerings on a subscription basis s®eure, standards-based cloud computing
environment that includes access, hosting, infuaitre management, the use of software updatesugpmbrt. We continue to place significant
emphasis, both domestically and internationallydimact sales through our own sales force. We asainue to market our products through
indirect channels. Expenses associated with oursudtware licenses and cloud software subscriptiemsnues are included in sales and
marketing expenses, which are largely personnateéeland include commissions earned by our sates for the sale of our software
offerings, marketing program costs, the cost of/jaliag cloud software subscriptions services andization of intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi Revenues
Americas $ 5,46¢ 7% 8% $5,107 10% 11% $4,66:
EMEA 2,95¢ 3% 5% 2,88¢ 1% 4% 2,861
Asia Pacific 1,89 -1% 3% 1,918 12% 11% 1,712
Total revenue: 10,32: 4% 6% 9,90¢ % 8% 9,23¢
Expenses
Sales and marketir® 6,252 6% 8% 5,89¢ 8% 8% 5,45¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 14z 19% 19% 12C 43% 43% 84
Amortization of intangible asse® 986 20% 20% 822 1% 1% 811
Total expense 7,38( 8% 10% 6,841 8% 8% 6,35(
Total Margin $ 2,94! -4% -3%  $3,06¢ 6% 10% $2,88t
Total Margin % 28% 31% 31%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 52% 50%
EMEA 29% 29% 31%
Asia Pacific 18% 19% 19%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations of 2 percentage points, total new
software licenses and cloud software subscriptiemsnues increased by 6% during fiscal 2013 dgedwth across all regions and increme
revenues from our acquisitions. On a constant nayrbasis, the Americas contributed 69%, EMEA dbnted 23% and Asia Pacific
contributed 8% to the increase in new softwarenkes and cloud software subscriptions revenuesaglfiscal 2013.

In reported currency, our new software licensesmees were $9.4 billion and $9.5 billion in fis@ll3 and 2012, respectively. In reported
currency, our cloud software subscriptions revemue® $910 million and $455 million in fiscal 20&8d 2012, respectively. In constant
currency, our new software licenses revenues andloud software subscriptions revenues increagetPb and 100%, respectively, in fiscal
2013 primarily due to incremental revenues fromaxquisitions.

In reported currency, our recent acquisitions dbated $476 million of growth to our total new seétre licenses and cloud software
subscriptions revenues during fiscal 2013.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjesits to reduce assumed cloud software subscriptibligations to their estimated fair vall

at the acquisition dates. Due to our applicatiobusfiness combination accounting rules, cloud softveubscriptions revenues in the amounts
of $45 million and $22 million that would have beatherwise recorded by our acquired businessamapéndent entities were not recognizec
in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. Te #xtent underlying cloud software subscriptionstiaxts are renewed with us following an
acquisition, we will recognize the revenues forfillevalues of the cloud software subscriptionstracts over the respective contractual
periods.
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In reported currency, new software licenses revemaened from transactions of $3 million or greatereased by 11% in fiscal 2013 and
represented 29% of our total new software licemselscloud software subscriptions revenues in fi20aB in comparison to 27% in fiscal
2012.

Excluding the effect of favorable currency ratecfliations of 2 percentage points, total new sofwiaenses and cloud software subscriptions
expenses increased in fiscal 2013 primarily dugigber employee related expenses and stock-basegersation from increased headcount,
and higher intangible asset amortization, partiaffget by a decrease in certain legal costs.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations, total new software licenses and clsaftivare subscriptions margin and margin
as a percentage of revenues decreased in fiscaldaur total expenses increased at a fastethaxteour total revenues for this operating
segment.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of foreign currency ratgcfuations, total new software licenses and cloud
software subscriptions revenues increased in fid@aP due to growth across all major regions aodyxt types and due to incremental
revenues from our acquisitions. On a constant nayrbasis, the Americas contributed 63%, EMEA dbated 13%, and Asia Pacific
contributed 24% to our new software licenses andatkoftware subscriptions revenues growth duiisgaf 2012.

In reported currency, our new software licensesmaes were $9.5 billion and $9.0 billion in fis2fll2 and 2011, respectively. In reported
currency, our cloud software subscriptions revemue® $455 million and $255 million in fiscal 20&8d 2011, respectively. In constant
currency, new software licenses revenues and dofidare subscriptions revenues increased in f3@aP primarily due to improved custor
demand for our products, our sales force’s exenwditd incremental revenues from our acquisitions.

In reported currency, our recent acquisitions ébated $317 million of growth to our total new seétre licenses and cloud software
subscriptions revenues during fiscal 2012. As desdrabove, the amount of new software licenseschndl software subscriptions revenues
that we recognized in fiscal 2012 was affected Wiiess combination accounting rules.

In reported currency, new software licenses anddtknftware subscriptions revenues earned fronsaictions of $3 million or greater
increased by 4% in fiscal 2012 and represented @78ar new software licenses and cloud softwareestifations revenues in fiscal 2012 in
comparison to 28% in fiscal 2011.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosr total new software licenses and cloud softveaitgscriptions expenses increased in fiscal
2012 primarily due to higher employee related espsrfrom increased headcount.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable foreign curngmate fluctuations, new software licenses andakoftware subscriptions total margin
increased due to the increase in revenues, andokware licenses and cloud software subscriptinagyin as a percentage of revenues was
flat as our revenues increased at the same rateraperating expenses.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsspecified software product upgrades
and maintenance releases and patches released th&iaupport period. Product support includegiirieaccess to technical content as well a
internet and telephone access to technical supposbnnel in our global support centers. Expenssscéated with our software license update
and product support line of business include thet cbproviding the support services, largely parss related expenses, and the amortization
of our intangible assets associated with softwappert contracts and customer relationships obdafren acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Software License Updates and Product Support Revesn
Americas $ 9,322 7% 8% $ 8,67 9% 9% $ 7,96
EMEA 5,36: 3% 7% 5,194 8% 8% 4,80z
Asia Pacific 2,45 5% 9% 2,344 15% 12% 2,031
Total revenue 17,14 6% 8% 16,21C  10% 9% 14,79¢
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 1,15¢ -4% -2% 1,20¢ -3% -3% 1,25(
Stoclk-based compensatic 20 12% 12% 18  27% 27% 14
Amortization of intangible asse® 83€ -3% -3% 863 4% 4% 827
Total expense 2,011 -4% -2% 2,08¢ 0% 0% 2,091
Total Margin $15,13: 7% 10% $14,12! 11% 11% $12,70¢
Total Margin % 88% 87% 86%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 54% 54%
EMEA 31% 32% 32%
Asia Pacific 14% 14% 14%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@  Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations, software license updates and product
support revenues increased in fiscal 2013 as & fswew software licenses sold (with substangiall customers electing to purchase softw
support contracts) during the trailing 4-quartetiquet the renewal of substantially all of the sadte support customer base eligible for renewa
in the current fiscal year and incremental reveritgra recent acquisitions. Excluding the effectofrency rate fluctuations, the Americas
contributed 56%, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia Raciontributed 15% to the increase in softwarertise updates and product support
revenues.

In reported currency, software license updatespgraduct support revenues in fiscal 2013 includeddmental revenues of $49 million from
our recently acquired companies. As a result ofamguisitions, we recorded adjustments to redusenasd software support obligations to
their estimated fair values at the acquisition slalfue to our application of business combinaticroanting rules, software license updates
product support revenues related to software stgpotracts in the amounts of $14 million, $48 foilland $80 million that would have been
otherwise recorded by our acquired businessesdap@mdent entities were not recognized in fiscaB2@012 and 2011, respectively.
Historically, substantially all of our customens¢luding customers from acquired companies, reteiv software support contracts when suct
contracts are eligible for renewal. To the extlese underlying support contracts are renewed, Weaaognize the revenues for the full
values of these contracts over the respective suppdods, the substantial majority of which anegear in duration.

Excluding the effect of favorable foreign curremaje fluctuations, total software license updateb@roduct support expenses decreased
primarily due to lower amortization of intangiblesats, a reduction in certain non-income basedtdower bad debt expenses, and lower
variable compensation expenses.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal software license updates and product suppargin and margin as a percentage of
revenues increased as our total revenues forebiment increased while our total expenses decreased
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Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support
revenues increased in fiscal 2012 for similar raasas those noted above for our fiscal 2013 reveimeeease.

In reported currency, software license updatespgraduct support revenues in fiscal 2012 includeddmental revenues of $83 million from
our recently acquired companies. As described gltheeamounts of software license updates and ptadypport revenues that we recognizec
in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 were affected byithess combination accounting rules.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, total software license updates and prosiymport expenses were flat in fiscal 2012 a:
an increase in intangible asset amortization aoccased salaries expenses from increased headeermbffset by reductions in variable
compensation expenses, bad debt expenses andh adhter operating expenses.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal software license updates and product suppargin and margin as a percentage of tota
revenues increased in fiscal 2012 as our totalmee® increased while our total expenses remaiaéd fl

Hardware Systems Business
Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware syst@msrssegment.

Hardware Systems Product Hardware systems products revenues are pringgilerated from the sales of our computer sesterage an
networking products, including sales of our Ordetgineered Systems. We market and sell our hardsystems products through our direct
sales force and indirect channels such as indepéeddgributors and value added resellers. Opegaipenses associated with our hardware
systems products include the cost of hardware sysproducts, which consists of expenses for mégeaiad labor used to produce these
products by our internal manufacturing operationkyothird party manufacturers, warranty expensesthe impact of periodic changes in
inventory valuation, including the impact of invent determined to be excess and obsolete. Operatipgnses associated with our hardware
systems products also include sales and marketipgnses, which are largely personnel related aridde variable compensation earned by
our sales force for the sales of our hardware misland amortization of intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Hardware Systems Products Revenu
Americas $ 1,498  -20% -20%  $ 1,88(  -16% -16%  $ 2,24¢
EMEA 842 -26% -23% 1,14C  -15% -16% 1,33i
Asia Pacific 69€ -14% -12% 807 1% -3% 797
Total revenue: 3,03: -21% -19% 3,827  -13% -14% 4,38:
Expenses
Hardware systems produ«® 1,49¢ -19% -17% 1,84z -10% -10% 2,05¢
Sales and marketir® 92¢ -16% -14% 1,10¢ 7% 6% 1,03
Stoclk-based compensatic 8 211% 211% 3 -57% -57% 5
Amortization of intangible asse® 327 -17% -17% 393 -8% -8% 42¢€
Total expense 2,762 -17% -16% 3,344 -5% -5% 3,52¢
Total Margin $ 271 -44% S42% $ 48: -44% -46% $ 85¢
Total Margin % 9% 13% 20%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 49% 49% 51%
EMEA 28% 30% 31%
Asia Pacific 23% 21% 18%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, hardware systemsigiotevenues decreased in fiscal 2013 primarily
due to reductions in the sales volumes of certhouolegacy product lines, including lower margimducts. These revenue decreases were
partially offset by increases in hardware reveratggutable to our Oracle Engineered Systems.
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On a constant currency basis, total hardware syspgoducts operating expenses declined in fischB 2Bimarily due to a reduction in
hardware systems products costs associated wittr loardware revenues, a decrease in employeed@gpenses due to decreased hardware
systems sales headcount, and lower intangible assatization.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems products margin and maga percentage of revenues decreased il
fiscal 2013 as our total revenues for this segrdenteased at a faster rate than our total expenses.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiohardware systems products revenues decreased il
fiscal 2012 for similar reasons as those noted alfovour fiscal 2013 revenues decrease.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottgal hardware systems products operating expetessimed in fiscal 2012 primarily due to
reductions in hardware systems products costs iatsdavith lower revenues, lower intangible assebidization, and decreases in bad debt
expenses, which were partially offset by increasmgloyee related expenses.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal hardware systems products margin and toéaim as a percentage of revenues
decreased in fiscal 2012 primarily due to the desean hardware systems products revenues anagecie hardware sales and marketing
expenses.

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideorusts with software updates for software componitatis
are essential to the functionality of our servet atorage products, such as Oracle Solaris andicarther software products, and can include
product repairs, maintenance services and techsiggdort services. Expenses associated with odilaaie systems support operating segmer
include the cost of materials used to repair custgmoducts, the cost of providing support servitagely personnel related expenses, and th
amortization of our intangible assets associate¢l hardware systems support contracts and cust@iaionships obtained from our
acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Hardware Systems Support Revenu
Americas $ 1,10¢ -4% 4% $ 1,157 5% 5% $ 1,10¢
EMEA 752  -14% -10% 87C -13% -14% 1,004
Asia Pacific 452 1% 4% 44¢ -2% -5% 45E
Total revenue: 2,31: 1% -4% 2,47¢ -3% -4% 2,562
Expenses
Hardware systems supp® 88t  -15Y% -13% 1,041 -17% -18% 1,25¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 5 -3% -3% 5 1% 1% 5
Amortization of intangible asse® 21z -30% -30% 30& 2% 2% 29¢
Total expense 1,105 -18% -17% 1,351 -13% -14% 1,55
Total Margin $ 1,21( 8% 11%  $ 1,12 12% 10% $ 1,00t
Total Margin % 52% 45% 39%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 48% A47% 43%
EMEA 32% 35% 39%
Asia Pacific 20% 18% 18%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the impact of currency rate fluctuationardware systems support revenues decreased it
fiscal 2013 primarily due to reductions in salelumoes of certain of our legacy hardware systemdymblines for which we offer our hardw:
systems support, partially offset by incrementakreies from our acquisitions.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed hardware systems supfiggtimmns to their estimated fair values
the acquisition dates. Due to our application cfibess combination accounting rules, hardware sysgipport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts in the amounts of $14omil$30 million and $148 million that would hakeen otherwise reported by our acquired
businesses as independent entities were not rexamhim fiscal 2013, 2012 and
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2011, respectively. To the extent these underlpisgiware systems support contracts are renewedjlirecognize the revenues for the full
values of these contracts over the future suppeiogs.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems support expenses decrgafsdal 2013 primarily due to a reduction
in employee related expenses attributable to deetklheadcount, reduced service delivery costsalapdrational initiatives, lower bad debt
expenses, and lower amortization of intangibletasse

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems support margin and magym@ercentage of total revenues increase
in fiscal 2013 due to the reduction in our totaldveare systems support expenses.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiohardware systems support revenues decreased in
fiscal 2012 for similar reasons as those noted alfovour fiscal 2013 revenues decreases. Regjomallenue decreases in the EMEA and
Asia Pacific regions were partially offset by highevenues in the Americas. As described aboveatheunts of hardware systems support
revenues that we recognized in fiscal 2012 an@li2011 were affected by business combination attaogirules.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal hardware systems support expenses decragafiecal 2012 primarily due to the
reduction of service delivery costs during fisc@l 2 resulting from our integration initiatives asised with our acquisition of Sun.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotital hardware systems support margin and maym@ercentage of total revenues increase
in fiscal 2012 as a result of our expense redustfonthis segment.

Services Business

Our services business consists of consulting, mathalpud services and education services. Congukivenues are earned by providing
services to customers in business and IT stratimgynaent, enterprise architecture planning andgtednitial product implementation and
integration, and ongoing product enhancements pgcades. Managed cloud services revenues are dayn@dviding comprehensive
software and hardware management and maintenandeese—including deployment, management, monitoring, patghsecurity and upgrau
services—for customers hosted at our Oracle dattecéacilities, select partner data centers osgtally on-premise at customer facilities.
Additionally, we provide support services, bothpmemise and remote, to our customers to enableased performance and higher availat
of their products and services. Education reveane®arned by providing instructor-led, media-bas#drnetbased and custom training in 1
use of our software and hardware products. Theafgstoviding our services consists primarily ofgennel related expenses, technology
infrastructure expenditures, facilities expenseas external contractor expenses.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Services Revenue
Americas $ 2,32¢ -4% 3% $ 2,42 2% 2% $ 2,37¢
EMEA -
1,24z 16% -12% 1,47: -1% -1% 1,49:
Asia Pacific 801 -1% 4% 81( 4% 3% 77¢
Total revenue: 4,371 -1% -5% 4,70¢ 1% 1% 4,64
Expenses
Services®) 3,51¢ -5% -3% 3,72( -2% -2% 3,80z
Stoclk-based compensatic 31  36% 36% 23 39% 39% 16
Amortization of intangible asse®s - -
23 52% -52% 47 27% -27% 66
Total expense 3,57( -6% -3% 3,79( -2% -2% 3,88¢
Total Margin -
$ 801 12% -10%  $  91: 20% 19% $ 763
Total Margin % 18% 19% 16%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 52% 51%
EMEA 29% 31% 32%
Asia Pacific 18% 17% 17%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@) Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
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Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoat, our total services revenues decreased ifl #6843
due to revenue decreases in each of our servigeseses. The largest services revenues decreaiseah 2013 was to our consulting segment’
revenues, which were primarily impacted by weal@ndnd in EMEA due to weaker economic conditionswhith also experienced higher
revenues in the Asia Pacific region.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal services expenses decreased during fisd& gfimarily due to expense decreases ac
all of our services segments, which consisted milynaf decreases in external contractor costsglovariable compensation expenses, and
lower intangible asset amortization.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottgal services margin and total margin as a peaggnof revenues decreased during fiscal
2013 as our total services revenues declined adtarfrate than our total services expenses.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoas, our services revenues increased modestlgaalfi
2012 due to increased revenues from our consutitigmanaged cloud services segments includingriraam&al contributions from our recen
acquired companies, which were partially offsetliegreases in our education revenues.

On a constant currency basis, our services expeleseeased during fiscal 2012 due to lower thirdypeontractor expenses associated with
our managed cloud services offerings, lower intalegasset amortization and certain other net expertuctions.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal services margin and total margin as a peagenof revenues increased during fiscal -
as our total services revenues increased whiléobalrservices expenses decreased.

Research and Development ExpensesResearch and development expenses consist priroaplgrsonnel related expenditures. We intend t
continue to invest significantly in our researchl @evelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny; #ne essential to maintaining our
competitive position.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Research and developme? $ 4,49 6% 8% $ 4,22 -1% 1% $ 4,28t
Stocl-based compensatic 35z  19% 19% 295 28% 28% 231
Total expense $ 4,85( 7% 8% $ 4,52¢ 0% 1% $ 4,51¢
% of Total Revenue 13% 12% 13%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, total researdidamelopment expenses increased during fiscal 2013

primarily due to an increase in employee relatqguases including salaries, benefits and stock-be@@ghensation from increased headcount,
and was partially offset by lower variable compeiosaexpenses.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, total researdidamelopment expenses increased slightly durswafi
2012 primarily as a result of an increase in emgdorelated expenses such as salaries, benefist@idbased compensation from increased
headcount, which was partially offset by a decréas@riable compensation expenses and a decneasetain legal costs.

General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses primarily cbrdipersonnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humasorgces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
General and administrativ® $ 90¢ -6% 4% $ 962 17% 17% $ 82t
Stoclk-based compensatic 164 2% 2% 16z 12% 12% 14t
Total expense $1,07: -5% 3% $1,12¢ 16% 6% $ 97C
% of Total Revenue 3% 3% 3%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
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Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, total general andréstnative expenses decreased in fiscal 2013
primarily due to a decrease in professional feeslawer variable compensation expenses, partidiseoby slightly higher salaries and
benefits expenses due to a modest increase in dwa@dc

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, total generabantinistrative expenses increased in fiscal 2012
primarily as a result of a fiscal 2011 $120 millibanefit from the recovery of certain legal costBich reduced our expenses in fiscal 2011.

Amortization of Intangible Assets
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual  Constant 2012 Actual  Constani 2011
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 58 -1% -1% $ 58t 3% 3% $ 57C
Hardware systems support agreements and relatgreihips 121 2% 2% 11¢ 1% 1% 11¢€
Developed technolog 82¢ -11%  -11% 922 -7% -T% 99z
Core technolog 32¢ -2% -2% 337 9% 9% 30¢
Customer relationships and contract bacl 35( -5% -5% 37C 2% 2% 363
Cloud software subscriptions and related relatigrs 115 242%  242% 33 267% 267% 9
Trademarks 64 2% 2% 63 -1% -T% 68

Total amortization of intangible ass: $ 2,38 2% 2% $ 2,43( 0% 0% $ 2,42¢

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Amortization of intangible assets decreasedesthy during fiscal 2013 as certain of our intahgib
assets pertaining to our acquisitions of Sun amiceother companies became fully amortized. Thiesgeases were partially offset by
additional amortization from intangible assets thatrecently acquired in connection with our acigioiss, including our acquisitions of Acme
Packet in fiscal 2013, and RightNow and Taleoscdi 2012, among others. Note 7 of Notes to Cotstad Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report has additionalrimi@tion regarding our intangible assets and relatadrtization.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Amortization of intangible assets in fiscal 20l comparison to fiscal 2011 was flat as adddlon
amortization from intangible assets that we acglufrem our acquisitions of RightNow and Taleo isckl 2012 and from our acquisitions of
ATG and Phase Forward in fiscal 2011, among otlvegse offset by a reduction in expenses associitidcertain of our intangible assets t
became fully amortized.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses cows$igersonnel related costs for transitional andage
other employees, stock-based compensation expentagation related professional services, celtaisiness combination adjustments
including certain adjustments after the measurempernbd has ended and changes in fair value ofrogent consideration payable (see Note 2
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements oeduelsewhere in this Annual Report) and certéierobperating items, net. Stock-based
compensation expenses included in acquisitioneélahd other expenses resulted from unvested sfiitkns and restricted stock-based
awards assumed from acquisitions whereby vestirgjagaelerated upon termination of the employeesuaut to the original terms of those
stock options and restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constant 2012 Actual  Constant 2011
Transitional and other employee related ¢ $ 2 6% 9% $ 28 -81%  -81% $ 12!
Stoclk-based compensatic 33 1% 1% 33 254%  254% 10
Professional fees and other, net - -

(27€) 2,314% 2,216% 13 -81%  -83% 66
Business combination adjustments, net - - - -

(388) 2,543% 2,426Y% (15) 499%  515% 3

Total acquisition related and other expenses - -
$ (604 1,183% 1,200% $ 56 -73% -74% $ 20¢
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Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, the decrease incguisition related and other expenses in fiscaB201
was primarily due to a business combination bemeféted to the change in fair value of contingmnisideration payable, which resulted in a

net benefit of $387 million in fiscal 2013 (see B@ of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememsided elsewhere in this Annual Report),

and a $306 million benefit in fiscal 2013 that veearded to professional fees and other, net retatedrtain litigation (see Note 18 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report).

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, the decrease insttguirelated and other expenses during fisca201
was primarily due to lower transitional employekated costs and professional services expensasiparison to those that were incurred in
fiscal 2011 (primarily related to our acquisitiohSun), and was also due to a benefit from a bgsikembination related legal settlement,
which reduced our fiscal 2012 expenses. These sgp@uluctions were partially offset by an incraasgock-based compensation expenses
associated with our recent acquisitions and expeassociated with the change in fair value of cgyeint consideration payable during fiscal
2012.

Restructuring expenses Restructuring expenses result from the exesufananagement approved restructuring plans teat wenerally
developed to improve our cost structure and/oratp@rs, often in conjunction with our acquisitioridgration strategies. Restructuring
expenses consist of employee severance costs gndlsasinclude charges for duplicate facilities arigler contract termination costs to
improve our cost structure prospectively. For adddl information regarding our restructuring plasse Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constant 2012 Actual Constant 2011
Restructuring expens: $ 350 19% 23% $ 298 -40% -40% $ 48]

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2013 primarilpted to our 2013 Restructuring Plan, which our
management approved, committed to and initiatextder to restructure and further improve efficiesdin our operations. We amended the
2013 Restructuring Plan in the third quarter ofdis?2013 to reflect additional actions that we expie take to improve efficiencies in our
operations. The total estimated restructuring cast®ciated with the 2013 Restructuring Plan a2 $4dillion and will be recorded to the
restructuring expense line item within our consatiégdl statements of operations as they are incuftegltotal estimated remaining restructui
costs associated with the 2013 Restructuring Pkne @pproximately $95 million as of May 31, 201BeTmajority of the remaining costs are
expected to be incurred through fiscal 2014. Otimeded costs may be subject to change in futuregds

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2012 primaelhated to our Sun Restructuring Plan, which our
management approved, committed to and initiatextder to better align our cost structure as a tesuwdur acquisition of Sun. The decrease in
restructuring expenses in fiscal 2012 in comparisahose that were incurred in fiscal 2011 prityan¢lated to the decrease in expenses
incurred in connection with our Sun RestructurirtanP

Interest Expense
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Interest expens $ 79 4% 4% $ 76¢ -5% 5% $ 80¢

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2013 duegioehiaverage borrowings resulting from our issu
of $5.0 billion of senior notes in October 201 2iti@dly offset by the maturity and repayment of 8 billion of senior notes in April 2013 (see
Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemamiuded elsewhere in this Annual Report for ddal information).

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Interest expense decreased in fiscal 2012 duewverlaverage borrowings as compared to fiscal 201
primarily due to the maturity and repayment of $2dllion of senior notes in January 2011.
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Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarilyndérest income, net foreign currency exchangagéosses),
the noncontrolling interests in the net profitoaf majority-owned subsidiaries (Oracle Financieah&es Software Limited and Oracle Japan)
and net other income (losses) including net redlgains and losses related to all of our investmantl net unrealized gains and losses relate
to the small portion of our investment portfoliathwe classify as trading.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual  Constant 2012 Actual Constant 2011
Interest incom $ 237 3% 7% $ 231 42% 45% $ 16:
Foreign currency (losses) gains, (162) 54% 51% (10%) -1,041% -1,112% 11
Noncontrolling interests in incon (112) -6% -4% (119 23% 25% 97)
Other income, ne 48 220%  225% 15 -86% -86% 10¢
Total nor-operating income, n $ 11 -49% 4% $ 22 -88% -83% $ 18¢€

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, our non-operatingnie; net decreased in fiscal 2013 primarily due tc
an increase in foreign currency transaction logsets that included a loss relating to our Veneameslubsidiary’s operations. During our third
quarter of fiscal 2013, the Venezuelan governmeratlied its currency and we recognized a $64 millameign currency loss as a result of the
remeasurement of certain assets and liabilitiesiofVenezuelan subsidiary. As a large portion efannsolidated operations are international,
we could experience additional foreign currencyatibty in the future including additional foreigrurrency losses related to our Venezuelan
subsidiary if the Venezuelan government furtheradiges the Venezuelan currency, the amounts andgiofiwhich are uncertain. This
decrease in non-operating income, net was partdibet by an increase in other income, net dufisgal 2013, which was primarily due to
gains from our marketable securities that we dedéghas trading that were held to support our dederompensation plan obligations.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, our non-operatingnie; net decreased in fiscal 2012 primarily as a
result of net foreign currency transaction lossesiired in fiscal 2012 in comparison to net foreignrency transaction gains incurred in fiscal
2011. In addition, we incurred a decrease in otimyme, net, during fiscal 2012 which was attrilblgeto net gains that we recorded in fiscal
2011 due to favorable changes in the values ofrarketable securities that we classified as trattiagjwere held to support our deferred
compensation plan obligations. These unfavorabfiatvans to non-operating income, net in fiscal 2@dere partially offset by increases in
interest income during fiscal 2012 due to largesrage cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesuritlances in comparison to fiscal 2011.

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate in all periods is theul of the mix of income earned in various tavgdictions that
apply a broad range of income tax rates. The pi@vi®r income taxes differs from the tax compuatdhe U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate due primarily to earnings considered as imitefy reinvested in foreign operations, state saxiee U.S. research and development tax
credit and the U.S. domestic production activitduldion. Future effective tax rates could be adsgraffected if earnings are lower than
anticipated in countries where we have lower stayutax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax lawgsragulations or by adverse rulings in tax
related litigation.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Actual Constani 2012 Actual Constani 2011
Provision for income taxe $ 2,97 0% 3% $ 2,981 4% 4% $ 2,86«
Effective tax rate 21.4% 23.0% 25.1%

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Provision for income taxes in fiscal 2013 decreasightly due to acquisition related items, the
retroactive extension of the U.S. research andldpweent credit, offset by higher income before fgmn for income taxes.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Provision for income taxes increased during fi&edl2 due substantially to higher income before
provision for income taxes, partially offset by flagorable effects of an increase in the numbdoaign subsidiaries in countries with lower
statutory rates than the United States, the easrohghich we consider to be indefinitely reinvestaitside the United States.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Working capital $ 28,82( 17% $ 24,63! 1% $ 24,98
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable sect $ 32,21t 5% $ 30,67t 6% $ 28,84t

Working capital: The increase in working capital as of May 31, 28il8omparison to May 31, 2012 was primarily dueto issuance of
$5.0 billion of senior notes in October 2012, thedrable impact to our net current assets resulitarg our net income during fiscal 2013, and,
to a lesser extent, cash proceeds from stock optiercises. This increase was partially offsetdshcused for repurchases of our common
stock (we used $11.0 billion of cash for commortkteepurchases during fiscal 2013), cash usedyalwédends to our stockholders, and cast
used for acquisitions. Our working capital may impacted by some of the aforementioned factorstimdéuyperiods, the amounts and timing of
which are variable.

The decrease in working capital as of May 31, 2@l@mparison to May 31, 2011 was primarily du@amancrease in our stock repurchases
during fiscal 2012 in comparison to fiscal 201% thclassification of $1.25 billion of our seniates due April 2013 as a current liability, cast
used for acquisitions and cash used to pay divisiéméur stockholders. These decreases to worldpijat were almost entirely offset by the
favorable impact to our net current assets reguftiom our net income during fiscal 2012.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesCash and cash equivalents primarily consist of siégpbeld at major banks, Tier-1
commercial paper and other securities with originaturities of 90 days or less. Marketable se@gitirimarily consist of time deposits held at
major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper, corporatesiand certain other securities. The increasash,cash equivalents and marketable
securities at May 31, 2013 in comparison to MayZi2 was due to an increase in cash generatedduomperating activities, our issuance
$5.0 billion of senior notes in October 2012, am@ esser extent, cash proceeds from fiscal 2@tk ption exercises. This increase was
partially offset by $11.0 billion of repurchasesoafr common stock, $3.3 billion of net cash paiddoquisitions, the repayments of $1.7 bill

of short-term borrowings pursuant to our expiregbheing credit facilities, the repayment of $1.28ibn of senior notes which matured in

April 2013, and the payment of cash dividends tostackholders. Cash, cash equivalents and maiketeburities included $28.2 billion held
by our foreign subsidiaries as of May 31, 2013. &¥esider $26.2 billion of our undistributed earrgrag indefinitely reinvested in our foreign
operations outside the United States. These uiligtd earnings would be subject to U.S. incoméfteepatriated to the United States.
Assuming a full utilization of the foreign tax ciexj the potential deferred tax liability assocthteith these undistributed earnings would be
approximately $8.0 billion as of May 31, 2013 shbtile amounts be repatriated to the United Statesamount of cash, cash equivalents an
marketable securities that we report in U.S. Dslfar a significant portion of the cash held by fareign subsidiaries is subject to translation
adjustments caused by changes in foreign currexalyamge rates as of the end of each respectivetimpperiod (the offset to which is
recorded to accumulated other comprehensive (lnssjne in our consolidated balance sheets anddspaksented as a line item in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive incontedad elsewhere in this Annual Report). As the ID8llar strengthened against certain
major international currencies during fiscal 20tt® amount of cash, cash equivalents and marketablgities that we reported in U.S. Dol
for these subsidiaries decreased as of May 31, 2§a8ve to what we would have reported using tamiscurrency rates from our May 31,
2012 balance sheet date.

The increase in cash, cash equivalents and mat&etaburities at May 31, 2012 in comparison to May2011 was primarily due to an
increase in cash generated from our operatingiaes\and our short-term borrowings of $1.7 billisrade pursuant to a revolving credit
agreement, which expired in fiscal 2013. Thesedases in cash, cash equivalents and marketabletiscwere partially offset by our June
2011 repayment of $1.15 billion of short-term berings pursuant to certain expired revolving créaidlities, $255 million of cash used to
repay RightNows legacy convertible notes after the closing ofabguisition, the use of $4.7 billion of net cashdcquisitions, the repurcha
of our common stock and the payment of cash diddéa our stockholders. Additionally, cash, cashieaents and marketable securities
balances decreased as of May 31, 2012 in compaasigiay 31, 2011 due to the general strengtheniigeoU.S. Dollar in comparison to
certain major international currencies during fis2@l2.

Days sales outstanding, which was calculated biglidig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the quarter, was 50 days at
May 31, 2013 compared with 53 days at May 31, 20h2. days sales outstanding calculation excludedntipact of revenue adjustments that
reduced our acquired cloud software subscriptidiigiations, software license updates and produgpen obligations and hardware systems
support obligations to fair value.
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Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 Change 2012 Change 2011

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,22: 3% $ 13,74 23%  $ 11,21«
Net cash used for investing activiti $ (5,950 -29% $ (8,38)) 38% $ (6,08)
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actis $ (8,500 9% $ (6,099 1,282% $ 51€

Cash flows from operating activities: Our largest source of operating cash flowsghacollections from our customers following the
purchase and renewal of their software license tggdand product support agreements. Payments fustoroers for these support agreements
are generally received near the beginning of thidraots’ terms, which are generally one year iglenWe also generate significant cash from
new software licenses sales and sales of hardwatenss support arrangements, and to a lesser ggtdes$ of services, hardware systems
products, and cloud software subscriptions. Ounary uses of cash from operating activities areefoployee related expenditures, material
and manufacturing costs related to the productfaruohardware systems products, taxes and leasddiés.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012:Net cash provided by operating activities increasdscal 2013 in comparison to fiscal 2012
primarily due to cash favorable impacts of increlaset income adjusted for amortization of intangisets, stock-based compensation and
depreciation during fiscal 2013 in comparison szdil 2012.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011:Net cash provided by operating activities incredaeiscal 2012 primarily due to increased net
income adjusted for amortization of intangible éssstock-based compensation and depreciatiomcaease in cash from the collection of
trade receivables, an increase in cash receivédeiades to our deferred revenue balances, a a@selia cash used to pay income tax obliga
and certain other net cash favorable working chpitarements, in each case during fiscal 2012 ingamson to fiscal 2011. These cash
favorable movements in fiscal 2012 in comparisofisiwal 2011 were partially offset by an increaseash used to pay compensation liabilitie:
in fiscal 2012 such as commissions and bonuses.

Cash flows from investing activities: The changes in cash flows from investing atégiprimarily relate to acquisitions and the tighiof
purchases, maturities and sales of our investniembgrketable debt securities. We also use casivést in capital and other assets, including
certain intangible assets, to support our growth.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012:Net cash used for investing activities decreasdibdal 2013 primarily due to a decrease in nehcas
used to purchase marketable securities (net okpasreceived from sales and maturities) and a&dserin cash used for acquisitions, net of
cash acquired, in each case during fiscal 2018imparison to fiscal 2012.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011:Net cash used for investing activities increasefistal 2012 due to an increase in cash used for
acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and an increasapital expenditures, partially offset by amese in net cash used to purchase marketabl
securities (net of proceeds received from salesaatdrities), in each case during fiscal 2012 imparison to fiscal 2011.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing activipesnarily relate to borrowings and payments undel
debt facilities as well as stock repurchases, divitlpayments and proceeds from stock option excis

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012:Net cash used for financing activities in fiscall3dncreased in comparison to fiscal 2012 primarily
due to an increase in our common stock repurch@asesased $11.0 billion of cash for common stoclkurepases during fiscal 2013 in
comparison to $5.9 billion in fiscal 2012) and morease in repayments of borrowings (we repaid B®ion of borrowings pursuant to senior
notes maturities and certain expired revolving itregilities in fiscal 2013 in comparison to thepayments of $1.4 billion of short-term
borrowings from expired revolving credit facilitiemnd legacy convertible notes assumed from Rightidfiscal 2012), partially offset by our
issuance of $5.0 billion of senior notes in Octo®@t2, an increase in proceeds from stock opti@noises and certain other financing activity
cash flow increases, net.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 201 We used net cash for financing activities gtdil 2012 of $6.1 billion in comparison to net cash
provided by financing activities in fiscal 2011%816 million primarily due to our increase in conmaiock repurchases, a reduction in the
amount of debt that we issued, and a decreas@aeeds from stock option exercises, in each casegifiscal 2012 in comparison to fiscal
2011. These unfavorable impacts to our financirghdbows during fiscal 2012 in comparison to fis@ll1 were partially offset by a decrease
in cash used for debt related repayments durimglfid012.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flowsgmtesl on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measureastf flows on a
trailing 4-quarter basis to analyze cash flows gateel from our operations. We believe free cash ftoalso useful as
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one of the bases for comparing our performance aithcompetitors. The presentation of non-GAAP frash flow is not meant to be
considered in isolation or as an alternative toimaime as an indicator of our performance, omealgernative to cash flows from operating
activities as a measure of liquidity. We calcuffage cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 Change 2012 Change 2011

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,22: 3% ¢ 13,74 23% ¢ 11,21
Capital expenditure® (650 0% (648 44% (450
Free cash flov $ 13,57: 4% $ 13,09 22% $ 10,76
Net income $ 10,92¢ $ 9,981 $ 8,54%
Free cash flow as percent of net incc 124% 131% 126%

(1) Derived from capital expenditures as reported shdtows from investing activities as per our cditsted statements of cash flows presented in decme with U.S. GAAF

Long-Term Customer Financing: We offer certain of our customers the option toudiegour software products, hardware systems ptsduc
and services offerings through separate long-texym@nt contracts. We generally sell these contthatswe have financed for our customers
on a non-recourse basis to financial institutioithiw 90 days of the contracts’ dates of executide. record the transfers of amounts due fron
customers to financial institutions as sales ddiiicial assets because we are considered to haeadarred control of these financial assets. W
financed $1.8 billion, $1.6 billion and $1.5 billiprespectively, or approximately 18% of our nedivgare licenses and cloud software
subscriptions revenues in fiscal 2013 and 16%uohew software licenses and cloud software sybisonis revenues in each of fiscal 2012
and 2011, and $161 million, $134 million and $11lifliom, respectively, or approximately 5%, of owardware systems products revenues in
fiscal 2013 and 3% of our hardware systems prodeetsnues in each of fiscal 2012 and 2011.

Recent Financing Activities

Commercial Paper Notes On April 22, 2013, pursuant to our existingGBillion commercial paper program which allowstasssue and s¢
unsecured short-term promissory notes pursuanptovate placement exemption from the registrateouirements under federal and state
securities laws, we entered into new dealer agratawath various banks and a new Issuing and Pa&gency Agreement with JP Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A. As of May 31, 2013 and 2012, vaerdit have any commercial paper notes outstantlifegintend to back-stop any
commercial paper notes that we may issue with 6aBZredit Agreement (see additional details bel@widitional details regarding our
commercial paper program are included in Note Ratkes to Consolidated Financial Statements inclisewhere in this Annual Report.

Revolving Credit Agreements In April 2013, we entered into a $3.0 billi®evolving Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo BankAN Bank
of America, N.A., BNP Paribas, JPMorgan Chase BahR, and certain other lenders (the 2013 Creditekgent). The 2013 Credit
Agreement provides for an unsecured 5-year revglenedit facility to be used for general corponatieposes including back-stopping any
commercial paper notes that we may issue. Sulgezgrtain conditions stated in the 2013 Credit Agrent, we may borrow, prepay and re-
borrow amounts under the 2013 Credit Agreementwatiane during the term of the 2013 Credit Agreetménterest under the 2013 Credit
Agreement is based on either (a) a LIBOR-baseddtaror (b) the Base Rate formula, each as set forttie 2013 Credit Agreement. Any
amounts drawn pursuant to the 2013 Credit Agreementue on April 20, 2018. No amounts were outhtanpursuant to the 2013 Credit
Agreement as of May 31, 2013.

The 2013 Credit Agreement contains certain custpmegresentations and warranties, covenants antsuédefault, including the
requirement that our total net debt to total cdigiion ratio not exceed 45% on a consolidatedsbéfsany of the events of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods dvedy any unpaid amounts under the 2013 Credit &ment may be declared immediately
due and payable and the 2013 Credit Agreement magriminated. We were in compliance with the 201€8d Agreement’s covenants as of
May 31, 2013.

On July 2, 2012, our revolving credit agreemenhwiPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as initial lender athahinistrative agent; and J.P. Morgan
Securities, LLC, as sole lead arranger and sol&rfooaer (the 2012 Credit Agreement) to borrow $illfon was repaid in full and the 2012
Credit Agreement expired pursuant to its terms.

Senior Notes As of May 31, 2013, we had $18.5 billion oh&s notes outstanding ($14.8 billion outstandisgpaMay 31, 2012). In April
2013, our 4.95% fixed rate senior notes for $1.ll®b matured and were repaid. In October 2012 jsgeed
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$5.0 billion of fixed rate senior notes comprisé2.5 billion of 1.20% notes due October 2017 &&d billion of 2.50% notes due October
2022. We issued these senior notes for generabatgpurposes, which may include stock repurchésese acquisitions and repayment of
indebtedness. Additional details regarding thes@s@otes and all other borrowings are includeths“Contractual Obligations” section
below and in Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Fimerigtatements included elsewhere in this Annugddre

Cash Dividends During fiscal 2013, our Board of Directors #ed and paid cash dividends in the aggregat® @0#per share of
outstanding common stock, which included an acatdercash dividend of $0.18 per share of outstgnectimmmon stock paid on December 21,
2012. This accelerated cash dividend was intengiemibBoard of Directors to be in lieu of quartediyidends that we would have otherwise
announced with our earnings results for the secthird, and fourth quarters of fiscal 2013, and thauld have been paid in calendar year
2013. During fiscal 2012, we declared and paid chgldends totaling $0.24 per share of outstandimgmon stock.

In June 2013, our Board of Directors declared atgus cash dividend of $0.12 per share of outstamdommon stock. This $0.12 per share
cash dividend was an increase of $0.06 per shametbe last regular quarterly cash dividend of 8@6r share of outstanding common stock
paid on November 2, 2012 and was declared eahizar the Board of Directors had previously planfidek $0.12 per share cash dividend is
payable on August 2, 2013 to stockholders of reasrdf the close of business on July 12, 2013. Mvieently expect to continue paying
comparable cash dividends on a quarterly bastsariuture; however, future declarations of divideadd the establishment of future record
and payment dates are subject to the final detetioim of our Board of Directors.

Common Stock Repurchases Our Board of Directors has approved a progi@nus to repurchase shares of our common stockluba 18,
2012, we announced that our Board of Directors @pa an expansion of our stock repurchase progsaamtadditional $10.0 billion. On

June 20, 2013, we announced that our Board of ire@approved a further expansion by an additi$aal0 billion. As of May 31, 2013,
approximately $2.1 billion remained available ftyck repurchases under the stock repurchase pragrianto the additional amount
authorized in June 2013. We repurchased 346.1lomiflhares for $11.0 billion, 207.3 million shares$6.0 billion and 40.4 million shares for
$1.2 billion in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respety. Our stock repurchase authorization doeshaoke an expiration date and the pace of ou
repurchase activity will depend on factors sucbwsworking capital needs, our cash requirementadquisitions and dividend payments, our
debt repayment obligations (described further bilowr stock price and economic and market conuti®©ur stock repurchases may be
effected from time to time through open market pases or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our sequkrchase program may be acceleratec
suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.
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Contractual Obligations: The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymerdgufixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changealiirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, dhgrigterest rates and other factors may
result in actual payments differing from thesereates. We cannot provide certainty regarding tinéng and amounts of payments. We have
presented below a summary of the most significastimptions used in preparing this information waittie context of our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cialvs. The following is a summary of certain of aamtractual obligations as of May 31, 20

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin(@ $ 18500 $ — $150C $ 2000 $ — $5000 $10,00(
Interest payments on borrowin®) 10,06( 77C 75¢ 74¢ 642 62¢ 6,51z
Operating lease@ 1,40¢ 35¢ 29¢ 23C 17¢ 117 23€
Purchase obligations and ott® 80¢€ 765 26 4 1 1 11

Total contractual obligatior $ 30,77 $ 189, $257¢ $298. $ 814/ §$ 574€ $ 16,76

@) Our total borrowings consisted of the followias of May 31, 2013 (dollars in millions

@)

(©)

Amount

3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valljgstment of $4 $ 1,541
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of discf$8 1,997
1.20% senior notes due October 2017, net of diganfu$B 2,49
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafr&l 2,49¢
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discofifit 1,74¢
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discolii2 99¢
2.50% senior notes due October 2022, net of digaufupR 2,49¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discair&2 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discoli7 1,24:
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discotiig4 2,22¢
Total borrowings $18,49:

We have entered into certain interest rate swageagents related to our July 2014 senior noteshéha the economic effect of modifying the fixedenaist obligation
associated with these senior notes so that theesttebligations effectively became variable punstia a LIBORbased index. Interest payments on the July 20lidrseotes
presented in the contractual obligations table alimwe been estimated using an interest rate 4¥%4,.&hich represented our effective interest ratefday 31, 2013 after
consideration of these fixed to variable interas¢ swap agreements, and are subject to changaiie periods. The changes in fair value of out dsbociated with the
interest rate risk that we are hedging pursuatiiése agreements were included in notes payablethadnon-current borrowings in our consolidatathbce sheet and have
been included in the above table of borrowit

Primarily represents leases of facilities and idekifuture minimum rent payments for facilitiesttive have vacated pursuant to our restructuringnaeder integratio
activities. We have approximately $158 million &cility obligations, net of estimated sublease mepfor certain vacated locations in accrued resiring in our
consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2

Primarily represents amounts associated with ageatstthat are enforceable, legally binding andi§pearms, including: fixed or minimum quantities be purchased,; fixe
minimum or variable price provisions; and the appmate timing of the payment. We utilize severakemal manufacturers to manufacture sub-assentbliesir hardware
products and to perform final assembly and tesirfinished hardware products. We also obtain iithlial hardware components for our products fromargety of individua
suppliers based on projected demand informatioch urchase commitments are based on our forecesteplonent and manufacturing requirements andailpiprovide
for fulfillment within agreed upon lead-times andémmmercially standard lead-times for the particplart or product and have been included in theuartnpresented in the
above contractual obligations table. Routine areaments for other materials and goods that areatatied to our external manufacturers and certdiarctuppliers and that
are entered into in the ordinary course of busiaessot included in the amounts presented abotregsare generally entered into in order to sepuing or other
negotiated terms and are difficult to quantify imaaningful way

As of May 31, 2013, we had $4.3 billion of grossagognized income tax benefits, including relatedriest and penalties, recorded on our
consolidated balance sheet and all such obligatiame been excluded from the table above due tartbertainty as to when they might be
settled. We have reached certain settlement agréem#th relevant tax authorities to pay approxiehat15 million of these liabilities.
Although it remains unclear as to when paymentsyamt to these agreements will be made, some opragilbe made in fiscal 2014. We car
make a reasonably reliable estimate of the periaghich the remainder of our unrecognized incomebnefits will be settled or released w
the relevant tax authorities, although we beli¢ve ieasonably possible that certain of thesaliiegs could be settled or released during fiscal
2014,

Subsequent to fiscal 2013, we agreed to acquicergpany for an amount that is not material to owgitess. We expect to close the acquisitior
within the next twelve months.
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We believe that our current cash, cash equivatemismarketable securities and cash generated fpemations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditures and contraktbligation requirements. In addition, we beligwe could fund any future acquisitions,
dividend payments and repurchases of common stodg&ld with our internally available cash, cashiegjents and marketable securities, casl
generated from operations, additional borrowinggamn the issuance of additional securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements: We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatfiive or are reasonably likely to have a cuiwent
future effect on our financial condition, changedinancial condition, revenues or expenses, regfloperations, liquidity, capital expenditu
or capital resources that are material to investors

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues, expenses and operating incawe fistorically been affected by a variety of sea$factors, including sales force
incentive compensation plans. In addition, our [Beem operations generally provide lower revenueslirfirst fiscal quarter because of the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the semrihese seasonal factors are common in the éajimology industry. These factors hi
caused a decrease in our first quarter revenuesnapared to revenues in the immediately precedingti quarter, which historically has been
our highest revenue quarter within a particulasdis/ear. Similarly, the operating income of ousimess is affected by seasonal factors in a
consistent manner as our revenues (in particularnew software licenses and cloud software suttsons segment) as certain expenses w
our cost structure are relatively fixed in the $hterm. We expect these trends to continue in fi26a4.

The following tables set forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal qtens. We believe that all necessary
adjustments, which consisted only of normal reagradjustments, have been included in the amotatesdsbelow to present fairly the results
of such periods when read in conjunction with thesolidated financial statements and related rintdsded elsewhere in this Annual Report.
The sum of the quarterly financial information mayy from the annual data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2013 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue: $ 8,181 $ 9,09/ $ 8,95¢ $ 10,94°
Gross profit $ 6,28¢ $ 7,18 $ 7,11 $ 8,96¢
Operating incom: $ 2,87¢ $ 3,471 $ 3,33¢ $ 5,00(
Net income $ 2,03« $ 2,581 $ 2,50« $ 3,80i
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4z $ 0.54 $ 0.5¢ $ 081
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 041 $ 0.5 $ 0.5z $ 0.8

Fiscal 2012 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 29 May 31

Revenue: $ 8,37« $ 8,79 $ 9,03¢ $ 10,91¢
Gross profit $ 6,33¢ $ 6,79 $ 7,08¢ $ 8,85:
Operating incom: $ 2,68:¢ $ 3,111 $ 3,317 $ 4,59
Net income $ 1,84( $ 2,19 $ 2,49¢ $ 3,451
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.3€ $ 0.4 $ 0.5C $ 0.7
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.3€ $ 0.4: $ 0.4c $ 0.6¢

Stock Options and Restricted Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is a key coemg@f the compensation package we provide tadtand retain certain of our talented
employees and align their interests with the irgisref existing stockholders. We historically hagvanted only stock options to our employees
and any restricted stock-based awards outstandéng assumed as a result of our acquisitions.

We recognize that stock options and restrictedkshased awards dilute existing stockholders ane lsawught to control the number of stock
options and restricted stock-based awards granbde providing competitive compensation packagemsistent with these dual goals, our
cumulative potential dilution since June 1, 2016 been a weighted average annualized rate of 2e0%e@ar. The potential dilution percentage
is calculated as the average annualized new sigtdéns or restricted stock-based awards grantechasdmed, net of stock options and
restricted stock-based awards forfeited by emplsyeaving the company, divided
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by the weighted average outstanding shares dunmgalculation period. This maximum potential ddatwill only result if all stock options

are exercised and restricted stock-based awards@ethe outstanding stock options at May 31, 2@#3ich generally have a 10-year exercise
period, less than 2% have exercise prices higlaar tie current market price of our common stocketrent years, our stock repurchase
program has more than offset the dilutive effeabaf stock-based compensation program; howevemayereduce the level of our stock
repurchases in the future as we may use our al@itaish for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to yeparepurchase indebtedness or for other
purposes. At May 31, 2013, the maximum potentiitidin from all outstanding and unexercised stopkians and restricted stock-based
awards, regardless of when granted and regardieglsether vested or unvested and including stodlonp where the strike price is higher
than the current market price, was 9.6%.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide sbption grants to selected employees,
all stock option grants to executive officers ang adividual stock option grants in excess of D00, shares. A separate Plan Committee,
which is an executive officer committee, approvestividual stock option grants of up to 100,000 skap non-executive officers and
employees. Stock option and restricted stock-basedd activity from June 1, 2010 through May 3112& summarized as follows (shares in
millions):

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 35¢€
Stock options grante 341
Stock options and restricted st-based awards assumr 23
Stock options exercised and restricted s-based awards vest (204)
Forfeitures, cancellations and other, (68)

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 44¢

Weighted average annualized stock options andatesirstocl-based awards granted and assumed, net of forfeitume cancellatior 9¢

Weighted average annualized stock repurch (29¢)

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 4,64¢

Basic weighted average shares outstanding from Du2@10 through May 31, 20: 4,94+

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding as a percent of shastamding at May 31, 201 9.6%

In the money stock options and total restrictedk-based awards outstanding (based on the closing pficur common stock on the last trading day offizeal perioc

presented) as a percent of shares outstandingya8M£01:2 9.5%

Weighted average annualized stock options andatestrstock-based awards granted and assumed, fleefsitures and cancellations and before stoglurehases, as @

percent of weighted average shares outstanding Jrora 1, 2010 through May 31, 2C 2.0%
Weighted average annualized stock options andatesirstoc-based awards granted and assumed, net of forfeiunek cancellations and after stock repurchasex
percent of weighted average shares outstanding Jrora 1, 2010 through May 31, 2C -2.0%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuahaaton-wide option grants to certain employedsese annual option grants are made
during the ten business day period following theose trading day after the announcement of ouafimurth quarter earnings report.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncemertur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 of Notes to ConsolidatezhEial Statements included elsewhere in this AnReglort.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities anchterest Income Risk

Our bank deposits and money market investmentgearerally held with large, diverse financial ingtibns worldwide, which we believe
mitigates certain risks. In addition, we purchaigg lquality debt security investments, approximaf% of which have maturity dates within
one year of May 31, 2013 (see a description ofdalnt securities held in Notes 3 and 4 of Notesdng0lidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report and “Liquidity eddpital Resources” above). Therefore, interestmraieements generally do not materially
affect the valuation of our debt security investiseBubstantially all of our marketable securities designated as available-for-sale. We
generally do not use our investments for tradingppses.

Changes in the overall level of interest ratescaffiee interest income that is generated from eshccash equivalents and marketable
securities. For fiscal 2013, total interest incomees $237 million with our investments yielding areeage 0.71% on a worldwide basis. The
table below presents the approximate fair valuesuofcash, cash equivalent and marketable secustid the related weighted average intere:s
rates for our investment portfolio at May 31, 2@i®i 2012.

May 31,
2013 2012
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Interest Interest
(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Rate Fair Value Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $14,61: 0.50% $14,95¢ 0.61%
Marketable securitie 17,60 0.88% 15,72! 0.80%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $32,21¢ 0.71% $30,67¢ 0.71%

Interest Expense Risk

Our total borrowings were $18.5 billion as of Mal, 2013, all of which were fixed rate borrowingsitéire changes in interest rates and
resulting changes in estimated fair values of aurdwings other than our senior notes due July 22044 Notes) would not impact the
interest expense we recognize in our consolidatdraents of operations. We have entered intoiodited to variable interest rate swap
agreements to manage the interest rate and rdékitaclue of our 2014 Notes so that the interestgble on the 2014 Notes effectively becam
variable based on LIBOR. We do not use these istteate swap arrangements or our fixed rate bongsvior trading purposes. We have
designated these swap agreements as qualifyingritetigtruments and are accounting for them asvilire hedges pursuant to ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedgin. These transactions are characterized as faievedges for financial accounting purposes bedheseprotect us
against changes in the fair value of our 2014 Ndtesto benchmark interest rate movements. Thegesain fair values of these interest rate
swap agreements are recognized as interest exjpeoseconsolidated statements of operations vhighdorresponding amounts included in
other assets or other non-current liabilities in cansolidated balance sheets. The amount of meflpas) attributable to the risk being hedgec
is recognized as interest expense in our conselidstatements of operations with the corresponaingunt included in notes payable and ¢
non-current borrowings. The periodic interest settlethdor the swap agreements, which occur at the sateeval as those per the 2014 No
are recorded as interest expense.

By entering into these interest rate swap arrangésnee have assumed risks associated with variiateleest rates based upon LIBOR. Our
2014 Notes had an effective interest rate of 1.24%f May 31, 2013, after considering the effe€the aforementioned interest rate swap
arrangements. Changes in the overall level of éstenates affect the interest expense that we nem®@n our statements of operations. An
interest rate risk sensitivity analysis is used@asure interest rate risk by computing estimatamges in cash flows as a result of assumed
changes in market interest rates. As of May 313201IBOR-based interest rates increased by 100 basis ptiietshange would increase
interest expense annually by approximately $15ionilas it relates to our fixed to variable intenege swap agreements.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzaiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaterforeign currency exposures. Under this prograun strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases ore@ses in our foreign currency exposures are difsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risksl aolatility associated with our foreign currency
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transactions. We may suspend this program from timigne. Our foreign currency exposures typicalligse from intercompany sublicense
fees, intercompany loans and other intercompamgéaetions that are expected to be cash settléxdindar term. Our foreign currency forward
contracts are generally short-term in duration.

We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tleea@rd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we record the Yailues of these contracts as of the end of quorting period to our consolidated balance
sheet with changes in fair values recorded to onsalidated statement of operations. The balaneetsfiassification for the fair values of th
forward contracts is prepaid expenses and otheeruassets for a net unrealized gain positionadiner current liabilities for a net unrealized
loss position. The statement of operations clasgifin for changes in fair values of these forwardtracts is non-operating income, net for
both realized and unrealized gains and losses.

We expect that we will continue to realize gainsosses with respect to our foreign currency expesunet of gains or losses from our foreign
currency forward contracts. Our ultimate realizathgr loss with respect to foreign currency expeswvill generally depend on the size and
type of crosssurrency transactions that we enter into, the cusrexchange rates associated with these exposndeshanges in those rates,
net realized gain or loss on our foreign curreraryhrd contracts and other factors. As of both @&ay2013 and 2012, the notional amount
the forward contracts we held to purchase U.S.dD®lin exchange for other major international ausies were $3.0 billion. As of May 31,
2013 and 2012, the notional amounts of forwardreat$ we held to sell U.S. Dollars in exchangeofbier major international currencies were
$1.1 billion and $873 million, respectively. Thérfaalues of our outstanding foreign currency forvaontracts were nominal at May 31, 2013
and 2012. Net foreign exchange transaction (loggasy included in nonperating income, net in the accompanying constaiiatatements
operations were $(162) million, $(105) million a®tll million in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respedi. Included in the net foreign exchange
transaction losses for fiscal 2013 were foreigmangy losses relating to our Venezuelan subsidsasperations, which are more thoroughly
described under “Non-Operating Income, net” in Mggraent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cbadiand Results of Operations
above. As a large portion of our consolidated ojp@ma are international, we could experience add#l foreign currency volatility in the
future, the amounts and timing of which are underta

Foreign Currency Translation Risk

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the antadnotal assets and liabilities that we reportdar foreign subsidiaries upon the translation
of these amounts into U.S. Dollars. In particullhe, amount of cash, cash equivalents and marketableities that we report in U.S. Dollars
for a significant portion of the cash held by theabsidiaries is subject to translation varianaesed by changes in foreign currency exchange
rates as of the end of each respective reportinggpé&he offset to which is recorded to accumudatéher comprehensive (loss) income on our
consolidated balance sheet and is also presentetiresitem in our consolidated statements of caih@nsive income included elsewhere in
this Annual Report). Periodically, we may hedgeassets of certain international subsidiaries fforaign currency exposure.

As the U.S. Dollar fluctuated against certain inggional currencies as of the end of fiscal 20t48,amount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we reported in U.S. @slfor foreign subsidiaries that hold internatianarencies as of May 31, 2013 decreased
relative to what we would have reported using astaomt currency rate as of May 31, 2012. As repdrtexir consolidated statements of cash
flows, the estimated effect of exchange rate chswgeour reported cash and cash equivalents balam¢&S. Dollars for fiscal 2013, 2012 ¢
2011 was a (decrease) increase of $(110) milli¢hi7 B million and $600 million, respectively. Thallbwing table includes estimates of the
U.S. Dollar equivalent of cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities denominated in certain nfajeign currencies as of May 31, 2013:

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 201!
Euro $ 1,40¢
Chinese Renmint 1,041
Indian Rupe 1,01t
Australian Dollar 681
Japanese Ye 42¢
South African Rani 30¢
British Pounc 25¢
Canadian Dolla 238
Other foreign currencie 1,78¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable smsudénominated in foreign currenc $  7,15¢
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If overall foreign currency exchange rates in coriguen to the U.S. Dollar uniformly weakened by 1a%& amount of cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities we would report in U.Qlldds would decrease by approximately $716 milli@ssuming constant foreign currency
cash, cash equivalent and marketable securitiesbas.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The response to this item is submitted as a sepseation of this Annual Report. See Part IV, ItEn

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accotemts on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindeu the supervision and with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and oaniagement, including our Chief Executive Officed aur President and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design andrapen of our disclosure controls and procedurasymnt to Exchange Act Rules 1Bafe) ant
15d-15(e). Disclosure controls are proceduresdratlesigned to ensure that information requirdgetdisclosed in our reports filed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange $uh as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is rded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by th& Usecurities and Exchange Commission. Disclosomérols are also designed to ensure the
such information is accumulated and communicatemitananagement, including our Chief Executive €ffiand President and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timelgcikions regarding required disclosure. Our quigrearaluation of disclosure controls incluc
an evaluation of some components of our internatrobover financial reporting. We also performeparate annual evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting for the purposepodviding the management report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our imptatation of the controls and the effect of
the controls on the information generated for ushis Annual Report on Form 20-In the course of the controls evaluation, waeexed dat:
errors or control problems identified and soughtdafirm that appropriate corrective actions, inlahg process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performedauarterly basis so that the conclusions of mamagt, including our Chief Executive
Officer and President and Chief Financial Offiammncerning the effectiveness of the disclosurerotsmitan be reported in our periodic reports
on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the componeitsur disclosure controls are also evaluated oorgoing basis by both our internal
audit and finance organizations. The overall go&lhese various evaluation activities are to mamitur disclosure controls and to modify
them as necessary. We intend to maintain our disobocontrols as dynamic processes and procechaew¢ adjust as circumstances merit.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with theqgiaation of our Chief Executive Officer and oureBident and Chief Financial Officer), as
of the end of the period covered by this report, ©hief Executive Officer and our President andeCRinancial Officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effecti

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Untlersupervision and with the participation of oumangement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and President and Chief FinanGicer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtiess of our internal control over
financial reporting as of May 31, 2013 based ongihielelines established Internal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimiss 1992 framework. Our internal control over finahceporting includes policies a
procedures that provide reasonable assurance negding reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with geferally accepted accounting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finaheporting was effective as of May 31,
2013. We reviewed the results of management’s sigs¥ with our Finance and Audit Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of May 31, 2013 has been auditeBrnst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtieport which is included in Part IV, Item 15thbis Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurtethd our last fiscal quarter that have materiaffigcted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingaareporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand President and Chief Financial Officer, hgethat our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg are designed to provide reasonable assur@raehieving their objectives and are
effective at the reasonable assurance level. Howeue management does not expect that our diseasantrols and procedures or our inte
control over financial reporting will prevent alirers and all fraud. A control system, no mattewtveell conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control system are met. Further,design of a control system must reflect th
fact that there are resource constraints and thefib& of controls must be considered relativehtgirtcosts. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of contras provide absolute assurance that all controbssind instances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include ttadities that judgments in decision making can hetyaand that breakdowns can occur becaus
of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, cons@an be circumvented by the individual acts of s@ersons, by collusion of two or more
people or by management override of the contrdig. design of any system of controls also is basgauiit upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events and there can be nair@sge that any design will succeed in achieviegtiated goals under all potential future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadegjbacause of changes in conditions, or the degreempliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inh&ngitations in a cost effective control systemsatatements due to error or fraud may occu
and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

Disclosure pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran @hReduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 Sadtion 13(r) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Oracle has a robust economic sanctions and expoftats program designed to ensure compliance Wigh and other applicable export laws
and regulations by Oracle and its resellers, dhigtdrs and customers. As part of our ongoing efftrtmonitor and review transactions to
ensure the effectiveness of our trade complianogrpm, we discovered the two (2) matters desciifsdolw which occurred during fiscal 20:

We recently identified an order placed in Februz0¢3 for $1,541.05 for one of our database softwasducts by a non-U.S. third party
reseller through a non-U.S. third party partnebehalf of an entity that is an overseas branchilmcgoutside of Iran) of a financial institution
owned or controlled by the Government of Iran tieg been designated pursuant to Executive Ord@418r software was included as part
of an overall banking software solution being lised from the non-U.S. reseller to this entity, #relOracle software constituted a very small
component — approximately 2% of the cost — of therall solution. To our knowledge, no employee®ddcle had any contact with this entity
during fiscal 2013. Upon learning of this order amdifying the identity of this entity, we deactted this entity in our ordering systems and
terminated all business activities involving thigiy. Oracle does not intend to continue this\afstior to knowingly permit any activities with
this entity in the future. We have implemented &ddal measures designed to prevent such actingty frecurring. We are unable to calculate
the net profits attributable to this activity, lmutch net profits would be less than the revenues.

We also identified a transaction for $5,516.52 lsetwOracle and the United Arab Emirates officeroingurance company owned or contrc
by the Government of Iran. In March 2013, this tgntenewed its support contract for our databaskenaiddleware software products that this
entity had licensed through various non-U.S. tpiadty partners and resellers prior to the date satity was formally designated as owned or
controlled by the Government of Iran. No employee®racle provided any customer support servicdhisoentity during fiscal 2013. Upon
learning of this support renewal, we terminatedsingport contract, deactivated this entity in owleoing systems and terminated all business
activities involving this entity. Oracle does notdnd to continue this activity or to knowingly pet any activities with this entity in the future.
We have implemented additional measures designpret@nt such activity from recurring. We are uedbl calculate the net profits
attributable to this activity, but such net profiteuld be less than the revenues.

We have made voluntary disclosure of these matbettse Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) tife U.S. Department of Treasury and
intend to cooperate fully with OFAC.
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PART lIl
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpmate Governance

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GHe€, information required by this item relating tar @xecutive officers is included under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPI of this Annual Report.

The other information required by this Item 10nsarporated by reference from the information cimetd in our Proxy Statement to be filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissiaoimection with the solicitation of proxies forrd013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(the “2013 Proxy Statement”) under the sectiongledt‘Board of Directors—Nominees for Director§Board of Directors—Committees,
Membership and Meetings—Committee Memberships @uFiscal 2013,” “Board of Directors—Committees, Mamship and Meetings—
The Finance and Audit Committee,” “Corporate Goesece—Employee Matters—Code of Conduct,” aBdction 16(a) Beneficial Ownerst
Reporting Compliance”.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Iltem 11 is incargted by reference from the information to be cioretdh in our 2013 Proxy Statement under
the sections entitled “Board of Directors—Commigtelembership and Meetings—The Compensation ComesiCompensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Board ofrBitors—Director Compensation,” and “Executive Cemgation”.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficikOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Métrs

The information required by this Item 12 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2013 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Security Ownershigeftain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Exge Compensation—Equity
Compensation Plan Information”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2013 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Corporate Governancear@ of Directors and Director Independence” andfiBactions with Related Persons”.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incarged herein by reference from the informationéacbntained in our 2013 Proxy Statement
under the section entitled “Ratification of Selentbf Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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PART IV

ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdrablic Accounting Firm 74
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2013 and - 76
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag(®l3, 2012 and 201 77
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the yeatsceMay 31, 2013, 2012 and 2C 78
Statements of Equity for the years ended May 31320012 and 201 79
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag2@®li3, 2012 and 20! 80
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 81
2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is filesla part of this report:
Page
Schedule IlI. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 121

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits
The information required by this Item is set faritthe Index of Exhibits that follows the signatyr@ge of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraaiepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20182012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemsbome, equity, and cash flows for each of thedlyears in the period ended May 31,
2013. Our audits also included the financial staeinschedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)HesE financial statements and schedule are
the responsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspémian on these financial statements and schechdedo
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Oracle
Corporation at May 31, 2013 and 2012, and the dafaed results of its operations and its cash $lder each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumin, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasaaicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Oracle
Corporation’s internal control over financial repieg as of May 31, 2013, based on criteria esthbtisn Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 franrkjvand our report dated June
2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2013
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraaiepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal aidrdver financial reporting as of May 31, 2013, d®n criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Oracle Corporation’s managementsponsible for maintaining effective internal cohbver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the Company'’s intezoatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corix@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfauinauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limaaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial reporting as of May 31, 2013,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Oracle Corporation as of May813 and 2012, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive
income, equity, and cash flows for each of thealyears in the period ended May 31, 2013 of Or@clgooration and our report dated June 26
2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2013
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2013 and 2012

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $14,61! $14,95¢
Marketable securitie 17,60 15,72:
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtfebants of $296 and $323 as of May 31, 2013 anc
2012, respectivel 6,04¢ 6,371
Inventories 24C 15¢
Deferred tax asse 974 877
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,213 1,93¢
Total current asse 41,69: 40,02:
Non-current asset:
Property, plant and equipment, | 3,05z 3,021
Intangible assets, n 6,64( 7,89¢
Goodwill 27,34: 25,11¢
Deferred tax asse 76€ 59¢
Other asset 2,31¢ 1,67(C
Total nor-current assel 40,12( 38,30¢
Total asset $81,81: $78,32:
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ — $ 2,95(
Accounts payabl 41¢ 43¢
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,851 2,00z
Income taxes payab 911 52¢
Deferred revenue 7,11¢ 7,03t
Other current liabilitie: 2,57: 2,43t
Total current liabilities 12,87: 15,38¢
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing: 18,49 13,52«
Income taxes payab 3,89¢ 3,75¢
Other nor-current liabilities 1,402 1,56¢
Total nor-current liabilities 23,79¢ 18,85:
Commitments and contingenci
Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstandir
4,646 shares and 4,905 shares as of May 31, 2@ 2P, respectivel 18,89: 17,48¢
Retained earning 25,85« 26,08"
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince 99) 112
Total Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity 44,64¢ 43,68¢
Noncontrolling interest 497 39¢
Total equity 45,14 44,087
Total liabilities and equit' $81,81: $78,32:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2013 2012
Revenues
New software licenses and cloud software subsorp $10,32: $ 9,90¢
Software license updates and product sug 17,14 16,21(
Software revenue 27,46 26,11¢
Hardware systems produc 3,03: 3,82
Hardware systems suppt 2,318 2,47¢
Hardware systems revent 5,34¢ 6,30z
Services revenue 4,371 4,702
Total revenue: 37,18( 37,12:
Operating expense
Sales and marketir® 7,32¢ 7,127
Software license updates and product sug® 1,17¢ 1,22¢
Hardware systems produ«®) 1,501 1,84:%
Hardware systems suppd) 89C 1,04¢
Services®) 3,541 3,74
Research and developm 4,85( 4,52:
General and administratiy 1,072 1,12¢
Amortization of intangible asse 2,38t 2,43(
Acquisition related and oth: (604) 56
Restructuring 352 29t
Total operating expens: 22,49t 23,41!
Operating incom: 14,68 13,70¢
Interest expens (797) (76€)
Non-operating income, ne 11 22
Income before provision for income tay 13,89¢ 12,96:
Provision for income taxe 2,978 2,981
Net income $10,92¢ $ 9,981
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 2.2¢ $ 1.9¢
Diluted $ 2.2¢ $ 1.9¢
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 4,76¢ 5,01f
Diluted 4,84 5,09t
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.3 $ 0.2¢

(@) Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, ehhis shown separatel

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012
Net income $10,92¢ $9,981
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of
Net foreign currency translation (losses) g¢ (229 (39¢)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on defined beneditg (68) (102)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on marketable sézs (20 7C
Total other comprehensive (loss) income, (217 43C
Comprehensive incorn $10,71¢ $9,551

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Common Stock and Total
Additional Paid in Accumulated Oracle
Capital Other Corporation
Number of Comprehensive Stockholders’  Noncontrolling
Retained

(in millions) Shares Amount Earnings (Loss) Income Equity Interests Total Equity
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,02¢ $14,64¢ $16,14¢ $ 4 $ 30,79¢ $ 401 $ 31,19¢
Common stock issued under st-based compensation pla 78 1,281 — — 1,281 — 1,281
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 4 95 — — 95 — 95
Assumption of stoc-based compensation plan award

connection with acquisitior — 17 — — 17 — 17
Stocl-based compensatic — 51C — — 51C — 51C
Repurchase of common sto (40) (127) (1,057 — (1,172 — (1,172
Cash dividends declared ($0.21 per sh — — (2,062 — (1,062) — (1,067)
Tax benefit from stock plar — 222 — — 222 — 222
Other, ne — 1 — — 1 1 2
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (65) (65)
Other comprehensive income, | — — — 53¢ 53¢ 35 57¢
Net income — — 8,54 — 8,541 97 8,644
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,06¢ 16,65! 22,58: 542 39,77¢ 46¢ 40,24¢
Common stock issued under st-based compensation pla 40 622 — — 622 — 622
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 4 111 — — 111 — 111
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awards

connection with acquisitior — 2¢ — — 2¢ — 29
Stocl-based compensatic — 65¢ — — 65¢ — 65¢
Repurchase of common sto (207) (69€) (5,270 — (5,96¢) — (5,96¢)
Cash dividends declared ($0.24 per sh — — (1,20%) — (1,205 — (1,205
Tax benefit from stock plar — 11z — — 112 — 11z
Other, ne: — — — — — 2 2
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (163%) (1639
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (430) (430) (29 (45¢)
Net income — — 9,981 — 9,981 11¢ 10,10(
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,90¢ 17,48¢ 26,08 112 43,68¢ 39¢ 44,08
Common stock issued under st-based compensation pla 84 1,415 — — 1,415 — 1,415
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 11C — — 11C — 11C
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awiards

connection with acquisitior — 15 — — 15 — 15
Stocl-based compensatic — 75& — — 75E — 75E
Repurchase of common sto (34¢) (1,269 (9,725 — (10,999 — (10,999
Cash dividends declared ($0.30 per sh — — (1,437 — (1,437 — (1,439
Tax benefit from stock plar — 257 — — 257 — 257
Other, ne — 11¢ — — 11¢ 6€ 18t
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (32) 31
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (213) (213) (49 (260)
Net income — — 10,92¢ — 10,92¢ 112 11,037
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,64¢ $18,89! $2585¢ 3 990 $ 44,64t $ 497 $ 45,14¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $ 10,92¢ $ 9,981 $ 8,541
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 54¢ 48€ 36¢
Amortization of intangible asse 2,38t 2,43( 2,42¢
Allowances for doubtful accounts receiva 11€ 92 164
Deferred income taxe () 9 (259
Stoclk-based compensatic 75E 65¢ 51C
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock options agling of restricted sto-based award 41C 182 32t
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optéomd vesting of restricted stock-based
awards (247) (97) (215)
Other, ne 15E 84 68
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Decrease (increase) in trade receiva 267 (8) (729
(Increase) decrease in inventor (66) 15C (28)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and aibete (55%) (52) 14
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabil (547) (720 (220
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay 35 54 (96)
Increase in deferred revent 14¢ 492 231
Net cash provided by operating activit 14,22 13,74: 11,21«
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imezgs (32,160) (38,625 (31,009
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketalolgrisies and other investmer 30,15¢ 35,59« 27,12
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (3,305 (4,702) (1,84%)
Capital expenditure (650) (64¢) (450
Proceeds from sale of prope — — 10t
Net cash used for investing activiti (5,956 (8,387 (6,087
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (11,02) (5,85€) (1,160
Proceeds from issuances of common s 1,52 733 1,37¢
Payments of dividends to stockhold (1,439 (1,20%) (1,067
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ 4,97¢ 1,70C 4,35¢
Repayments of borrowing (2,950 (1,40%) (3,149
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optaoml vesting of restricted st-based awarc 241 97 21t
Distributions to noncontrolling interes (31) (1639) (65)
Other, ne 193 — —
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actiw (8,500 (6,099 51€
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaémts (120 (471) 60C
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (342 (1,20¢) 6,24¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 14,95¢ 16,16 9,91/
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 14,618 $ 14,95¢ $ 16,16:
Non-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of stock options and restricted stockelobawards assumed in connection with
acquisitions $ 15 $ 29 $ 17
Fair value of contingent consideration payableannection with acquisitio $ — $ 34¢ $ —
(Decrease) increase in unsettled repurchases ahoomstock $ 27 $ 11z $ 12
Supplemental schedule of cash flow di
Cash paid for income tax $ 2,64 $ 2,731 $ 2,931
Cash paid for intere: $ 781 $ 737 $ 77C

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2013

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, marketts and supports database and middleware sefteygplications software and hardware
systems products and services that are enginezmedrk together in cloud-based and on-premise méion technology (IT) environments.
We offer our customers the option to purchase ofiware and hardware systems products and relatitss to manage their own cloud-
based or on-premise IT environments, or to deployQracle Cloud offerings, which are a comprehensiet of cloud service offerings
including application services, social serviceatfpkrm services, and common infrastructure servicea subscription basis that we manage,
host and support. Customers that purchase our aatproducts may elect to purchase software licepdates and product support contracts,
which provide our customers with rights to unspediforoduct upgrades and maintenance releaseslidsuiag the support period as well as
technical support assistance. Customers that pseaar hardware products may elect to purchasevaaedsystems support contracts, which
provide customers with software updates for softwa@mponents that are essential to the functignaflibur server, storage and networking
products, such as Oracle Solaris and certain sthfeware products, and can include product repaieshtenance services, and technical
support services. We also offer customers a bretdfservices offerings including consulting seed, managed cloud services and educatiol
services.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements includedamaounts and the accounts of our wholly- and migjarivned subsidiaries. Noncontrolling
interest positions of certain of our consolidatatities are reported as a separate component gbtidated equity from the equity attributable
to Oracle’s stockholders for all periods presentét: noncontrolling interests in our net incomeeawveot significant to our consolidated results
for the periods presented and therefore have edudied as a component of non-operating incomenrmir consolidated statements of
operations. Intercompany transactions and baldmees been eliminated. Certain other prior yearrizaa have been reclassified to conform tc
the current year’s presentation. Such reclassifioatdid not affect our consolidated total reveneessolidated operating income or
consolidated net income. Acquisition related afepexpenses as presented in our consolidatednstatef operations for fiscal 2013 incluc

a change in fair value of contingent consideragiapable, which resulted in a net benefit of $38lfioniin fiscal 2013 (see Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements below), and & $3ilion benefit that we recorded in fiscal 20E3ated to certain litigation (see Note 18 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements bel@®gheral and administrative expenses as presentad itonsolidated statement

operations for fiscal 2011 included a benefit 02@illion related to the recovery of legal costattreduced our expenses in that period.

Pursuant to our adoption of Accounting StandardddtgNo. 2011-05;omprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Presentation offitehensive
Incomeand Accounting Standards Update No. 2011ddnprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Deferral of tHedife Date for Amendments to
the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items @uccumulated Other Comprehensive Income in AdooyStandards Update No. 2011-05,
we elected to present separate consolidated statemiecomprehensive income for fiscal 2013, 204@ 2011.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aatting Standards Codification (ASC) and considentiigous staff accounting bulletins
and other applicable guidance issued by the U.Qir8ies and Exchange Commission (SEC). These aticauprinciples require us to make
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. l&/bdhat the estimates, judgments and assumptipos which we rely are reasonable
based upon information available to us at the tina¢ these estimates, judgments and assumptiomsaate. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaard liabilities as of the date of the finanesi@tements as well as the reported amounts o
revenues and expenses during the periods presdittéde extent there are differences between thstsmates, judgments or assumptions and
actual results, our consolidated financial statameiill be affected. In many cases, the accourttiegtment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by GAAP and does not requir@nagement’s judgment in its application. Thereadgse areas in which management’s
judgment in selecting among available alternativeald not produce a materially different res
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2013

Revenue Recognition

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software, winicludes new software licenses revenues earoetdranting licenses to use our software
products and fees from cloud software subscriptafferings, and software license updates and proslygport revenues; (2) hardware systt
which includes the sale of hardware systems predactuding computer servers, storage productsyariing and data center fabric products,
and fees from infrastructure-assarvice (laaS) offerings, and hardware systemsa@tippvenues; and (3) services, which includesisoft anc
hardware related services including consulting, agad cloud services and education revenues. Revgenerally are recognized net of any
taxes collected from customers and subsequentlittezhio governmental authorities.

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and SafitevRelated Services (Software Elemer

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesrg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &
applications software and exclude cloud softwatessrtiptions revenues and revenues derived fromvaodtlicense updates, which are inclu
in software license updates and product suppoermaes. The basis for our new software licensesiteveecognition is substantially governed
by the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-60%ware-Revenue Recognitiow/e exercise judgment and use estimates in coionect
with the determination of the amount of softwared anftware related services revenues to be recedmizeach accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undaties; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftesdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaegnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howef/atceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are egjby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentingreement and are short-term in nature, wergéy recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory hiath&r revenue recognition criteria have been. ietcceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dha long-term in nature or are not included aadrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptaeriod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teehnantent, as well as internet and telephone adoatgchnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsearerglly priced as a percentage of the net newvaddtlicenses fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsSoftware Products and Software Related Serviceftw&e Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customersghichase both software related products and asoftwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @etd to as software related multiple-element geaments). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiplelement arrangements, we have applied the residegiod to determine the amount of software liceagenues to t
recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Under the wesichethod, if fair value exists for undeliveredraknts in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undeliverethelds is deferred with the remaining portion of dheangement consideration recognized
upon delivery of the software license
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2013

or services arrangement. We allocate the fair vafieach element of a software related multiplereliet arrangement based upon its fair value
as determined by our vendor specific objective envad (VSOE-described further below), with any remaining amaaitdcated to the softwa
license.

Revenue Recognition for Hardware Systems Produktardware Systems Related Services, Cloud Softwares8riptions and laas
Offerings (Nonsoftware Elements)

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejatssent amounts earned primarily from the sad®mputer servers, storage, and
networking products. Our revenue recognition pofiythese nonsoftware deliverables and other rfomace deliverables including hardware
systems related services and cloud software syiisers offerings is based upon the accounting quadaontained in ASC 60Revenue
Recognitior, and we exercise judgment and use estimates imection with the determination of the amount ofdaare systems products
revenues, hardware systems related services revamdecloud software subscriptions revenues tedegnized in each accounting period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence afrmmgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc¢8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled &) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmadause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reagefur estimated returns or certain other incergiagrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéné an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiatited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the smfwomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our server and storage producis ean also include product repairs, maintenanocgcsgsr and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generaflggas a percentage of the net hardware systerdsgis fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered into at the customer’s opti@hare recognized ratably over the contractual tf the arrangements, which are typically
one year.

Our cloud software subscriptions offerings gengnatbvide customers access to certain of our seéwathin a cloud-based IT environment
that we manage and offer to customers on a sultiseripasis. Revenues for our cloud software supsoris offerings are recognized ratably
over the contract term commencing with the dateseuwvice is made available to customers and adlratwenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied.

Our laas offerings are on-premise cloud offerirggsdieploying certain of Oracle’s Engineered Systants support services to customers on a
subscription basis. Customers that enter into faashgements are also able to purchase additiapalcity on demand. Our revenue
recognition policy for laaS offerings is in acconda with ASC 605 and ASC 84eases Substantially all of our laaS offerings are acded

for as operating leases as our contracts are gtaatso that the term of the arrangement is less ™% of the economic life of the equipment
and the present value of the minimum fixed paymargdess than 90% of the fair market value ofetlpgipment at the inception of the
arrangement. Our evaluation of useful life is basedur historical product development cycles amdhistorical customer hardware upgrade
cycles. Capacity on demand is a contingent paymauedts therefore excluded from our assessmeneafi¢h present value of fixed payments.
Revenue for capacity on demand is recognized ipéned our customers access additional capacityighed all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsHardware Systems Products and Hardware SystemtgeR&8earvices (Nonsoftware
Arrangements)

We enter into arrangements with customers thatase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as némgare multiple-element arrangements). Each elémwéhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntbe delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righttofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgrenduct or service
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is considered probable and is substantially coetidby us. We consider a deliverable to have standavalue if the product or service is sold
separately by us or another vendor or could bdddsothe customer. Further, our revenue arrangésrganerally do not include a general r
of return relative to the delivered products. Whibieaforementioned criteria for a separate unitogiounting are not met, the deliverable is
combined with the undelivered element(s) and trbatea single unit of accounting for the purpodeslocation of the arrangement
consideration and revenue recognition. For tho$s ofiaccounting that include more than one dedilske but are treated as a single unit of
accounting, we generally recognize revenues owedétivery period. For the purposes of revenuesiflaation of the elements that are
accounted for as a single unit of accounting, Wwerate revenue to the respective revenue line itgitién our consolidated statements of
operations based on a rational and consistent melhgy utilizing our best estimate of relative sg]lprices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememsallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdohupon the following selling price hierarchy: iS@ available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available (gdption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanamsystems product includes software, we determirether the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheeliver the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obacting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadleunit based on the aforementioned selling griesrchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishabt contingent upon future delivery of addiibproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppattandware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE is estaliby evaluating similar and interchangeable cditgpgoroducts or services in standalone
arrangements with similarly situated customersudfare unable to determine the selling price bec®®0OE or TPE does not exist, we
determine ESP for the purposes of allocating thengement by reviewing historical transactionsluding transactions whereby the
deliverable was sold on a standalone basis anddaritgy several other external and internal factocfuiding, but not limited to, pricing
practices including discounting, margin objectiveamnpetition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and
services, the type of customer (i.e. distributalue added reseller, government agency and dinecuser, among others) and the stage of the
product lifecycle. The determination of ESP is métdeugh consultation with and approval by our nggmaent, taking into consideration our
pricing model and go-to-market strategy. As oumur competitors’, pricing and go-to-market stragegevolve, we may modify our pricing
practices in the future, which could result in apesmto our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. fesalt, our future revenue recognition
for multiple-element arrangements could differ materially framm i@sults in the current period. Selling prices analyzed on an annual basi
more frequently if we experience significant changeour selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to both t3@re and Nonsoftware Elemen

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsArrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including hardvegstems products, hardware systems support, néwaseflicenses, software license upd
and product support, cloud software subscriptiontslaaS offerings, consulting, managed cloud sesvand education. In such arrangements,
we first allocate the total arrangement considenaliased on the relative selling prices of thensafé group of elements as a whole and to the
nonsoftware elements. We then further allocateidenation within the software group to the respacglements within that group following
the guidance in ASC 985-605 and our policies asrite=d above. After the arrangement consideratasbieen allocated to the elements, we
account for each respective element in the arrapgens described above.
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Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable tfivdare and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consyliitimplementation services sold separately undesuting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Cingukvenues from these arrangements are genadbunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in R88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmuaccounted for separately include the natbiseiwices (i.e. consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalitsheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantariaron the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforih#éitere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for
consulting services, revenues are deferred umibticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimidige proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis teaswee progress towards completion, revenues aogmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been aisthlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenuescevae for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléhé consulting organization delivering
the services. The complexity of the estimation pescand factors relating to the assumptions, askisuncertainties inherent with the
application of the proportional performance metbbdccounting affects the amounts of revenues aladed expenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A number ofrimdeand external factors can affect our estimates ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testeguirement changes.

Our managed cloud services are offered as starglalwsangements or as a part of arrangements torcast buying new software licenses or
hardware systems products and services. Oraclegedrdoud services are designed to provide compsiee software and hardware
management and maintenance services for custorostsdhat our Oracle data center facilities, seladner data centers or physically on-
premise at customer facilities. Additionally, wepide support services, both on-premise and rem@®@®racle customers to enable increased
performance and higher availability of their prothuand services. Depending upon the nature ofrla@gement, revenues from managed c
services are recognized as services are performedably over the term of the service period, whikgenerally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsmess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargegcognized as the classes or other educafierngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements aresd ot qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sysisydsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based orractraiccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safewhardware systems and services arrangemehtha{include milestones or customer
specific acceptance criteria that may affect ctibecof the software license or hardware systernslyet fees; (2) where consulting services
include significant modification or customizatiohtbe software or hardware systems product or fieespecialized nature and generally
performed only by Oracle; (3) where significant solting services are provided for in the softwacerise contract or hardware systems
product contract without additional charge or aressantially discounted; or (4) where the softwarense or hardware systems product
payment is tied to the performance of consultingises. For the purposes of revenue classificaticthe elements that are accounted for as a
single unit of accounting, we allocate revenuesatitware and nonsoftware elements based on a ahéimil consistent methodology utilizing
our best estimate of the relative selling pricewth elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w$ the software or hardware systems productsti@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suciterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@aggrof the applicable funding provision by the govnental entity.
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We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalie ditme of sale and recognize revenues if abiotbvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 daysettsr, payment terms may vary based on the coimtihich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgataémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoacessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredr@ifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within lousinesses include short-term payment terms, we aatandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers pnityathrough our financing division. Since fisca89, when our financing division was
formed, we have established a history of colle¢twmithout concessions, on these receivables wiitmeat terms that generally extend up to
five years from the contract date. Provided alkotfevenue recognition criteria have been met,egegnize new software licenses revenues
and hardware systems products revenues for themmggaments upon delivery, net of any payment disisoiiom financing transactions. We
have generally sold receivables financed througHinancing division on a non-recourse basis tedtipiarty financing institutions within 90
days of the contractglates of execution and we classify the proceeds fhese sales as cash flows from operating aet$viti our consolidate
statements of cash flows. We account for the sHldsese receivables as “true sales” as definédS5i@ 860,Transfers and Servicingas we ar
considered to have surrendered control of thesmdimg receivables. During fiscal 2013, 2012 antil2&2.2 billion, $1.6 billion and $1.5
billion of our financing receivables were sold boahcial institutions, respectively.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with legsiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeodusts. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing capggenerally have no recourse to us in the eviea¢fault by the end-user and we recogniz
revenue upon delivery, if all the other revenueggition criteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersawésionally, we have purchased goods or servizesuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent TransartBoffware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nth time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment dadi@sure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @sgelin cash. We recognize new software
licenses revenues or hardware systems productuesdrom Concurrent Transactions if all of our rawe recognition criteria are met and the
goods and services acquired are necessary fouotent operations.

Business Combinations

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased, at their acquisition date fair values. Gdbés of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred over thefrthe acquisition date fair values of the asaetgiired and the liabilities assumed. While wi
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvatek assets acquired and liabilities assuméaeadcquisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimatesndmerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquidtiailities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabusof the measurement period or final determinatibtne values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anyssgjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidéaéements of operations.

Costs to exit or restructure certain activitiesnfacquired company or our internal operationsaceunted for as orténe termination and e»
costs pursuant to ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligationsand are accounted for separately from the busio@sbination. A liability for
costs associated with an exit or disposal actigitgcognized and measured at its fair value inconsolidated statement of operations in the
period in which the liability is incurred. When iesating the fair value of facility restructuringtadgties, assumptions are applied regarding
estimated sub-lease payments to be received, whiclliffer materially from actual results. This nraguire us to revise our initial estimates
which may materially affect our results of operati@nd financial position in the period the rewisi® made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatednd may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafificient information

86



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2013

to assess whether we include these contingencigpad of the fair value estimates of assets aeduind liabilities assumed and, if so, to
determine their estimated amounts. If we cannataeably determine the fair value of a pre-acquisitontingency (non-income tax related)
by the end of the measurement period, which is gdigghe case given the nature of such mattersyill@ecognize an asset or a liability for
such pre-acquisition contingency if: (i) it is pedide that an asset existed or a liability had beemrred at the acquisition date and (ii) the
amount of the asset or liability can be reasonabtimated. Subsequent to the measurement periadgeh in our estimates of such
contingencies will affect earnings and could hawveaderial effect on our results of operations @ndrfcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relataluation allowances assumed in connection whibhsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinzunoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary esténdeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatiothe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatethl@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialuallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with ASC 32(hvestments— Debt and Equity Securitieand based on our intentions regarding these insintsnwe classify
substantially all of our marketable debt and eqségurities as available-for-sale. Marketable @glot equity securities are reported at fair
value, with all unrealized gains (losses) reflegtetiof tax in stockholders’ equity on our consatet balance sheets, and as a line item in oul
consolidated statements of comprehensive inconvee determine that an investment has an othertdraporary decline in fair value, we
recognize the investment loss in ngperating income, net in the accompanying consmitlatatements of operations. We periodically eate
our investments to determine if impairment chayesrequired. Substantially all of our marketal#@btchnd equity investments are classifie
current based on the nature of the investmentdtaidavailability for use in current operations.

We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggéturities in which we do not have a controliimgrest or significant influence. These
equity securities are recorded at cost and inclinlether assets in the accompanying consolidaaééghbe sheets. If based on the terms of our
ownership of these non-marketable securities, vierohéne that we exercise significant influence loa éntity to which these non-marketable
securities relate, we apply the requirements of 838, Investments— Equity Method and Joint Ventureto account for such investments
Our non-marketable securities are subject to periotpbairment reviews.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply the provisions of ASC 82Bair Value Measurements and Disclosurés our assets and liabilities that we are reglticemeasure at
fair value pursuant to other accounting standand$yding our investments in marketable debt andtgeecurities and our derivative financial
instruments.

The additional disclosures regarding our fair vaheasurements are included in Note 4.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts basesh @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided iffieding rates, based upon the age of the receg/dbe collection history associated with the
geographic region that the receivable was recomladd current economic trends. We write-off a heigle and charge it against its recorded
allowance when we have exhausted our collecticortsfivithout success.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primadfycash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Our cash andezpshalents are generally held with large, divdisagncial institutions worldwide to reduce
the amount of exposure to any single financialituton. Investment policies have been implemenked limit purchases of marketable debt
securities to investment grade securities. We @digato not require collateral to secure accouateivable. The risk with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations wegq@m on our customers, the short duration ofgayment terms for the significant majority
of our customer contracts and by the diversificatib our customer base. No single customer accduotel0% or more of our total revenues
in fiscal 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtavklue. Cost is computed using standard costwdgpproximates actual cost, on a first-in,
first-out basis. We evaluate our ending inventofigestimated excess quantities and obsolescé@hég evaluation includes analysis of sales
levels by product and projections of future demaittlin specific time horizons (generally six montirsless). Inventories in excess of future
demand are written down and charged to hardwatersgsproducts expenses. In addition, we assesspiaet of changing technology to our
inventories and we write down inventories that@residered obsolete. At the point of loss recognijta new, lower-cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent chandests and circumstances do not result in the rasém or increase in that newly established
cost basis.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax aed tat receivables associated with the sale opmducts and services to third parties. Othe
receivables are included in prepaid expenses drad otirrent assets in our consolidated balancashead totaled $826 million and $812
million at May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Deferred Sales Commissions

We defer sales commission expenses associateawittloud software subscriptions and laaS offerimgsl recognize the related expenses
over the non-cancelable term of the related cotstyachich are typically one to three years. Amatian of deferred sales commissions is
included as a component of sales and marketingneepi@ our consolidated statements of operations.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at thed@iveost or realizable value, net of accumulategrdciation. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method based on estimated ufigéd of the assets, which range from one to fiidars. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the estimated usiies lof the improvements or the lease terms, asopppte. Property, plant and equipment is
periodically reviewed for impairment whenever egenit changes in circumstances indicate that thrgingramount of an asset may not be
recoverable. We did not recognize any significanpprty impairment charges in fiscal 2013, 2012@t1.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnmes

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueatftangible and intangible assets acquired
Intangible assets that are not considered to hawvedefinite useful life are amortized over thesetul lives, which generally range from one to
ten years. Each period we evaluate the estimatedining useful lives of purchased intangible asaatswhether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remainergpgs of amortization.

The carrying amounts of these assets are peribdiealiewed for impairment (at least annually faogwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets) and whenever events or changes in circocestindicate that the carrying value of thesetassay not be recoverable. Effective fiscal
2012, we opted to perform a qualitative assesstoelst a reporting unit's goodwill for impairmeB@ased on our qualitative assessment, if w
determine that the fair value of a reporting usitriore likely than not (i.e., a likelihood
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of more than 50 percent) to be less than its aagrgimount, the two step impairment test will befqrened. In the first step, we compare the
value of each reporting unit to its carrying vallighe fair value of the reporting unit exceeds tarrying value of the net assets assigned to
that unit, goodwill is not considered impaired anelare not required to perform further testingh# carrying value of the net assets assigned
to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value ofrqgorting unit, then we must perform the secoeg sff the impairment test in order to
determine the implied fair value of the reportingtis goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporgirunit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, then we would record an impairment loss efuthe difference. Recoverability of finite livétangible assets is measured by
comparison of the carrying amount of the assdteduture undiscounted cash flows the asset iscte@pdo generate. Recoverability of
indefinite lived intangible assets is measured dmgarison of the carrying amount of the assetstéait value. If the asset is considered to be
impaired, the amount of any impairment is measasethe difference between the carrying value aedain value of the impaired asset. We
did not recognize any goodwill or intangible asegtairment charges in fiscal 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, we used derredinancial instruments to manage foreign curresuag interest rate risks. We account for
these instruments in accordance with ASC &léyjvatives and Hedgingwhich requires that every derivative instrumeatrécorded on the
balance sheet as either an asset or liability ntedsat its fair value as of the reporting date. A6 also requires that changes in our
derivatives’ fair values be recognized in earninggess specific hedge accounting and documentatiteria are met (i.e. the instruments are
accounted for as hedges). The offset to gain erdosderivative financial instruments that wereiglested as fair value hedges were record
the item for which the risk was being hedged. Aaing or losses on our fair value hedges are rezednn earnings.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. For legal and othartingencies that are not a part of a business t@tibn or related to income taxes, we acc

a liability for an estimated loss if the potentiads from any claim or legal proceeding is consgdgsrobable and the amount can be reasonab
estimated. A description of our accounting poli@ssociated with contingencies assumed as a parfa$iness combination is provided undel
“Business Combinations” above.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Our shipping and handling costs for hardware systeraducts sales are included in hardware systeoasipts expenses for all periods
presented.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currentiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatitsisi® the United States are translated into UdllaBs using weighted average exchange
rates while assets and liabilities of operationside the United States are translated into U.3aBousing exchange rates at the balance she
date. The effects of foreign currency translatidjustments are included in stockholders’ equita @@mponent of accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income in the accompanyingaatated balance sheets and related periodic menenare summarized as a line item ir
our consolidated statements of comprehensive incbieeforeign exchange transaction (losses) gaicisidled in non-operating income, net in
the accompanying consolidated statements of opesatiere $(162) million, $(105) million and $11 kwih in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments, includingg@fremployee stock options, restricted stock-b@seards and purchases under employe
stock purchase plans, in accordance with ASC b8 pensation-Stock Compensatiwhjch requires that share-based payments (to ttemex
they are compensatory) be recognized in our catesteld statements of operations based on theivdhies and the estimated number of share
we ultimately expect will vest. We recognize stdidsed compensation expense on a straight-line dnasishe service period of the award,
which is generally four years.
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We record deferred tax assets for stock-based cwsagien plan awards that result in deductions arirmome tax returns based on the amour
of stock-based compensation recognized and th&tatattax rate in the jurisdiction in which we witceive a tax deduction.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred eftiking expenses, which are included within sales marketing expenses, were $85 milli
$79 million and $88 million in fiscal 2013, 2012chR011, respectively.

Research and Development and Software Developmenb§&ts

All research and development costs are expensied@sed.

Software development costs required to be capidlimder ASC 985-2@osts of Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed,under ASC
350-40,Internal-Use Softwarayere not material to our consolidated financiatesteents in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscrifpins Revenues

New software licenses revenues represent feesceioma granting customers licenses to use our databnd middleware and our applica
software products. Cloud software subscriptiongneres represent fees earned from granting cust@oeess to select Oracle software
applications and software platforms on a subsanipbiasis through a cloud-based computing envirohn@ur new software licenses and cloud
software subscriptions revenues for fiscal 2013,228nd 2011 were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

New software license $ 9,411 $9,451 $8,98(

Cloud software subscriptior 91( 45k 25E
Total new software licenses and cloud software aijitsons revenue $10,32: $9,90¢ $9,23¢

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consiseadgnnel related costs for transitional and cer#tier employees, stock-based compensatio
expenses, integration related professional servogatain business combination adjustments inclydidjustments after the measurement pi
has ended and changes in fair value of contingamgideration payable (further discussed in Notel2w) and certain other operating items,
net. Stock-based compensation included in acquisitlated and other expenses resulted from urd/estiions and restricted stock-based
awards assumed from acquisitions whereby vestirgjagaelerated upon termination of the employeesuait to the original terms of those
options and restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Transitional and other employee related ¢ $ 27 $ 25 $ 12¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 33 33 10
Professional fees and other, (27¢) 13 66
Business combination adjustments, (388) (15 3
Total acquisition related and other exper $ (6049 $ 56 $ 20¢

Included in acquisition related and other expeirfieefiscal 2013 was a business combination benelfited to the change in estimate for
contingent consideration payable, which resulted et benefit of $387 million in fiscal 2013 (d¢ete 2 for additional information), and a
benefit related to certain litigation of $306 nuli in fiscal 2013 (see Note 18 for additional imfiation) that we recorded to professional fees
and other, net, both of which reduced acquisitelated and other expenses in fiscal 2013.
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Non-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of ingti@acome, net foreign currency exchange gainsée)s the noncontrolling interests in the
net profits of our majority-owned subsidiaries (GeaFinancial Services Software Limited and Oralelpan) and net other income (losses),
including net realized gains and losses relatel tof our investments and net unrealized gainslassks related to the small portion of our
investment portfolio that we classify as trading.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Interest incom: $ 237 $ 231 $ 16:
Foreign currency (losses) gains, (162) (105) 11
Noncontrolling interests in incon (112 (119) 97)
Other income, ne 48 15 10¢

Total nor-operating income, n $ 11 $ 22 $ 18€

Included in our non-operating income, net for fl¥@13 was a foreign currency remeasurement lo§&4fmillion resulting from the recent
devaluation of the Venezuelan currency by the Veekmn government for our Venezuelan subsidiarywhieahad previously designated as
“highly inflationary” in accordance with ASC 83Bpreign Currency MattersAs a large portion of our consolidated operatiare
international, we could experience additional fgneturrency volatility in the future including atidnal foreign currency losses related to our
Venezuelan subsidiary if the Venezuelan governrhgttier devalues the Venezuelan currency, the atsamd timing of which are uncertain.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8GC,Income TaxesDeferred income taxes are recorded for the erpdeix
consequences of temporary differences betweeraheases of assets and liabilities for financipbréng purposes and amounts recognize
income tax purposes. We record a valuation allowdaoceduce our deferred tax assets to the amddutuve tax benefit that is more likely
than not to be realized.

A two-step approach is applied pursuant to ASC 740 imebegnition and measurement of uncertain tax jposittaken or expected to be tal

in a tax return. The first step is to determinthé weight of available evidence indicates that more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained in an audit, including resolutionrof eelated appeals or litigation processes. Thergkstep is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmdized upon ultimate settlement. We recognizedsteand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in our provision for income taxes lineooir consolidated statements of operations.

A description of our accounting policies associatgtth tax related contingencies and valuation alnees assumed as a part of a business
combination is provided under “Business Combinatiabove.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumuldt®ther Comprehensive Income: In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting
Standards Update No. 2013-@)ymprehensive Income (Topic 228)Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of AccumdI@ther
Comprehensive InconfASU 2013-02), to improve the reporting of recléisations out of accumulated other comprehensicenme. ASU
2013-02 requires an entity to report the effectighificant reclassifications out of accumulateldestcomprehensive income on the respective
line items in net income if the amount being resiffed is required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassifin its entirety to net income. For other
amounts that are not required under U.S. GAAP teblassified in their entirety from accumulatedestcomprehensive income to net income
in the same reporting period, an entity is requtcedross-reference other disclosures requiredrudd® GAAP that provide additional detail
about those amounts. ASU 2013-02 is effective foinwour first quarter of fiscal 2014 with earlsgtoption permitted, which should be applied
prospectively. We are currently evaluating the iotge our pending adoption of ASU 2013-02 on ounsmlidated financial statements.
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Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Imjpanent:  In July 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standéalddate No. 2012-02,
Intangible—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)—Testing Indefirliteed Intangible Assets for Impairmg@SU 2012-02), to allow entities to
use a qualitative approach to test indefinite-liirgdngible assets for impairment. ASU 2012-02 peyian entity to first perform a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is more likey ihot that the fair value of an indefinite-liviethngible asset is less than its carrying value
If it is concluded that this is the case, it iseszary to perform the currently prescribed quaitéampairment test by comparing the fair value
of the indefinite-lived intangible asset with itsrrying value. Otherwise, the quantitative impaintest is not required. ASU 2012-02 is
effective for us in our fiscal 2014 and earlier piilon is permitted. We are currently evaluating ithpact of our pending adoption of ASU
2012-02 on our consolidated financial statements.

2.  ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Acme Packet, Inc

On March 28, 2013, we completed our acquisitioAahe Packet, Inc. (Acme Packet), a provider ofisedsorder control technology. We
have included the financial results of Acme Paake&tur consolidated financial statements from thdf acquisition. The total preliminary
purchase price for Acme Packet was approximately Blion, which consisted of approximately $2illibn in cash and $12 million for the
fair value of stock options and restricted stockdshawards assumed. We have preliminarily recab@&d million of net tangible assets, $525
million of identifiable intangible assets, and $#8lion of in-process research and developmentetam their estimated fair values, and $1.3
billion of residual goodwill.

Acquisition of Eloqua, Inc.

On February 8, 2013, we completed our acquisitfoBloqua, Inc. (Eloqua), a provider of cloud-basearketing automation and revenue
performance management software. We have includde@irntancial results of Eloqua in our consolidaiedncial statements from the date of
acquisition. The total preliminary purchase priceEloqua was approximately $935 million, which ssted of approximately $933 million in
cash and $2 million for the fair value of stockiopts assumed. We have preliminarily recorded $lianibf net tangible assets and $327
million of identifiable intangible assets, basedteir estimated fair values, and $607 million egidual goodwill.

Other Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2013, we acquired certain other conpsand purchased certain technology and develaipassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticer® not significant individually or in the aggetg. We have included the financial results
of these companies in our consolidated financakstents from their respective acquisition dateshwvere not individually material to our
consolidated financial statements.

The preliminary fair value estimates for the asaetguired and liabilities assumed for certain asitjohs completed during fiscal 2013 were
based upon preliminary calculations and valuatams our estimates and assumptions for each of Heegésitions are subject to change as w«
obtain additional information for our estimatesidgrthe respective measurement periods (up to eaefyom the respective acquisition dates)
The primary areas of those preliminary estimataswere not yet finalized related to certain talegdssets and liabilities acquired, identifiable
intangible assets, certain legal matters and incamdenon-income based taxes.

In aggregate, the companies that we acquired dfisngl 2013 collectively contributed $99 millioo our total revenues during fiscal 2013.
Other collective revenue and earnings contributiwase not significant or were not separately idatile due to the integration of these
acquired entities into our existing operations.

In addition, as of May 31, 2013, we have agreeattpuire a company for amount that is not mateoiaiur business and expect to close the
acquisition within the next twelve months.
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Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Taleo Corporatior

On April 5, 2012, we completed our acquisition @ldo Corporation (Taleo), a provider of cloud-bat#ent management solutions. We have
included the financial results of Taleo in our aaidated financial statements from the date of &itjon. The total purchase price for Taleo
was $2.0 billion, which consisted of $2.0 billiandash and $10 million for the fair value of stagkions and restricted stock-based awards
assumed. We recorded $1.1 billion of identifiablengible assets and $244 million of net tangitalkilities related primarily to deferred tax
liabilities and customer performance obligatiorat thhere assumed as a part of this acquisition,chaséheir estimated fair values, and $1.1
billion of residual goodwill.

Acquisition of RightNow Technologies, Inc

On January 25, 2012, we completed our acquisitidRightNow Technologies, Inc. (RightNow), a providg cloud-based customer service.
We have included the financial results of RightNiaveur consolidated financial statements from thtef acquisition. The total purchase
price for RightNow was $1.5 billion, which considtef $1.5 billion in cash and $14 million for theirfvalue of stock options and restricted
stock-based awards assumed. We recorded $697mullimentifiable intangible assets and $259 millaf net tangible liabilities related
primarily to customer performance obligations, cenible debt and deferred tax liabilities that wassumed as a part of this acquisition, base
on their estimated fair values, and $1.1 billionredidual goodwill.

Acquisition of Pillar Data Systems, Inc

On July 18, 2011, we acquired Pillar Data Systdnts,(Pillar Data), a provider of enterprise st@aystems solutions. Prior to the acquisition
Pillar Data was directly and indirectly majority-oed and controlled by Lawrence J. Ellison, our €Bbeecutive Officer, director and largest
stockholder. Pursuant to the agreement and plameojer dated as of June 29, 2011 (Pillar Data Mekgeecement), we acquired all of the
issued and outstanding equity interests of Pillatadrom the stockholders in exchange for rightet®ive contingent cash consideration (Eari
Out), if any, pursuant to an Ea@ut calculation. An affiliate of Mr. Ellison haspaeference right to receive the first approxima&$g5 millior
of the Earn-Out, if any, and rights to 55% of anyoaint of the Earn-Out that exceeds $565 million.

The Earn-Out will be calculated with respect thi@ée-year period that commenced with our secondeuaf fiscal 2012 and will conclude
with our first quarter of fiscal 2015 (Earn-Out el). The Earn-Out will be an amount (if positiveglculated based on the product of (i) the
difference between (x) future revenues generatad fhe sale of certain Pillar Data products dufrgcle’s last four full fiscal quarters during
the Earn-Out Period minus (y) certain losses aagettiwith certain Pillar Data products incurredrawe entire Earn-Out Period, multiplied by
(ii) three. Our obligation to pay the Earn-Out vii# subject to reduction as a result of our rigtget-off the amount of any indemnification
claims we may have under the Pillar Data Mergereagrent. We do not expect the amount of the EarmsOitg potential impact will be
material to our results of operations or finanpasition.

We have included the financial results of Pillat@®iam our consolidated financial statements fromdhte of acquisition. These results were nc
material to our consolidated financial statemente estimated fair value of the liability for cargent consideration as of the acquisition date,
representing the purchase price payable for owisitipn of Pillar Data, was approximately $346 linit and was included in other n@otrent
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. {ability for contingent consideration payable ighgect to change until the liability is settled
with the related impact recorded to our consolidatatements of operations as acquisition relateldbther expenses. In connection with our
acquisition of Pillar Data, we recorded $142 miiliof identifiable intangible assets and $16 millaimet tangible liabilities, based on their
estimated fair values, and $220 million of residymabdwill. As of May 31, 2013, we estimated the failue of the Ear®ut liability to be zerc
which resulted in a net benefit to acquisition tedeand other expenses of $387 million in fiscal20rhe Earn-Out liability decreased as of
May 31, 2013 in comparison to the amount recordedf éhe acquisition date primarily due to a chaimgaur estimate of year three revenues
related to our acquisition of Pillar Data and thkated impact to the liability calculation in acdance with the Earn-Out formula as noted
above. Our valuation techniques and inputs usedtimate the fair value of the Earn-Out liabilite @escribed in Note 4 below.
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Other Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2012, we acquired certain other conmiggsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticere not individually significant. We have inclutithe financial results of these companies
in our consolidated financial statements from thegpective acquisition dates and the results franh of these companies were not
individually material to our consolidated financg&htements. In the aggregate, the total purchase for these acquisitions was $1.6 billion
and consisted of $1.6 billion in cash and $5 millfor the fair values of stock options assumed.rééerded $540 million of identifiable
intangible assets and $29 million of net tangitsseds, based on their estimated fair values, aridiffilion of residual goodwill.

In aggregate, the companies that we acquired dfisngl 2012 collectively contributed $231 millibm our total software revenues during fis
2012. Other collective revenue and earnings cantiohs were not significant or were not separaigdtifiable due to the integration of these
acquired entities into our existing operations.

Fiscal 2011 Acquisitions

On January 5, 2011, we completed our acquisitiodrbTechnology Group, Inc. (ATG), a provider of@@merce software and related on
demand commerce optimization applications. We liasleded the financial results of ATG in our condated financial statements from the
date of acquisition. The total purchase price fdiGAwas $1.0 billion, which consisted of $990 miflim cash and $16 million for the fair value
of stock options and restricted stock-based awasdamed. We have recorded $404 million of ideftiéidantangible assets and $111 million of
net tangible assets, based on their estimateddaies, and $491 million of residual goodwill.

On August 11, 2010, we completed our acquisitioRludise Forward Incorporated (Phase Forward), admoef applications for life sciences
companies and healthcare providers. We have indltigefinancial results of Phase Forward in oursotidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition. The total purchase price fead® Forward was $736 million, which consisted#&3million in cash and $1 million for the
fair value of restricted stock-based awards assulivedrecorded $370 million of identifiable intanigifassets, $20 million of in-process
research and development and $17 million of nejibde assets, based on their estimated fair vahres$329 million of residual goodwill.

During fiscal 2011, we acquired certain other coni@aand purchased certain technology and developassets to expand our products and
services offerings. These acquisitions were natiggnt individually or in the aggregate. We haweluded the financial results of these
companies in our consolidated results from theipegtive acquisition dates, which were not indigitiusignificant.

In aggregate, the companies that we acquired didigngl 2011 collectively contributed $231 millibm our total software revenues in fiscal
2011. Other collective revenue and earnings cantiohs were not significant or were not separaigdntifiable due to the integration of these
acquired entities into our existing operations.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information ie ttable below summarizes the combined results efatjpns for Oracle, Acme Packet,
Eloqua, Taleo, RightNow, Pillar Data and certaimestcompanies that we acquired since the begirofifigcal 2012 (which were considered
significant for the purposes of unaudited pro foffimancial information disclosure) as though thenpanies were combined as of the begin

of fiscal 2012. The pro forma financial informatifor all periods presented also included the bissim®mbination accounting effects resulting
from these acquisitions including our amortizatitrarges from acquired intangible assets (certawha¢h were preliminary), stock-based
compensation charges for unvested stock optionsestdcted stock-based awards assumed, if anythenikblated tax effects as though the
aforementioned companies were combined as of th@mieg of fiscal 2012. The pro forma financialanfnation as presented below is for
informational purposes only and is not indicatiféhe results of operations that would have bedreaed if the acquisitions had taken place a
the beginning of fiscal 2012.

94



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2013

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2013 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2013, the historical results of
Acme Packet for the year ended December 31, 2@dfjdsted due to differences in reporting periods emsidering the date we acquired Ac
Packet), the historical results of Eloqua for mimenths ended September 30, 2012 (adjusted duéféoedices in reporting periods and
considering the date we acquired Eloqua), the tidstbresults of certain other companies that wguaed since the beginning of fiscal 2013
based upon their respective previous reportingodsrand the dates these companies were acquings byd the effects of the pro forma
adjustments listed above.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2012 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2012, the historical results of
Acme Packet for the twelve months ended June 312 #due to differences in reporting periods), ttstdmical results of Eloqua for the twelve
months ended June 30, 2012 (due to differencespiorting periods), the historical results of Tdieotwelve months ended December 31, 2
(adjusted due to differences in reporting periaus eonsidering the date we acquired Taleo), theiiisl results of RightNow for the nine
months ended September 30, 2011 (adjusted duéfeoedices in reporting periods and consideringdie we acquired RightNow), the
historical results of Pillar Data for the three rtienended June 30, 2011 (adjusted due to diffeseinc@porting periods and considering the
date we acquired Pillar Data), the historical ressaf certain other companies that we acquiredesihe beginning of fiscal 2012 based upon
their respective previous reporting periods andddites these companies were acquired by us, aredféuts of the pro forma adjustments lis
above. The unaudited pro forma financial informaticas as follows for fiscal 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2013 2012
Total revenue: 37,47 $ 38,03
Net income 10,83t $ 9,63(
Basic earnings per she 2271 % 1.92
Diluted earnings per sha 224 % 1.8¢

B HHH

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of dit¢pbeld at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper @ther securities with original
maturities of 90 days or less. Marketable secusripigmarily consist of time deposits held at mdjanks, Tier-1 commercial paper and
corporate notes.

The amortized principal amounts of our cash, caglivalents and marketable securities approximdteit fair values at May 31, 2013 and
2012. We use the specific identification methodétermine any realized gains or losses from theefabur marketable securities classified as
available-for-sale. Such realized gains and loggge insignificant for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 20The following table summarizes the
components of our cash equivalents and marketablerities held, substantially all of which weresslidied as available-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012
Commercial paper debt securit $ 14,040 $ 13,95
Corporate debt securities and ot 4,93¢ 2,337
Total investment $ 18,97¢ $ 16,29:
Investments classified as cash equival $ 137F $ 57C
Investments classified as marketable secut $ 17,60: $ 15,72

As of May 31, 2013, approximately 91% of our magkdé¢ securities investments mature within one y&siof May 31, 2012, substantially all
of our marketable securities investments maturedimvone year. Our investment portfolio is subjecmarket risk due to changes in interest
rates. As described above, we limit purchases oketable debt securities to investment grade séesiand also limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one issuer. As stated in our invest policy, we are averse to principal loss arek $e preserve our invested funds by limit
default risk and market risk.
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4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements in accordantetive guidance provided by ASC 820. ASC 820 defiia& value as the price that would
be received from selling an asset or paid to tersfiability in an orderly transaction betweenrked participants at the measurement date.
When determining the fair value measurements feetasand liabilities required to be recorded at fla@ values, we consider the principal or
most advantageous market in which we would traresadtconsider assumptions that market participaatdd use when pricing the assets or
liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer resions and risk of nonperformance.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy thatireg an entity to maximize the use of observatyeiis and minimize the use of unobserv
inputs when measuring fair value. An asset’s dafillty’s categorization within the fair value hachy is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurem&®C 820 establishes three levels of inputs that beaysed to measure fair value:

e Level 1. quoted prices in active markets fomnititsal assets or liabilitie:

e Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are obelele, either directly or indirectly, such as quaprices in active markets for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices fagntical or similar assets or liabilities in mark#tat are not active, or other inputs that
are observable or can be corroborated by obserwadtket data for substantially the full term of #esets or liabilities; ¢

e Level 3: unobservable inputs that are suppdstelittie or no market activity and that are sigedint to the fair values of the assets
or liabilities.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on &ecurring Basis

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair valua cecurring basis, excluding accrued interestpmrants, consisted of the following (Level 1,
2 and 3 inputs are defined above):

May 31, 2013 May 31, 2012
Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements
Using Input Types Using Input Types
(in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Commercial paper debt securit $ — $ 14,04 % — $ 14,04: $ — $ 1395 % — $ 13,95
Corporate debt securities and ot 24¢ 4,68¢ — 4,93¢F 354 1,982 — 2,331
Derivative financial instrumen — 41 — 41 — 69 — 69
Total asset $ 24 $ 18,77. $ — $ 19,01¢ $ 35 $ 16,000 $ — $ 16,36(
Liabilities:
Contingent consideratic $ — $ — $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $ 387 $ 387

Our valuation techniques used to measure the #ireg of our marketable securities that were dladsas Level 1 in the table above were
derived from quoted market prices and active marf@tthese instruments exist. Our valuation teghes used to measure the fair values of
Level 2 instruments listed in the table above,dbenterparties to which have high credit ratingstenderived from the following: non-binding
market consensus prices that are corroborated $gredble market data, quoted market prices forairimstruments, or pricing models, such
as discounted cash flow techniques, with all sigaift inputs derived from or corroborated by obable market data including LIBOR-based
yield curves, among others. The fair value of auyent consideration payable that was classifiddeael 3 in the table above was estime
using a discounted cash flow technique with sigaifit inputs that were not observable in the maakdtthus represented a Level 3 fair value
measurement as defined in ASC 820. The significgnits in the Level 3 measurement not supportechésket activity included our
probability assessments of expected future yeaethegvenues related to our acquisition of Pillataland their related impact to the liability
calculation, appropriately discounted considerhng tincertainties associated with the obligationd, ancalculated in accordance with the term
of the Pillar Data Merger Agreement.
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Based on the trading prices of our $18.5 billiod &t6.5 billion of borrowings, which consisted ehgr notes that were outstanding as of
May 31, 2013 and senior notes and short-term bongswhat were outstanding as of May 31, 2012,aetsyely, the estimated fair values of
our borrowings using Level 2 inputs at May 31, 2@b8 2012 were $20.7 billion and $19.3 billion petively.

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012
Raw materials $ 114 $ 4t
Work-in-process 3: 20
Finished good 95 93
Total $ 24C $ 15¢
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted ofdhewing:
Estimated May 31,
(Dollars in millions) Useful Life 2013 2012
Computer, network, machinery and equipn 1-5 year: $2,13¢ $ 1,761
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 2,471 2,351
Furniture, fixtures and oth: 3-10 year 481 497
Land — 632 70z
Construction in progres — 28 112
Total property, plant and equipme 1-50 year 5,75¢ 5,41¢
Accumulated depreciatic (2,707%) (2,39¢)
Total property, plant and equipment, $ 3,05: $ 3,021
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 201Btha net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2813 and 2012 were as follows:

Intangible Assets, Gros: Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Ne
May 31, May 31, Weighted
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Additions 2013 2012  Expense¢ 2013 2012 2013 Useful Life @)
Software support agreements and related relatips $ 529 $ 4 $ 529 $ (3330 $ (582) $ (391) $ 196« $ 1,38¢ 5 year
Hardware systems support agreements and relabnships 76¢ 4¢ 817 (26€) (121 (387) 50z 43C 7 year
Developed technolog 6,90¢ 55¢ 7,46¢ (4,65)) (82€) (5,477) 2,251 1,98¢ 7 year.
Core technolog 2,54¢ 3C 2,57¢ (1,60¢ (329) (1,939¢) 94( 641 3year
Customer relationships and contract bacl 2,26( 17t 2,43t (1,287) (350) (1,637) 97¢ 79¢ 6 year.
Cloud software subscriptions and related relatigs 98¢ 23¢ 1,227 (42) (119) (15t 947 1,072 8 year.
Trademark 597 3€ 63E (292) (64) (35€) 30E 27¢ 8 year.
Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 19,36¢ 1,09 20,457 (11,47) (2,38Y (13,867 7,88¢ 6,59t 7 year
In-process research and developn 11 34 4E — — — 11 45 N.A.
Total intangible assets, r $19,37¢ $ 1,12¢ $20,50: $(11,47) $ (2,385 $(13,86) $ 7.89¢ $ 6,64

(1) Represents weighted average useful lives of intdegissets acquired during fiscal 20

Total amortization expense related to our intaregddsets was $2.4 billion in each of fiscal 2003,2and 2011. As of May 31, 2013, estimi
future amortization expenses related to intangalskets were as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201 $ 2,12
Fiscal 201t 1,65¢
Fiscal 201¢ 1,094
Fiscal 2017 52z
Fiscal 201¢ 397
Thereaftel 802

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 6,59¢
In-process research and developr 45

Total intangible assets, n $ 6,64(
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The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwillicilis generally not deductible for tax purposes,dur operating segments for fiscal 2013
and 2012 were as follows:

Software
New Software License
Licenses and Updates anc Hardware
Cloud Software Product Systems
(Dollars in millions) Subscriptions Support Support Other ) Total
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 6,78¢ $ 12,05: $ 1,00¢ $ 1,707 $ 21,55
Gooduwill from acquisition: 65¢ 461 184 2,37¢ 3,681
Goodwill adjustment® (7€) (34 — (5) (115)
Balances as of May 31, 20 7,367 12,47¢ 1,19t 4,08( 25,11¢
Allocation of goodwill®@ 2,34¢ — — (2,34¢) —
Gooduwill from acquisition: 93¢ 27 62 1,341 2,36:
Goodwill adjustment® (113) (32 4 2 (139
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 10,53 $ 12,47 $ 1,25¢ $ 3,077 $ 27,34

(1) Pursuant to our business combinations accouptitigy, we recorded goodwill adjustments for thieef on goodwill of changes to net assets acquitethg the measurement period
(up to one year from the date of an acquisitiomo@will adjustments were not significant to ouryoeisly reported operating results or financialipos.

(2 Represents the allocation of goodwill to our ofiagasegments upon completion of our intangible sakeations

()  Represents goodwill allocated to our other ojiegategments and approximately $1.3 billion of geiidor certain of our acquisitions that will bél@cated based upon the finalization
of valuations

8. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Notes payable and other borrowings consisted ofdal@wving:

May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012
Shor-term borrowings $ — $ 1,70C
4.95% senior notes due April 20 — 1,25(
3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valdigstments of $41 and $69 as of May 31, 2013281@, respectivel(l) 1,541 1,56¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disad$8 and $4 as of May 31, 2013 and 2012, regpdgl 1,997 1,99¢
1.20% senior notes due October 2017, net of diganibB as of May 31, 201 2,49 —
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafr&l each as of May 31, 2013 and 2! 2,49¢ 2,49¢
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discobifit@nd $5 as of May 31, 2013 and 2012, respdgt 1,74¢ 1,74¢
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discobii2 each as of May 31, 2013 and 2! 99¢ 99¢
2.50% senior notes due October 2022, net of digenf as of May 31, 201 2,49¢ —
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discair$2 each as of May 31, 2013 and 2! 1,24¢ 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discotii¥ and $8 as of May 31, 2013 and 2012, respelgt 1,24: 1,24:
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discolii24 each as of May 31, 2013 and 2012, respéyt 2,22¢ 2,22¢
Capital lease 1 1
Total borrowings $ 18,49: $ 16,47
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ — $ 2,95C
Notes payable, n-current and other n-current borrowing: $ 18,49: $ 13,52

(1) Refer to Note 11 for a description of our accoumfior fair value hedge:
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Senior Notes and Other

In October 2012, we issued $5.0 billion of fixeteraenior notes comprised of $2.5 billion of 1.208tes due October 2017 (2017 Notes) and
$2.5 billion of 2.50% notes due October 2022 (2B22es). We issued these senior notes for generpbrate purposes, which may include
stock repurchases, future acquisitions and repatyoféndebtedness, including the repayment of $biflion of 4.95% senior notes that
matured and were repaid in April 2013.

In July 2010, we issued $3.25 billion of fixed ratnior notes comprised of $1.0 billion of 3.8758tes due July 2020 (2020 Notes) and $2.2°
billion of 5.375% notes due July 2040 (2040 Notes] together with the 2020 Notes, the Original 8&eNtes). As part of the offering of the
Original Senior Notes, we entered into a registratights agreement with the initial purchasersliierbenefit of the holders of the Original
Senior Notes in which we agreed to file with theCS&registration statement with respect to seritegidentical in all material respects to the
Original Senior Notes within fourteen months aftex issue date of the Original Senior Notes anBecember 16, 2011 we completed a
registered offer to exchange the Original Senioreldor new freely tradable notes having terms tsuibigilly identical to the Original Senior
Notes. An aggregate of $994 million principal amboiithe 2020 Notes and an aggregate of $2.24hifprincipal amount of the 2040 Nof
were tendered and exchanged in the offer.

In July 2009, we issued $4.5 billion of fixed ratnior notes comprised of $1.5 billion of 3.75%easadue July 2014 (2014 Notes), $1.75 bil
of 5.00% notes due July 2019 (2019 Notes) and $1il#én of 6.125% notes due July 2039 (2039 Nates)

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed ragenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes was due and paid in April 2013,
$2.5 hillion of 5.75% senior notes due April 202818 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 6.50% senior nates April 2038 (2038 Notes) remained
outstanding as of May 31, 2013.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes, of which $2.25 billion of 5.00% senior notess due and paid in January 2011 and
$2.0 billion of 5.25% senior notes due 2016 (2016aY) remained outstanding as of May 31, 2013.

The effective interest yields of the 2014 Notesl@0lotes, 2017 Notes, 2018 Notes, 2019 Notes, Ri2€s, 2022 Notes, 2038 Notes, 2039
Notes and 2040 Notes (collectively, the Senior Npét May 31, 2013 were 3.75%, 5.32%, 1.24%, 5.7 95%, 3.93%, 2.51%, 6.52%, 6.1
and 5.45%, respectively. Interest is payable samizally for the Senior Notes. In September 2009entered into interest rate swap
agreements that have the economic effect of madjfiie fixed interest obligations associated witth 2014 Notes so that the interest payable
on these notes effectively became variable (1.38Bay 31, 2013; see Note 11 for additional inforima)t. We may redeem some or all of the
Senior Notes of each series at any time, subjggayment of an applicable make-whole premium.

The Senior Notes rank pari passu with any othezsyae may issue in the future pursuant to our catialgpaper program (see additional
discussion regarding our commercial paper progralov) and all existing and future senior indebtexsnaf Oracle Corporation. All existing
and future liabilities of the subsidiaries of Om€lorporation are or will be effectively seniotthe Senior Notes and any of our commercial
paper notes. We were in compliance with all delsteel covenants as of May 31, 2013.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2012, shortly aftee closing of our acquisition of RightNow, we ri&han full, $255 million of RightNows legac!
convertible notes.

Future principal payments for all of our borrowiregdMay 31, 2013 were as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201¢ $ —
Fiscal 201t 1,50(
Fiscal 201¢ 2,00
Fiscal 2017 —
Fiscal 201¢ 5,00(
Thereaftel 10,00(

Total $ 18,50(
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Commercial Paper Program and Commercial Paper Notes

On April 22, 2013, pursuant to our existing $3.Midm commercial paper program which allows usssuie and sell unsecured short-term
promissory notes pursuant to a private placemes@kion from the registration requirements unddefel and state securities laws, we
entered into new dealer agreements with variouksand a new Issuing and Paying Agency Agreemeht3dA Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. As
of May 31, 2013 and 2012, we did not have any antihg commercial paper notes. We intend to bami-ahy commercial paper notes that
we may issue in the future with the 2013 Crediteggnent (see additional details below).

Revolving Credit Agreements

In April 2013, we entered into a $3.0 billion Revioly Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.Bank of America, N.A., BNP Paribas,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and certain other lendlees2013 Credit Agreement). The 2013 Credit Agreet provides for an unsecured 5-
year revolving credit facility to be used for geslezorporate purposes including b-stopping any commercial paper notes that we nmayeis
Subject to certain conditions stated in the 201&d@Agreement, we may borrow, prepay and re-bomowunts under the 2013 Credit
Agreement at any time during the term of the 201&dE Agreement. Interest under the 2013 Credite&grent is based on either (a) a LIBOR-
based formula or (b) the Base Rate formula, eage&frth in the 2013 Credit Agreement. Any amsuirawn pursuant to the 2013 Credit
Agreement are due on April 20, 2018. No amountseveertstanding pursuant to the 2013 Credit Agreemgiof May 31, 2013.

The 2013 Credit Agreement contains certain custpmegresentations and warranties, covenants amtswédefault, including the
requirement that our total net debt to total cdigiion ratio not exceed 45% on a consolidatedsbéfsany of the events of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods dvedy any unpaid amounts under the 2013 Credit &ment may be declared immediately
due and payable and the 2013 Credit Agreement magriminated. We were in compliance with the 201€dE Agreement’s covenants as of
May 31, 2013.

On May 29, 2012, we borrowed $1.7 billion pursuard revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Clizesek, N.A., as initial lender and
administrative agent; and J.P. Morgan Securitie€,las sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner2@i@ Credit Agreement). On July 2, 2012,
we repaid the $1.7 billion and the 2012 Credit Agnent expired pursuant to its terms.

On May 27, 2011, we entered into two revolving dradreements with BNP Paribas, as initial lendet administrative agent, and BNP
Paribas Securities Corp., as sole lead arrangesaerdookrunner (the 2011 Credit Agreements),tmrtowed $1.15 billion pursuant to these
agreements. During fiscal 2012, we repaid the $killibn and the 2011 Credit Agreements expiredspant to their terms.

9. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the first quarter of fiscal 2013, our managat approved, committed to and initiated plangs&tructure and further improve
efficiencies in our operations (the 2013 RestruntuPlan). Our management subsequently amende2Dtti2 Restructuring Plan in the third
quarter of fiscal 2013 to reflect additional ac8dhat we expect to take. The total estimateduestring costs associated with the 2013
Restructuring Plan are $420 million and will beaeted to the restructuring expense line item within consolidated statements of operations
as they are incurred. We recorded $325 milliorestnucturing expenses in connection with the 20a&mcturing Plan in fiscal 2013 and we
expect to incur the majority of the estimated rerimg $95 million through fiscal 2014. Any changeghe estimates of executing the 2013
Restructuring Plan will be reflected in our futuesults of operations.

Sun Restructuring Plan

During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, our marragat approved, committed to and initiated a plarestructure our operations due to our
acquisition of Sun (the Sun Restructuring Plargrigter to improve the cost efficiencies in our mergperations.
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Restructuring costs associated with the Sun Rdating Plan were recorded to the restructuring egpdine item within our consolidated
statements of operations as they were recognizededbrded $215 million and $439 million of nettresturing expenses in connection with
the Sun Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2012 and 2@ddpectively. The execution of the Sun RestruetuRlan was substantially complete as of
the end of fiscal 2012.

Summary of All Plans
Fiscal 2013 Activity

Total Total
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201! Accrued Costs Expected
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31, Accrued Program
(in millions) 2012 Costs® Cost@ Payments  Others (5 2013@) to Date Costs
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plar(®)
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ — $ 85 $ 8 $ (60) $ 2 % 16 $ 77 $ 86
Software license updates and product sug. — 13 (6) (12) 5 1 7 17
Hardware systems busine — 99 (5) (68) 2) 24 94 13z
Services — 72 5) (50 1 18 67 9
General and administrative and ot — 81 (2) (52) (16) 12 8C 9C
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring P $ — $ 35C $ (25) $ (241) $ (13) $ 71 % 32t $ 42C
Total other restructuring plai(® $ 337 $ 53 § (26) $ (18%) $ — $ 17¢
Total restructuring plar $ 337 $ 40% $ (51 $ (426) $ (13) $ 25C
Fiscal 2012 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201 Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2011 Costs®) Cost @ Payments Others ) 20122
Sun Restructuring Plan®)
New software licenses and cloud software subsornp $ 14 $ 4€ $ @8 $ 41y % 2 $ 9
Software license updates and product sug 1¢ 31 2 (35) (D) 12
Hardware systems busine 1C 34 1 (33) — 12
Services 9 32 2 (25) () 12
General and administrative and ot 10C 92 (9) (129) (1) 53
Total Sun Restructurin $ 157 $ 23t $ 20) $ (263 $ (6) $ 98
Total other restructuring plai®) $ 297 $ 65 $ 15 $ (122) 3% (1€) $ 23¢
Total restructuring plar $ 44¢ $ 30C $ 6 $ (385 % (22) $ 337
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Fiscal 2011 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201 Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2010 Costs®) Cost @ Payments Others ) 2011
Sun Restructuring Plan®)
New software licenses and cloud software subsornp $ 5 $ 67 $ 4 $ 55 % 1 $ 14
Software license updates and product sug 3 52 Q) (39 (D) 19
Hardware systems busine 42 53 3 (83) 1 10
Services 8 49 4 (43) (1) 9
General and administrative and ot 2¢ 22¢ 4 (154 (5) 10C
Total Sun Restructurin $ 87 $ 447 $ B8 $ 369 $ (5) $ 152
Total other restructuring plai(® $ 45¢ $ 57 $ a7n $ (223 % 21 $ 297
Total restructuring plar $ 54¢€ $ 504 $ (28) % (592) $ 16 $ 44¢

() Restructuring costs recorded for individual lirenis presented related to employee severance casistdor general and administrative and otherciviailso included $46 million, $23 million a
$97 million recorded during fiscal 2013, 2012 ai0d 2, respectively, for facilities related restruatg, contract termination and other co:

@ The balances at May 31, 2013 and 2012 included #1ii@n and $178 million, respectively, recordeddther current liabilities, and $90 million ands®lmillion, respectively, recorded in other i
current liabilities.

(®  Costs recorded for the respective restructuringgpthuring the current period present
@ All plan adjustments were changes in estimates eldyeincreases and decreases in costs were germe@dlded to operating expenses in the period jokadents
() Represents foreign currency translation and cedthiar adjustment:

(®  Other restructuring plans presented in the tabtwalincluded condensed information for other Or-based plans and other plans associated with cetaiar acquisitions whereby we continuec
make cash outlays to settle obligations under theses during the periods presented but for whiehperiodic impact to our consolidated statemehtgperations was not significar

10. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:

May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012
Software license updates and product sug $ 5700 $ 5,56
Hardware systems support and ot 70€ 714
Services 381 402
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip 32¢€ 358
Deferred revenues, curre 7,11¢ 7,03t
Deferred revenues, n-current (in other nc-current liabilities) 312 29€
Total deferred revenut $ 7430 $ 7,331

Deferred software license updates and product stuppeenues and deferred hardware systems supp@hues represent customer payments
made in advance for support contracts that areajlgibilled on a per annum basis in advance watltesponding revenues being recognized
ratably over the support periods. Deferred servieesnues include prepayments for our servicesbasiand revenues for these services are
generally recognized as the services are perfordefitrred new software licenses and cloud softwalescriptions revenues typically result
from undelivered products or specified enhancementstomer specific acceptance provisions, custgragments made in advance for time-
based arrangements including cloud software
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subscriptions offerings that are typically billedadvance and recognized over the correspondinmgamual term, and software license
transactions that cannot be segmented from undetiveonsulting or other services.

In connection with our acquisitions, we have estéddhe fair values of the cloud software subsitnits, software license updates and product
support, and hardware systems support obligatissisnraed from our acquired companies. We have egtihthé fair values of the obligations
assumed using a cost build-up approach. The cdsdt iy approach determines fair value by estimativgcosts related to fulfilling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The sunmha costs and operating profit approximates, @otf, the amount that we would be requ

to pay a third party to assume the acquired olitigat The aforementioned fair value adjustmenterndad for obligations assumed from our
acquisitions reduced the new software licenseschnal software subscriptions, software license tggland product support and hardware
systems support deferred revenues balances theooeded as liabilities from these acquisitions aist reduced the resulting revenues the
recognized or will recognize over the terms ofdhquired obligations during the post-combinatioriqais.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In September 2009, we entered into interest ratagreements that have the economic effect offgingdithe fixed interest obligations
associated with our 2014 Notes so that the intg@ghble on these notes effectively became varlzdded on LIBOR. The critical terms of the
interest rate swap agreements and the 2014 Notieb nrecluding the notional amounts and maturittedaAccordingly, we have designated
these swap agreements as qualifying hedging insmtsyand are accounting for them as fair value é&g@grsuant to ASC 815. These
transactions are characterized as fair value hefdgdimancial accounting purposes because theieptais against changes in the fair value of
our fixed rate borrowings due to benchmark interat movements. The changes in fair values oktirderest rate swap agreements are
recognized as interest expense in our consolidatedments of operations with the correspondinguantsancluded in other assets or other
non-current liabilities in our consolidated balasbeets. The amount of net gain (loss) attributabthe risk being hedged is recognized as
interest expense in our consolidated statemerdparations with the corresponding amount inclugexates payable and other non-current
borrowings. The periodic interest settlements, Whiccur at the same interval as the 2014 Notegeameded as interest expense. The fair
values of these interest rate swap agreementsdextas other assets in our consolidated balanetssivere $41 million and $69 million as of
May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We do not use interest rate swap agreements ftingrgurposes.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated a Hedges

We transact business in various foreign currermieshave established a program that primarilyzetiliforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaterforeign currency exposures. Under this prograun strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases aredses in our foreign currency exposures are dffseains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risks @nlatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposurgsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feetericompany loans and other
intercompany transactions that are generally exgetct be cash settled in the near term. Our foreigrency forward contracts are generally
short-term in duration. Our ultimate realized gainoss with respect to currency fluctuations wanerally depend on the size and type of
Cross-currency exposures that we enter into, theay exchange rates associated with these exgoand changes in those rates, the net
realized and unrealized gains or losses on foreigrency forward contracts to offset these expasarel other factors.

We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tlees@rd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we recorded tdievalues of these contracts as of the end ofeporting period to our consolidated
balance sheet with changes in fair values recot@edr consolidated statement of operations. Tlanlsa sheet classification for the fair val

of these forward contracts is prepaid expensestrat current assets for a net unrealized gairtipnsand other current liabilities for a net
unrealized loss position. The statement of opeanatiassification for changes in fair values osthérward contracts is non-operating income
net, for both realized and unrealized gains anseles
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As of both May 31, 2013 and 2012, the notional amt®of the forward contracts we held to purchase Dollars in exchange for other major
international currencies were $3.0 billion. As 0&B1, 2013 and 2012, the notional amounts of falweantracts we held to sell U.S. Dollars
in exchange for other major international curreseiere $1.1 billion and $873 million, respectivele fair values of our outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts were nominal at MayZ11,3 and 2012.

Included in our non-operating income, net were $(6dlion, $43 million and $(39) million of net (kses) gains related to these forward
contracts for the years ended May 31, 2013, 2082811, respectively.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities, furniture and equiptnerder operating leases. As of May 31, 2013, futnmimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdiwad non-cancelable subleases were as follows:

(in millions)
Fiscal 201 $ 35¢
Fiscal 201¢ 29:
Fiscal 201¢ 23C
Fiscal 2017 17¢
Fiscal 201¢ 117
Thereafte! 23¢
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,40¢
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (84
Total future minimum operating lease payments $ 1,32

Lease commitments included future minimum rent payts for facilities that we have vacated pursuamur restructuring and merger
integration activities, as discussed in Note 9.h&ee approximately $158 million in facility obligens, net of estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatlons in our consolidated balance sheet at MayG13.

Rent expense was $313 million, $329 million andébddllion for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respeelyy net of sublease income of
approximately $69 million, $89 million and $85 ok, respectively. Certain lease agreements conté@iewal options providing for extensic
of the lease terms.

Unconditional Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettan unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, which are agreements that are
enforceable, legally binding and specify termsluding: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchasidked, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the pagm®&/e utilize several external manufacturers toafiacture sub-assemblies for our
hardware products and to perform final assemblytasting of finished hardware products. We alsaiobindividual components for our
hardware systems products from a variety of indigldsuppliers based on projected demand informa8anh purchase commitments are b
on our forecasted component and manufacturing reapgints and typically provide for fulfilment withagreed upon lead-times and/or
commercially standard lead-times for the particplanrt or product and have been included in the amsdoelow. Routine arrangements for
other materials and goods that are not relatedit@xternal manufacturers and certain other supgpdied that are entered into in the ordinary
course of business are not included in the amdgitav as they are generally entered into in ordeseture pricing or other negotiated terms
and are difficult to quantify in a meaningful way.
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As of May 31, 2013, our unconditional purchase egdain other obligations were as follows (in roitis):
Fiscal 201« $ 767
Fiscal 201t 26
Fiscal 201¢ 4
Fiscal 2017 1
Fiscal 201¢ 1
Thereaftel 11

Total $ 80¢

We have a commitment to acquire a company for casbkideration that we expect to pay upon the dpsfrthis acquisition. As described in
Note 8 above, we have notes payable and otherwioge outstanding of $18.5 billion that mature atious future date:

Guarantees

Our software and hardware systems product saleeagnts generally include certain provisions fdemnifying customers against liabilities
if our products infringe a third party’s intelleetuproperty rights. To date, we have not incurney material costs as a result of such
indemnifications and have not accrued any matbabilities related to such obligations in our colidated financial statements. Certain of our
product sales agreements also include provisiatenmmifying customers against liabilities in the evwee breach confidentiality or service
level requirements. It is not possible to deterntiemaximum potential amount under these inderatifin agreements due to our limited anc
infrequent history of prior indemnification clainragd the unique facts and circumstances involvezhah particular agreement.

Our software license and hardware systems prodgteements also generally include a warranty thapmducts will substantially operate as
described in the applicable program documentatiom fperiod of one year after delivery. We alsorasatrthat services we perform will be
provided in a manner consistent with industry steidd for a period of 90 days from performance efdérvice.

We occasionally are required, for various reastimenter into financial guarantees with third pstin the ordinary course of our
business including, among others, guarantees ddlatioreign exchange trades, taxes, import liceaseal letters of credit on behalf of parties
with whom we conduct business. Such agreementstatead a material effect on our results of openat financial position or cash flows.

13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. On1Riri2012, we announced that our
Board of Directors approved an expansion of ourkstepurchase program by an additional $10.0 hill©on June 20, 2013, we announced tha
our Board of Directors approved a further expansipian additional $12.0 billion. Approximately $2illion remained available for stock
repurchases as of May 31, 2013 pursuant to ouk seprirchase program prior to the additional amauiorized in June 2013. We
repurchased 346.1 million shares for $11.0 billimcluding 3.2 million shares for $109 million thakre repurchased but not settled),

207.3 million shares for $6.0 billion and 40.4 moill shares for $1.2 billion in fiscal 2013, 20121&011, respectively, under the stock
repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquistions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchase of our debt,
our stock price, and economic and market conditins stock repurchases may be effected from torterte through open market purchases
or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repase program may be accelerated, suspended, delagextontinued at any time.
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Dividends on Common Stock

During fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, our Board ofebiors declared cash dividends of $0.30, $0.2458rll per share of our outstanding
common stock, respectively, which we paid durirggghme period.

The cash dividends of $0.30 per share of outstancdmmon stock declared by our Board of Directansrg) fiscal 2013 included an
accelerated cash dividend of $0.18 per share standing common stock paid on December 21, 201i8.ddeelerated cash dividend was
intended by our Board of Directors to be in lieugagrterly dividends that we would have otherwisaaunced with our earnings results for the
second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 201 #hat would have been paid in calendar year 2DLfing fiscal 2012, we declared and paid
cash dividends totaling $0.24 per share of outstgncommon stock.

In June 2013, our Board of Directors declared atgus cash dividend of $0.12 per share of outstamdommon stock. This $0.12 per share
cash dividend was an increase of $0.06 per shametbg last regular quarterly cash dividend of 6q8r share of outstanding common stock
paid on November 2, 2012 and was declared eahizar the Board of Directors had previously planfidek $0.12 per share cash dividend is
payable on August 2, 2013 to stockholders of reasrdf the close of business on July 12, 2013. Mvieently expect to continue paying
comparable cash dividends on a quarterly bastsariuture; however, future declarations of divideadd the establishment of future record
and payment dates are subject to the final detetioimof our Board of Directors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated otineprehensive (loss) income, net of
income taxes:

May 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012
Foreign currency translation (losses) gains androtiet $ (3 $ 12C
Unrealized losses on defined benefit plans, (17€) (109¢)
Unrealized gains on marketable securities, 80 10C
Total accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inc $ (99 $ 112

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bqglritentive Plan, which provides for the issuantean-qualified stock options and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchiges, stock appreciation rights and long-ternfqrenance awards to our eligible employees,
officers and directors who are also employees osglbants, independent consultants and advisefisdal 2011, our stockholders, upon the
recommendation of our Board of Directors, approthedadoption of the Amended and Restated 2000 Oamgy Equity Incentive Plan (the
2000 Plan), which extended the termination datdb@f2000 Plan by ten years and increased the nuoflaethorized shares of stock that may
be issued by 388,313,015 shares. Under the terthe @000 Plan, options to purchase common stazg@anted at not less than fair market
value, become exercisable as established by thelBganerally 25% annually over four years undaraurent practice) and generally expire
no more than ten years from the date of grant.fAday 31, 2013, options to purchase 426 millionresaf common stock were outstanding
under the 2000 Plan, of which 180 million were edstAs of May 31, 2013, approximately 296 millidrases of common stock were available
for future awards under the 2000 Plan. To datehawe not issued any stock purchase rights, stogfeajation rights, restricted stock-based
awards or long-term performance awards under t68 E@an.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DiretStock Option Plan (the Directors’ Plan), whidloyides for the issuance of non-qualified
stock options to non-employee directors. The DoetPlan has from time to time been amended astdtexd. Under the terms of the Directors
Plan, options to purchase 10 million shares of comstock were reserved for issuance
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(including a fiscal 2013 amendment to increasentiraber of shares of our common stock reservedsforaince by 2 million shares), options
granted at not less than fair market value, becexeecisable over four years and expire no more thiaryears from the date of grant. The
Directors’ Plan provides for automatic grants ofi@ps to each non-employee director upon first b@og a director and thereafter on an
annual basis, as well as automatic nondiscretiogamyts for chairing certain Board committees. Board will determine the particular terms
of any such stock awards at the time of grantttieiterms will be consistent with those of optignanted under the Directors’ Plan with
respect to vesting or forfeiture schedules andrtreat on termination of status as a director. AMay 31, 2013, options to purchase
approximately 3 million shares of common stock wautstanding under the 1993 Directors’ Plan, ofalitapproximately 2 million were
vested. As of May 31, 2013, approximately 2 mill&rares were available for future option awardsutids plan.

In connection with certain of our acquisitions, assumed certain outstanding stock options and o#iséicted stock-based awards of each
acquiree’s respective stock plans. These stockig@tnd other restricted stock-based awards génestdin all of the rights, terms and
conditions of the respective plans under which theye originally granted. As of May 31, 2013, stagkions to purchase 18 million shares of
common stock and 1 million shares of restrictedlsteased awards were outstanding under these plans.

The following table summarizes stock option acyi¥dr our last three fiscal years ended May 31,3201

Options Outstanding

Shares Undel Weighted

Average
(in millions, except exercise price Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 201 352 $ 18.8¢
Grantec 11C $ 22.5¢
Assumec 1 $ 16.3¢
Exercisec (78) $ 16.7¢
Cancelec (3) $ 29.17
Balance, May 31, 201 354 $ 19.5¢
Grantec 112 $ 32.0¢
Assumec 8 $ 12.1%
Exercisec (39 $ 16.6]
Cancelec (13 $ 29.31
Balance, May 31, 201 422 $ 22.6¢
Grantec 11¢ $ 29.9(
Assumec 9 $ 32.52
Exercisec (83) $ 17.3¢
Cancelec (20 $ 28.9¢
Balance, May 31, 201 447 $  25.4¢
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Options outstanding that have vested and thabgoected to vest as of May 31, 2013 were as follows:
Weighted
Weighted Average
Outstanding Remaining In-the-Money Aggregate
Average Contract Term Options as of Intrinsic
Options Exercise May 31, 201¢ value @
(in millions) Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 19z $21.15 5.1t 18¢ $ 2,491
Expected to ve«? 22¢ $ 28.6( 8.2 224 1,21¢
Total 421 $ 25.2( 6.8( 413 $ 3,70¢

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculateddasethe gross difference between our closing spoite on the last trading day of fiscal 2013 088 and the exercise prices for all

“in-the-money’ options outstanding, excluding tax effe«

The unrecognized compensation expense calculatger the fair value method for shares expectegsb (unvested shares net of expected forfeitagsf May 31, 2013 was
approximately $1.2 billion and is expected to bepgmized over a weighted average period of 2.57syéaproximately 26 million shares outstandingfday 31, 2013 were not
expected to ves

@

StockBased Compensation Expense and Valuation of Stptiods

Stock-based compensation is included in the folmwperating expense line items in our consolidatatements of operations:
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Sales and marketir $ 147 $ 122 % 87
Software license updates and product sug 20 18 14
Hardware systems produ 3 1 2
Hardware systems supp 5 5 5
Services 31 23 16
Research and developmt 352 29t 231
General and administrati 164 162 14k
Acquisition related and oth 33 33 1C
Total stocl-based compensatic 75E 65¢ 51C
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (243) (216 (170
Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefi $ 51: $ 44; $ 34(

We estimate the fair values of our share-based patgnusing the Black-Scholes-Merton option-prigimgdel, which was developed for use in
estimating the fair values of stock options. Optiatuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Marbptionpricing model, require the inp
of assumptions, including stock price volatilityh&hges in the input assumptions can materiallycaffe fair value estimates and ultimately
how much we recognize as stock-based compensagmanse. The fair values of our stock options wetgrgted at the grant dates or at the
acquisition dates for options assumed in a busio@sbination. The weighted average input assumgtimsed and resulting fair values of our
stock options were as follows for fiscal 2013, 2@h?l 2011:

Year Ended May 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected life (in years) 5.0 5.1 51
Risk-free interest rat 0.7% 1.6% 1.8%
Volatility 31% 30% 33%
Dividend yield 0.8% 0.8% 0.9%
Weighte-average fair value per she $ 79 $ 93 $ 6.6
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The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free interest rate input is based or
U.S. Treasury instruments, the annualized dividgaltl input is based on the per share dividendated by our Board of Directors and the
volatility input is calculated based on the impligaatility of our publicly traded options.

Tax Benefits from Exercise of Stock Options andtWesof Restricted StocBased Awards

Total cash received as a result of option exeraisesapproximately $1.4 billion, $622 million antl. $ billion for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of amtiexercised and vesting of restricted stock-basedds was $1.3 billion, $587 million and
$1.1 billion for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, regpety. In connection with these exercises andimgstf restricted stock-based awards, the ta
benefits realized by us were $410 million, $182ionl and $325 million for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 201espectively. Of the total tax benefits
received, we classified excess tax benefits fraraksbased compensation of $241 million, $97 milliovd $215 million as cash flows from
financing activities rather than cash flows froneming activities for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 20Ekpectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (PurctesgtPat allows employees to purchase sharesmframn stock at a price per share that
is 95% of the fair market value of Oracle stoclofithe end of the semi-annual option period. AMal 31, 2013, 64 million shares were
reserved for future issuances under the Purchase Rle issued 3 million shares under the Purchlaseifiscal 2013 and 4 million shares in
each of fiscal 2012 and 2011.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for aus. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidn plan expense was $353 million,
$344 million and $312 million for fiscal 2013, 2028d 2011, respectively. The number of plan paxaicis in our benefit plans has generally
increased in recent years primarily as a resudtdafitional eligible employees from our acquisitions

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings awveéstment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%hefr eligible compensation on a per-pay-perioddas defined by the Oracle 401(k) Plan
document or by the section 402(g) limit as defibgdhe United States Internal Revenue Service (IR& match a portion of employee
contributions, currently 50% up to 6% of compermatach pay period, subject to maximum aggregatehimg amounts. Our contributions to
the Oracle 401(k) Plan, net of forfeitures, wer@%million, $125 million and $119 million in fisc2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiamto certain key employees whereby they mayrdefmrtion of their annual base and/or
variable compensation until retirement or a datcs@d by the employee in accordance with the ql&referred compensation plan assets ani
liabilities were each approximately $320 millionaidMay 31, 2013 and were each approximately $28domas of May 31, 2012 and were
presented in other assets and other non-currdsilitlies in the accompanying consolidated balariesess.

We sponsor certain defined benefit pension plaasate offered primarily by certain of our foreigubsidiaries. Many of these plans were
assumed through our acquisitions or are requirdddaf regulatory requirements. We may deposit uiwd these plans with insurance
companies, third party trustees, or into governmmeahaged accounts consistent with local regulateguirements, as applicable. Our total
defined benefit plan pension expenses were $8lomil$55 million and $76 million for fiscal 2013022 and 2011, respectively. The aggre
projected benefit obligation and aggregate netlitplffunded status) of our defined benefit plarsof May 31, 2013 was $734 million and
$364 million, respectively, and as of May 31, 20485 $691 million and $297 million, respectively.
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15. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdmegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Domestic $ 6614 $ 6,28 $ 6,37¢

Foreign 7,28¢ 6,67¢ 5,03z
Income before provision for income tay $ 13,89¢ $ 12,96: $ 11,41

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Current provision
Federa $1,72( $1,611 $ 1,815
State 254 257 263
Foreign 1,11¢€ 1,104 1,035
Total current provisiol $ 3,09( $ 2,972 $ 3,115
Deferred (benefit) provisior
Federa $ (17¢ $ 267 $ (179
State 82 14 14
Foreign (20 (272) (88)
Total deferred (benefit) provisic $ (117 $ 9 $ (25%
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,97 $ 2,981 $ 2,86¢
Effective income tax rat 21.4% 23.0% 25.1%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 4,86¢ $ 4,53 $ 3,99/
Foreign earnings at other than United States (1,637 (1,479 (1,125
State tax expense, net of federal ber 29¢ 171 18¢
Settlements and releases from judicial decisiodsssatute expirations, n (144 (132) (53
Domestic production activity deductis (15%) a7¢) (20€)
Other, ne’ (259 57 66
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,97 $ 2,981 $ 2,864
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The components of our deferred tax liabilities asdets were as follows:

May 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Acquired intangible asse (1,795 (1,979
Unremitted earning (249 (322)
Total deferred tax liabilitie $(2,179) $(2,42¢)
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance $ 481 $ 60¢
Employee compensation and bene 997 90t
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 15¢ 19¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 243 252
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 2,70¢ 2,531
Other 44 5C
Total deferred tax asse $ 4,62¢ $ 4,55(
Valuation allowanct $ (999 $ (72%)
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,45¢ $ 1,39¢
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 974 $ 877
Non-current deferred tax asst 76€ 59¢
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (111 (28)
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (in other r-current liabilities) 73y (49
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,45¢ $ 1,39¢

We provide for United States income taxes on thdistributed earnings and the other outside basipdeary differences of foreign
subsidiaries unless they are considered indefinfihvested outside the United States. Duringhive quarter of fiscal 2012, we increased the
number of foreign subsidiaries in countries wittvéw statutory rates than the United States, theiregs of which we consider to be indefinit
reinvested outside the United States. If theseidialb®s generate sufficient earnings in the futore provision for income taxes may continue
to be favorably affected to a meaningful extenth@ligh any such favorable effects could be sigaifity reduced under a variety of
circumstances. At May 31, 2013, the amount of terapgodifferences related to undistributed earniagd other outside basis temporary
differences of investments in foreign subsidiatipsn which United States income taxes have not pemrided was approximately $26.2
billion and $6.9 billion, respectively. If thesedistributed earnings were repatriated to the UnBtdes, or if the other outside basis differel
were recognized in a taxable transaction, they @vgeherate foreign tax credits that would redueeféderal tax liability associated with the
foreign dividend or the otherwise taxable transactAt May 31, 2013, assuming a full utilizationtbé foreign tax credits, the potential net
deferred tax liability associated with these tenappdifferences of undistributed earnings and othaside basis temporary differences would
be approximately $8.0 billion and $2.2 billion, pestively.

Our net deferred tax assets were $1.5 billion and Billion as of May 31, 2013 and 2012, respetjivé/e believe it is more likely than not
that the net deferred tax assets will be realinettié foreseeable future. Realization of our nétrded tax assets is dependent upon our
generation of sufficient taxable income in futueas in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtaindferirom the reversal of temporary
differences, net operating loss carryforwards amxdctedit carryforwards. The amount of net defeteedassets considered realizable is subjec
to adjustment in future periods if estimates ofifattaxable income change.

The valuation allowance was $999 million and $72ion at May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Sabsgally all of the valuation
allowances as of May 31, 2013 and 2012 relatext@asaets established in purchase accounting. Apsesuent
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reduction of that portion of the valuation allowarand the recognition of the associated tax benaisociated with our acquisitions will be
recorded to our provision for income taxes subsegteeour final determination of the valuation alance or the conclusion of the
measurement period (as defined above), whicheveesdirst.

At May 31, 2013, we had federal net operating tssyforwards of approximately $1.2 billion. Thdesses expire in various years between
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2032, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had state netmagpiag loss carryforwards of approximately
$2.6 billion at May 31, 2013, which expire betwdiscal 2014 and fiscal 2032, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had total
foreign net operating loss carryforwards of appmadely $1.8 billion at May 31, 2013, which are |dbjto limitations on their utilization.
Approximately $1.5 billion of these foreign net opiing losses are not currently subject to expiratiates. The remainder of the foreign net
operating losses, approximately $274 million, egjietween fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2033. We had teditcarryforwards of approximately
$1.1 billion at May 31, 2013, which are subjeclitaitations on their utilization. Approximately $27million of these tax credit carryforwards
are not currently subject to expiration dates. fémainder of the tax credit carryforwards, appraatiefy $554 million, expire in various years
between fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2033.

We classify our unrecognized tax benefits as eitierent or non-current income taxes payable irtewmpanying consolidated balance
sheets. The aggregate changes in the balance gfaas unrecognized tax benefits, including actjaiss, were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ju $ 3,27¢  $ 3,16( $ 2,52
Increases related to tax positions from prior fisesrs 27¢ 99 12¢
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears (125) (169 (102)
Increases related to tax positions taken duringeoctifiscal yea 312 52z 63¢
Settlements with tax authoritir (72) (187) (23
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (77) (84) (53
Other, ne 1 (65) 44
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ma $ 3601 $327¢ $ 3,16(

As of May 31, 2013, $3.6 billion of unrecognizedbéts would affect our effective tax rate if recdzed. We recognized interest and penaltie
related to uncertain tax positions in our provisionincome taxes line of our consolidated stateehoperations of $31 million, $46 million
and $22 million during fiscal 2013, 2012 and 20EEpectively. Interest and penalties accrued dayf31, 2013 and 2012 were $666 million
and $683 million, respectively.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing authlesriare currently examining income tax return®wdcle and various acquired entities for
years through fiscal 2012. Many issues are at aaraxbd stage in the examination process, the rignsfisant of which include th
deductibility of certain royalty payments, trangfeicing, extraterritorial income exemptions, dotieeproduction activity, stock-based
compensation and research and development crakién.tOther issues are related to years with expsiatutes of limitation. With all of these
domestic audit issues considered in the aggregatbelieve it was reasonably possible that, asay BiL, 2013, the gross unrecognized tax
benefits related to these audits could decreasetfihby payment, release, or a combination of)botthe next 12 months by as much as 4
million ($280 million net of offsetting tax bened)t Our U.S. federal and, with some exceptions state income tax returns have been
examined for all years prior to fiscal 2000 andaxe no longer subject to audit for those periods.

Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norsljurisdictions are also examining returns affecbur unrecognized tax benefits. We
believe it was reasonably possible that, as of Bgy2013, the gross unrecognized tax benefits dodetrease (whether by payment, releas
a combination of both) by as much as $125 milli#®3 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to trans
pricing. Other issues are related to years withraxgpstatutes of limitation. With some exceptiong are generally no longer subject to tax
examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for year®pto fiscal 1998.
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We believe that we have adequately provided forraagonably foreseeable outcomes related to owudits and that any settlement will not
have a material adverse effect on our consoliditetcial position or results of operations. Howekere can be no assurances as to the
possible outcomes.

We previously negotiated three successive unilefaaance Pricing Agreements with the IRS that gawany of our intercompany transfer

pricing issues and preclude the IRS from makinguasfer pricing adjustment within the scope of ¢hagreements. These agreements were
effective for fiscal years through May 31, 2006. Wave reached final agreement with the IRS forwehef this Advance Pricing Agreement
for the years ending May 31, 2007 through May 31,3 However, these agreements do not cover sulatailements of our transfer pricing
and do not bind tax authorities outside the UnB&ates. We have finalized bilateral Advance Pridhggeements, which are effective for the
years ending May 31, 2002 through May 31, 2006May 31, 2007 through May 31, 201

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280,Segment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting informatiooud operating segments. Operating segments arededs
components of an enterprise about which separsedial information is available that is evaluategularly by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision making group, in deciding howaltocate resources and in assessing performansechief operating decision maker is our
Chief Executive Officer. We are organized geogrealy and by line of business. While our Chief BExtve Officer evaluates results in a
number of different ways, the line of business ngemaent structure is the primary basis for whichathecation of resources and financial
results are assessed. We have three businessesrargpfhardware systems and services—which aresfudirided into certain operating
segments. Our software business is comprised obpesating segments: (1) new software licenseschnal software subscriptions and

(2) software license updates and product suppanth@rdware systems business is comprised of twoating segments: (1) hardware system:
products and (2) hardware systems support. Allratperating segments are combined under our serbigginess.

The new software licenses and cloud software sigignrs line of business is engaged in licensingdatabase and middleware software and
our applications software, and providing accessbooad range of our software offerings on a sufssen basis through a cloud-based
computing environment. Database and middlewareveoét generally includes database and database erapatgsoftware; application server
and cloud application software; Service-Orientedhtecture and business process management softwesieess intelligence software;
identity and access management software; dataraiteqg software; web experience management, podaigent management and social
network software; and development tools. Our datalzad middleware software product offerings aistude Java, which is a global software
development platform used in a wide range of coemguinetworks and devices. Applications softwamides enterprise information that
enables companies to manage and automate coreebsi$imctions. Oracle Applications address spelifginess and industry requirements
including human capital and talent managementpeost experience and customer relationship managefirancial management and
governance, risk and compliance; procurement; pt@ertfolio management; supply chain managemarsingss analytics and enterprise
performance management; and industry-specific egpdins. Oracle Cloud is a comprehensive set afcchervice offerings that is designed to
provide customers and partners with access togtjgn services, social networking services, platfservices and common infrastructure
services on a subscription basis that we manage amal support.

The software license updates and product suppariof business provides customers with rights ftwswoe product upgrades and maintenanc
releases, patches released, internet access todalotontent, as well as internet and telephoresscto technical support personnel during the
support period.

The hardware systems products line of businesdstensimarily of servers, storage, networkingtuadization software, operating systems
including the Oracle Solaris Operating System aadagement software to support diverse IT environséncluding public and private cloud
computing environments. As a part of this line o$iness, we offer our Oracle Engineered Systerkiding Oracle Exadata Database
Machine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oracle E#a$ In-Memory Machine, Oracle SPARC SuperClustgcle Database Appliance, and
Oracle Big Data Appliance, which are the core boddlocks for Oracle’s data center and cloud catimguproducts and services.
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Our hardware systems support line of business gesviustomers with software updates for the sofwamponents that are essential to the
functionality of our server and storage produaishsas Oracle Solaris and certain other softwasdymts, and can include product repairs,
maintenance services and technical support services

Our services business is comprised of the remaioideur operating segments and offers consultingnaged cloud services and education
services. Our consulting line of business primapilgvides services to customers in business amstkéfegy alignment, enterprise architecture
planning and design, initial product implementatéon integration and ongoing product enhancemertsipgrades. Oracle managed cloud
services provide comprehensive software and hamlwanagement and maintenance services includirigyaeent, management, monitoring,
patching, security and upgrade services for custemested at our Oracle data center facilitiegctqlartner data centers, or physically on-
premise at customer facilities. Additionally, wepide support services, both on-premise and renmr customers to enable increased
performance and higher availability of their prothuand services. Education services provide trgitorcustomers, partners and employees
part of our mission of accelerating the adoptiod ase of our software and hardware products acdetate opportunities to grow our product
revenues.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentssegjuently, it is not practical to show assetefmrating segment.

Certain costs have been reclassified in the fi28&B, 2012 and 2011 periods presented to alignaviticurrent line of business management
structure.
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The following table presents summary results faheaf our three businesses and for the operatiggssts of our software and hardware
systems businesses:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
New software licenses and cloud software subsoript
Revenue® $10,35C $ 9,91C $ 9,22(
Sales and distribution expens 5,53¢ 5,19¢ 4,74¢
Margin @ $ 481« $4,712 $ 4,47«
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue® $17,15¢ $16,25¢ $14,87¢
Software license updates and product support erg 1,08( 1,11¢€ 1,14¢
Margin @ $16,07¢  $15,14: $13,73:
Total software busines
Revenue® $27,50¢  $26,16¢  $24,09¢
Expense! 6,61¢€ 6,314 5,89(
Margin @ $20,89( $19,85:  $18,20¢
Hardware systems produc
Revenue! $ 3,032 $3827 $ 4,38
Hardware systems products exper 1,49¢ 1,841 2,061
Sales and distribution expens 88t 1,05( 96(
Margin @ $ 65C $ 93¢ $ 1,361
Hardware systems suppc
Revenue® $ 2327 $2508 $2,71C
Hardware systems support exper 857 1,00¢ 1,221
Margin @ $147C $1,49¢ $ 1,48¢
Total hardware systems busine
Revenue® $536( $6,332 $ 7,092
Expense! 3,24( 3,89i 4,24z
Margin @ $ 212 $ 243 $ 2,85
Total services busines
Revenue® $ 4381 $4,721 $ 4,662
Services expenst 3,41¢ 3,60¢ 3,674
Margin @ $ 971 $1,11¢ $ 98¢
Totals:
Revenue® $37,25:  $37,22:  $35,85(
Expense! 13,27 13,81¢ 13,80¢
Margin @ $23,98. $23,40f $22,04«

() Operating segment revenues generally differ floenexternal reporting classifications due to d¢ersaftware license products that are classifiesemsice revenues for management
reporting purposes. New software licenses and csofisvare subscriptions revenues for managementtiep included revenues related to cloud softvgarescriptions contracts that
would have otherwise been recorded by the acqbiusthesses as independent entities but were nagmezed in the accompanying consolidated statenwérgperations in the
amounts of $45 million and $22 million for fisca)23 and 2012, respectively. Software license ugdatel product support revenues for managementtiegparcluded revenues
related to software support contracts that woulcetaherwise been recorded by the acquired busisessindependent entities but were not recogiizéiet accompanying
consolidated statements of operations in the anscfrts14 million, $48 million and $80 million foistal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. In addjtwe did not recognize hardware
systems support revenues related to hardware systgpport contracts that would have otherwise beeosrded by the acquired businesses as indepeeuiigs in the amounts of $
million, $30 million and $148 million for fiscal 2B, 2012 and 2011, respectively. See Note 10 faxatanation of these adjustments and the tabtebfer a reconciliation of our
total operating segment revenues to our total neee.

(2 The margins reported reflect only the direct oolfeble costs of each line of business and ddnubude allocations of product development, marigtind partner programs, and
corporate, general and administrative and inforomatechnology expenses. Additionally, the margiosidt reflect amortization of intangible assetgjugsition related and other
expenses, restructuring expenses, -based compensation, interest expense or certaén expenses, ne
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The following table reconciles total operating segitirevenues to total revenues as well as totahtipg segment margin to income before
provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Total revenues for operating segme $37,25: $37,22: $35,85(
New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptrevenue® (45) (22 —
Software license updates and product support reag®) (14 (48) (80)
Hardware systems support reven®) (149 (30) (149
Total revenue: $37,18( $37,12: $35,62:
Total margin for operating segme! $23,98: $23,40: $22,04-
New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptrevenue® (45) (22 —
Software license updates and product support reag®) (14) (48) (80)
Hardware systems support reven®) (14 (30) (14%)
Product developmel (4,32)) (4,050 (4,089
Marketing and partner program expen (597 (581) (607)
Corporate, general and administrative and inforomatiechnology expens (1,417 (1,497 (1,409
Amortization of intangible asse (2,385 (2,430 (2,42%)
Acquisition related and oth: 604 (56) (20%)
Restructuring (352) (295) (487)
Stoclk-based compensatic (722) (62€) (500
Interest expens (797) (76€) (80¢)
Other, ne (29 (48 12C
Income before provision for income tay $13,89¢ $12,96: $11,41:

(1) New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptievenues for management reporting includechteeerelated to cloud software subscriptions cotstrhat would have otherw
been recorded by the acquired businesses as imdiamgentities but were not recognized in the ac@ming consolidated statements of operations iratheunts of $45 million and
$22 million for fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectivedpftware license updates and product support tegefor management reporting included revenueterkta software support
contracts that would have otherwise been recorgidtidacquired businesses as independent entitiegdye not recognized in the accompanying conatdi statements of operations
in the amounts of $14 million, $48 million and $&dlion for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectvéh addition, we did not recognize hardware systsupport revenues related to
hardware systems support contracts that would btheswise been recorded by the acquired businessiesiependent entities in the amounts of $14nill$30 million and $148
million for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respective@ee Note 10 for an explanation of these adjustsn
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Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoinrafor each country that comprised greater tha@etipercent of our total revenues for an
fiscal 2013, 2012 or 2011.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

2013 2012 2011

Long Long Long

Lived Lived Lived
(in millions) Revenues Assets(d) Revenues Assets) Revenues Assets(1)
United State! $ 16,00 $ 292. $ 15,760 $ 2,46¢ $ 15,27 $ 2,35¢
United Kingdom 2,16 20z 2,30z 171 2,20(C 16¢€
Japar 1,77(C 42¢ 1,86~ 55C 1,731 551
Germany 1,30¢ 44 1,48¢ 47 1,47¢ 29
Canads 1,232 34 1,23¢ 37 1,174 16
Australia 1,08¢ 54 1,168 38 1,041 34
France 1,05¢ 17 1,162 16 1,14¢ 15
Other countrie: 12,56¢ 814 12,144 741 11,58: 661
Total $ 37,18( $ 451t $ 37,127 $ 4,066 $ 35,62: $ 3,83¢

@ Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible assejsijtg investments and deferred taxes, which arehotated to specific geographic locations as itripracticable to do s

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirnignum@me for the period by the weighted average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share mmated by dividing net income for the period by Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus theiddweffect of outstanding stock options, restricstock-based awards and shares issuable
under the employee stock purchase plan using ¢asury stock method. The following table sets ftnthcomputation of basic and diluted
earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 10,92! $ 9,98. $ 8,54:
Weighted average common shares outstan 4,76¢ 5,01t 5,04¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 75 8C 80
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 4,844 5,09¢ 5,12¢
Basic earnings per she $ 22¢ $ 19¢ $ 1.6¢
Diluted earnings per sha $ 22 $ 19 $ 1.67
Shares subject to a-dilutive stock options and restricted st-based awards excluded from calculai® 20¢ 11C 57

(@) These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutivelstiptions and restricted stoblased awards as calculated using the treasury stettlod and could be dilutive in the future. Se¢eNat
for information regarding the exercise prices of outstanding, unexercised optio
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18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely, Oracle) filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern Ditiof California against SAP AG, its wholly-ownedbsidiary, SAP America, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc., (the B&Subsidiary, and collectively, the SAP Defendaali€ging that SAP unlawfully
accessed Oracle’s Customer Connection support teedosil improperly took and used Oracle’s intellacproperty.

Trial commenced on November 1, 2010 on the issulapfages, as SAP had stipulated to liability. T awarded Oracle $1.3 billion. On
September 1, 2011, the court granted the SAP Dafastnotion for judgment as a matter of law and for @ téal. The court vacated the $.
billion award and held that Oracle could eitheregt@ reduced amount or remittitur of $272 mill@rproceed to a new trial. On February 6,
2012, Oracle rejected the remittitur and requeatadw trial.

On August 2, 2012, Oracle and the SAP Defendaipslated to a judgment of $306 million against 8%&P Defendants, in lieu of having a
second jury trial, while preserving both partiaghts to appeal prior court orders. We recorde8@63nillion non-current receivable, included
in other assets, in our consolidated balance strektve recognized a corresponding benefit to ault®of operations for the first quarter of
fiscal 2013. Previously during trial we received/peent of $120 million in attorneys’ fees from SARder a stipulation, and we recorded this
payment upon receipt as a benefit to our resultpefations during the second quarter of fiscall2@n August 3, 2012, the court entered the
judgment and vacated the date set for the new @iacle filed a Notice of Appeal on August 31, 20and the SAP Defendants filed a no

of appeal on September 14, 2012. The SAP Defendab&equently dismissed their appeal. Oracle’sa s been fully briefed. The
appellate court has not yet scheduled a date &rapgument.

Hewlett-Packard Company Litigation

On June 15, 2011, Hewlett-Packard Company (“HR&pfa complaint in the California Superior Couru@ty of Santa Clara against Oracle
Corporation alleging numerous causes of actiorutfinoly breach of contract, breach of the covenagbofl faith and fair dealing, defamation,
intentional interference with prospective econoadeantage, and violation of the California UnfairdBhess Practices Act. The complaint
alleged that when Oracle announced on March 228n8011 that it would no longer develop futuresiens of its software to run on HP’s
Itanium-based servers, it breached a settlemertawnt signed on September 20, 2010 between HRlarkdHurd (the “Hurd Settlement
Agreement”), who was both HP’s former chief exegifficer and chairman of H®board of directors. HP sought a judicial declarabf the
parties’ rights and obligations under the Hurd IBatent Agreement, and other equitable and monetdisf.

Oracle answered the complaint and filed a crossptaimt, which was amended on December 2, 2011 ahtrended cross-complaint alleged
claims including violation of the Lanham Act. Oracllleged that HP had secretly agreed to pay totebntinue to develop and manufacture
Itanium microprocessor, and had misrepresentedgtomers that the Itanium microprocessor had atoagmap, among other claims. Oracle
sought equitable rescission of the Hurd Settlemgnéement, and other equitable and monetary relief.

The court bifurcated the trial and tried HP’s causkaction for declaratory relief and promissosyoppel without a jury in June 2012. The
court issued a final statement of decision on Aug8s2012, finding that the Hurd Settlement Agreanrequired Oracle to continue to
develop certain of its software products for uséHétis Itanium-based servers and to port such prsdatano cost to HP for as long as HP sells
those servers. Oracle has announced that it isatipgehis decision. The issues of breach, HP'$goerance, causation and damages, HP’s tol
claims, and Oracle’s cross-claims will all be trieefore a jury. As of April 8, 2013, the trial imged pending Oracle’s appeal of the court’s
denial of its anti-SLAPP motion. We cannot currgmstimate a reasonably possible range of losthisiaction. We believe that we have
meritorious defenses against this action, and vilecemtinue to vigorously defend it.
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Derivative Litigations and Related Action

Various stockholder derivative lawsuits have bek fagainst Oracle and certain former and curd@etctors in connection with a qui tam
lawsuit that had been filed against Oracle in timétédl States District Court for the Eastern DistotVirginia. The qui tam action alleged that
Oracle made false statements to the General Sersdministration (GSA) in 1997-1998 while negotigfiits GSA contract, among other
claims. Oracle settled this action without admgtliability, and the case was dismissed on OctdfieR2011. Thereafter, the following
stockholder derivative actions have been filednulag that the named officer and director defendavere responsible for certain alleged
conduct in the qui tam action and thereby expo€iregle to reputational damage, monetary damagesasid and asserting claims for breach
of fiduciary duty, abuse of control and unjust ehment: on August 2, 2010, a stockholder derivadawesuit was filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia; on August 19, 2010, a similar stockholderdive lawsuit was filed in California
Superior Court, County of San Mateo; and on Sepéer@8p2011, another stockholder derivative lawsai$ filed in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California. THiest two derivative actions were consolidated, putsuant to a motion by Oracle, they were
dismissed on November 11, 2011, with leave to fiféérto amend. No amended complaint has been.filed

On September 12, 2011, two alleged stockholde@ratle filed a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandafor Inspection of Corporate Books and
Records in California Superior Court, County of $4ateo. The petition originally named as responsi@riacle and two of our officers, bott
whom were subsequently dismissed. The alleged lstddérs claim that they are investigating allegegborate mismanagement relating to the
claims in the qui tam action, and asked the caucbimpel the inspection of certain of Oracle’s agttimg books and records and minutes of
meetings of the stockholders, our Board of Dirextond the committees of our Board of Directorgtesl to those allegations, plus expenses c
the audit and attorneys’ fees. At a hearing on Mdwer 10, 2011, the court granted the alleged stdkins’ request for a Writ of Mandate,
which was confirmed in a judgment on December 02,12 Oracle filed a notice of appeal on FebruarZ,2.

The parties in the derivative and Writ of Mandatéans discussed above have reached a tentativensent of these actions, under which
Oracle will continue or implement certain corporgt&ernance measures, which shall remain in plaicthfee years, and Oracle will pay, or
cause Oracle’s insurers to pay, plaintiffs’ attgsidees and costs up to $1.9 million. The settleni® subject to court approval, and a hearing
on whether the court will approve the settlemerstciseduled for July 11, 2013.

On September 30, 2011, a stockholder derivativsuéwvas filed in the Delaware Court of Chancergt arsecond stockholder was permitte
intervene as a plaintiff on November 15, 2011. Atraigust 22, 2012, hearing, the court dismissethteclaims but permitted certain claims
for breach of fiduciary duty to proceed. On May813, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. Theidsive suit is brought by two alleged
stockholders of Oracle, purportedly on Oracle’sdiklagainst one former director and all but twaaf current directors, including against our
Chief Executive Officer as an alleged controllingckholder. Plaintiffs allege that Oracle’s dirastbreached their fiduciary duties in agreeing
to purchase Pillar Data Systems, Inc. at an exeegsice. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief, res@n of the Pillar Data transaction, damages,
disgorgement of our Chief Executive Officeelleged profits, disgorgement of all compensatiamed by defendants as a result of their se
on Oracle’s Board or any committee of the Board| am award of attorneys’ fees and costs. The gactierently are finishing fact discovery,
and are conducting expert discovery.

While the outcome of the derivative litigations &hd related action noted above cannot be predieiiidcertainty, we do not believe that the
outcome of any of these matters, individually othia aggregate, will result in losses that are radlgin excess of amounts already
recognized, if any.

Other Litigation

We are party to various other legal proceedingscaichs, either asserted or unasserted, which arige ordinary course of business,
including proceedings and claims that relate taigitions we have completed or to companies we lageired or are attempting to acquire.
While the outcome of these matters cannot be pesdiiwith certainty, we do not believe that the oute of any of these matters, individually
or in the aggregate, will result in losses thatraegerially in excess of amounts already recognidezhy.
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SCHEDULE Il
ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions Translation
Charged Adjustments
Beginnning to Operations or and Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts Write -offs Other Balance
Allowances for Doubtful Trade Receivab
Year Ended
May 31, 2011 $ 30E $ 164 $ (119 $ 16 $ 372
May 31, 201Z $ 372 $ 92 $ (107) $ (34 $ 32¢
May 31, 201% $ 32¢ $ 11€ $ (167) $ 22 $ 29€
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

Date: June 26, 2013

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

Name

Title

Date

/s/  LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol

Is] SAFrRAA. CATZ

Safra A. Cat:

/sl WiLLiIAM C orReYW EST

William Corey Wes

/s/  JEFFREYO. HENLEY

Jeffrey O. Henle

/s] JEFFREYS. BERG

Jeffrey S. Ber

/s/ H. RaymoNnD B INGHAM

H. Raymond Binghar

/s/  MicHAEL J. BOSKIN

Michael J. Boskir

/s/ BRUCER. CHIZEN

Bruce R. Chizel

/s] GEORGEH. C ONRADES

George H. Conrade

/s/ HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA

Hector Garci-Molina

/s/ MARK V. H URD

Mark V. Hurd

/s Naowmi O. SELIGMAN

Naomi O. Seligmal

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Exgive Officer)
President, Chief Financial Officer and Directorifipal Financial
Officer)

Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting

Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

President and Director

Director
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ORACLE CORPORATION
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed herewith or areamporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikeith the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No.  Exhibit Filing Date Filed By Herewith

3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio@racle 8-K 12G: 000-51788 3.1  2/6/06 Oracle Corporation
Corporation and Certificate of Amendment of Amended
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Oracle [i2wation

3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle Corporz 8-K  00(-51788 3.02 7/14/06 Oracle Corporatiol
4.01 Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stoc S-3 ASR 33:-16664: 4.04 5/7/10 Oracle Corporatiol

4.02 Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Ozark hipldi 8-K  000-1437610.34 1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati
Inc., Oracle Corporation and Citibank, N.

4.03 Form of Old 2016 Note, together with the Officers’ 8-K  000-1437610.3% 1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati
Certificate issued January 13, 2006 pursuant tonitienture
dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle Corporatwm€rly
known as Ozark Holding Inc.) and Citibank, N

4.04 Form of New 5.25% Note due 20 S-4/A 33:-13225( 4.4 4/14/06 Oracle Corporatiol

4.05 First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 gmon S-3 ASR 333-14279¢ 4.3 5/10/07 Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The BaniNaiw
York Trust Company, N.A

4.06 Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013, 5.75% Note due 26til8a 8-K  000-51788 4.09 4/8/08 Oracle Corporation
6.50% Note due 2038, together with Officers’ Cégtife
issued April 9, 2008 setting forth the terms of Nwtes

4.07 Forms of 3.75% Note due 2014, 5.00% Note due 206#9 a 8-K  000-51788 4.08 7/8/09 Oracle Corporation
6.125% Note due 2039, together with Officers’ Giexdite
issued July 8, 2009 setting forth the terms ofNlbges

4.08 Forms of Original 2020 Note and Original 2040 Note, 10-Q 000-51788 4.08 9/20/10 Oracle Corporation
together with Officers’ Certificate issued July 2810
setting forth the terms of the Not

4.09 Forms of New 2020 Note and New 2040 N S-4 33317640 4.5 8/19/11 Oracle Corporatiol

4.10 Forms of 1.20% Note due 2017 and 2.50% Note du2,202 8-K  000-51788 4.10 10/25/1: Oracle Corporation
together with Officers’ Certificate issued Octo2&;, 2012
setting forth the terms of the Not

10.01’ Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rlan, 10-Q 000-5178810.01 3/23/09 Oracle Corporation
amended and restated as of January 1,

123



Table of Contents

Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed By

Filed
Herewith

10.02°

10.03’

10.04°

10.05*

10.06”

10.07*

10.08

10.09

10.10°

10.11°

10.12°
10.13°
10.14

12.01
21.01
23.01

31.01

31.02

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pla@2)1as 10K
amended and restated as of October 1, :

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Dirgct 10Q
Stock Plan, as amended and restated on NovemB6éd Z

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Inceri®han, 8-K
as approved on October 6, 2(

Form of Stock Option Agreements under the Amendet a  10-Q
Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan fd8.U
Executive Vice Presidents and Section 16 Offi

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Oraclep@mtion 10-Q
Amended and Restated 1993 Direc’ Stock Plar

Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and Exee 10Q
Officers

Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement relatiniipe 8-K
$3,000,000,000 Commercial Paper Prog

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between Oracle 8-K
Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Aason
dated as of April 23, 201

Offer letter dated February 2, 2010 to John Foatet 10Q
employment agreement dated February 2, :

Offer letter dated September 2, 2010 to Mark V.dHamnd 8-K
employment agreement dated September 3,

Oracle Corporation Executive Bonus P 8-K
Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive | 1C¢-Q

$3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreemem¢das of 8-K
April 22, 2013 among Oracle Corporation and theléa and
agents named there

Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chai
Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic
Accounting Firm

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Princiflecutive
Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principaancial
Officer
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000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

000-51788

00(¢-51788
00C-15086
000-51788

10.0Z

10.0¢

10.3C

10.0¢

10.0¢

10.07

10.2

10.0¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢
10.1
10.14

7/1/10

12/21/12

10/13/1C

12/23/11

12/23/11

12/23/11

2/9/06

4/26/13

3/29/10

9/8/10

10/13/1C

Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporatiol

2/6/08 Sun Microsystems, In

4/26/13

Oracle Corporation
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed By Herewith
32.01 Section 1350 Certification of Principal ExecutivéiGer and X
Principal Financial Office
101 Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Ragan S-T: X

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 20182012,
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations forytbars ended
May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (iii) Consolidated Stants of
Comprehensive Income for the years ended May 313,22012
and 2011 (iv) Consolidated Statements of Equitytieryears
ended May 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, (v) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag(®l3,
2012 and 2011, (vi) Notes to Consolidated Finariatements
and (vii) Financial Statement Schedul

*  Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer
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Exhibit 12.01

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Unaudited)
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Earnings ®
Income before provision for income tay $13,89¢ $12,96:. $11,41: $8,24: $7,83¢
Add: Noncontrolling interest 112 11¢ 97 95 84
Add: Fixed charge 85( 827 87¢ 80¢ 68E
Total earning: $14,86( $13,90¢ $12,38: $9,14¢ $8,60:
Fixed Charges®
Interest expens $ 797 $ 76€ $ 80¢ $ 754 $ 63C
Estimate of interest in rent exper 53 61 67 54 55
Total fixed charge $ 85C $ 827 $ 87E $ 80¢ $ 68t
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 17x 17x 14x 11x 13x

() The term “earnings” means the amounts resultio fthe following: (a) our income before provisitam income taxes, plus (b) the noncontrolling iets in the net income of our
majority owned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed rcjes.

(@ The tern*fixed charge” means the amounts resulting from the following:ofay) interest expense, plus (b) our estimate ofrttezest component of rent exper
We do not report any shares of preferred stockandiéng in our consolidated financial statementsabbse our outstanding preferred stock is

owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsidisriOur ratio of earnings to combined fixed chaayes preferred dividends for any given
period is equivalent to our ratio of earnings t@fl charges.



Name of Subsidiar

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle Global Holdings, Int
Oracle America, Inc

Oracle Technology Compat
OCAPAC Holding Compan
OCAPAC Research Partn
OCAPAC Research Compal
OCAPAC Distributor Partne
OCAPAC Hardware Partn

ORACLE CORPORATION
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Place of Incorporatio
California

Delaware
Delaware
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland

Exhibit 21.01



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Form ¢-8

Form &-3

Form S8

Form S8

Form &-8

Form S8

Form S8

Form S8

Form ¢4

Form S8

Form S8

Form &-3

Form S8

33E-18792:

33E-18791¢

333-18697:

333-18406:

33E-18102:

333-17958¢

33317913:

33317698t

33E-17640¢

333-17193¢

333-16908¢

333-16664:

33316473¢

Acme Packet, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive P

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 DirgcStock Plan, Eloqua Limited 2006 Stock OptidarP
Eloqua, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Incentive F

Vitrue, Inc. 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plasamended, Vitrue, Inc. 2011 Stock Option andntice Plan,
Xsigo Systems, Inc. 2004 Stock P

Taleo Corporation 2004 Stock Plan, Taleo Corpona2@09 Equity Incentive Ple

RightNow Technologies, Inc. 2004 Equity Incentivark? as amended and restated, RightNow Technoldgies
Amended and Restated 1998 L-Term Incentive and Stock Option PI

Endeca Technologies, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive ,Fadeca Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restate@ 19
Stock Incentive Plan, GoAhead Software, Inc. 20@ISPlan

FatWire Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan, as atedn FatWire Corporation Second Amended 1999 Stock
Option Plan, as amended, InQuira, Inc. AmendedRestated 2002 Stock Plan, InQuira, Inc. Amended and
Restated 2002 Stock Plan for Officers and Direc

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 LargiEEquity Incentive Plan
Art Technology Group, Inc. Amended and Restated61®@ck Option Plan, Art Technology Group, Inc.ARus
Knowledge Solutions, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Cengation Plal

Phase Forward Incorporated Amended and Restatet2@@k Option and Incentive Plan, Convergin, lacaeli
2001 Stock Option Plan, as ameni

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive PRam Microsystems, Inc. 1990 Long-Term Equity Inoen
Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. Equity Compensatiogugition Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1988 Dires'to
Stock Option Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1997 éme®tock Option Plan, Afara Websystems, Inc. 20§Q0ity
Incentive Plan, Cobalt Networks, Inc. Amended aedtRted 1997 Employee Stock Plan, Forte Softwace 1199¢
Stock Option Plan, Forte Software, Inc. 1997 St@pkion Plan, Gridware, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentivar®
HighGround Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan, Inno8aérnational, Inc. 1992 Stock Incentive PlamdBoft
International, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan,dgolnc. Stock Option Plan, Kealia, Inc. Amended &estated
2001 Stock Plan, Large Storage Configurations,imm@ted 1992 Stock Option Plan, MySQL AB Globahf&h
Option Plan 2005, Neogent, Inc. 2001 Stock Inceniian, Pirus Networks, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan
SeeBeyond Technology Corporation 1998 Stock Plame®Space, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan, Star Division Corporation 1998 &tBtan, Amended and Restated Storage Technology
Corporation 1995 Equity Participation Plan, Stordgehnology Corporation 2004 Long Term Incentiveri|
Tarantella, Inc. 2002 Incentive Stock Option Plaarantella, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan, WavesehTelogies,
Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan, SilveelCSystems, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive F



Form ¢-8

Form ¢-8

Form ¢-8

Form S8

Form &-8

Form S8

Form S8

Form S8

Form S8

Form ¢-8

333-16314"

33&-15775¢

33E-15366(

33315104

33E-14740(

33314516:

33314277¢

33314222¢

333-13990:

33513987

GoldenGate Software, Inc. 2002 Equity IncentivenPés amende
Primavera Software, Inc. Amended and Restated 306k Option Plal
AdminServer, Inc. 2003 Stock Option PI

BEA Systems, Inc. 1995 Flexible Stock IncentivenPBEA Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, BEA
Systems, Inc. 2000 NoQualified Stock Incentive Plan, BEA Systems, IN@0& Stock Incentive Plan, The The:
Center Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option/3¢sclance Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 1997 Equity
Incentive Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 2002 Stelen

Bridgestream 1999 Stock Plan, Logical Apps, In@2&quity Incentive Pla

Agile Software Corporation 1995 Stock Option Plagile Software Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory St@gktion
Plan, The Digital Market, Inc. 1995 Stock P

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity InceatRian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1999 Stopki@n
Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stocki@p8tock Issuance Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corjiama
1992 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Software Corporai991 Stock Plan, Hyperion Software Corporati®ll
Stock Plan, Decisioneering, Inc. 1997 Stock Opktan, SQRIBE 1995 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Safav
Corporation 1991 Non-Employee Director Stock Op#an, Brio Software, Inc. 2000 Non-Executive Diogc
Stock Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Stogkion Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Directors’ &dption
Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Non-Executive St@giion Plan, Arbor Software Corporation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Pl

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity Inceat®Rian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and the Arbor Softwamgp@ration 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance |

Stellent, Inc. 1994-1997 Stock Option and Compéasdtlan, InfoAccess, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan a
amended September 29, 1999, InfoAccess, Inc. 189Kk ®ption Plan as amended September 29, 199:18{e
Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Option and Compensatian,tellent, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, Std|lInc.
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock InceRtarg Stellent, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997chire
Stock Option Plan, Optika Imaging Systems, Inc.4188ck Option /Stock Issuance Plan, Amendmentatik@
Imaging Systems, Inc. 1994 Stock Option/Stock IssaaPlan, Optika Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Stock IndemfPlan,
Optika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Amendmen®Oiptika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Stelldnt. 2005
Equity Incentive Plan, French Annex to the Stellémt. 2000 Stock Incentive Pl

MetaSolv, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, MetaSol, lnon¢-Term Incentive Plai



Form ¢-8

Form S8

Form S8

Form S8

333-13869:-

33313627

333-13198¢

333-13142°

SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2005 Option Plan, SRbrldGroup Holdings, LLC 2004 Equity Incentive P!

Portal Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plarmt&@oftware, Inc. 2000 Supplemental Stock OpBdem, Porta
Software, Inc. 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Rda amended and succeeded by the 1999 Stockilrecen
Plan)

Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996 Equity Incentive Plagb8li Systems, Inc. 1996 Supplemental Stock Op8ahel
Systems, Inc. 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, InterdetiWorkPlace, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan, Janrse®ys Inc
Amended and Restated Share Compensation Plan,eQufitware, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Option and
Compensation Plan, OnLink Technologies, Inc. 19@®ISOption Plan, OnTarget, Inc. 1999 Stock AwalahP
OpenSite Technologies, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Piates.Com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, OgtiGmante
Outside of Sales.com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentiv@nPBalesRepsOnline.com, Inc. 2000 Stock OptionkSto
Issuance Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1991 Statio®@Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1995 Directpti@h
Plan

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 LargyEEquity Incentive Plan, Oracle Corporation Anmeshd
and Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, Oracle@mation 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amen@edcle
Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (1992neended and restated, ProfitLogic, Inc. Secondkiad
and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as ameRaeplesoft, Inc. Amended and Restated 1989 Stiack P
Peoplesoft, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, Peoplesoft,2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoft, 1992
Directors’ Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoft, Inc. 2@B&:ctors Stock Plan, Intrepid Systems, Inc. 188&k Option
Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Incentive Stopkdd Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Nonqualifie
Stock Option Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1997 &duaicentive Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 2003 Bqui
Incentive Plan, Red Pepper Software Company 198&SDption Plan, Skillsvillage 1999 Stock Plan, insaape
Corporation 1998 Stock Plan, Trimark Technologies, 1993 Stock Option Plan, The Vantive Corporatio
Amended and Restated 1991 Stock Option Plan, TiivéaCorporation 1997 Nonstatutory Stock Optioar|
Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rdaacle Corporation 401(k) Savings and Investméam

of our reports dated June 26, 2013, with respetttd@onsolidated financial statements and schexfulizacle Corporation, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigdoeting of Oracle Corporation, included in this Arah Report (Form 10-K) of Oracle
Corporation for the year ended May 31, 2013.

San Jose, California
June 26, 2013

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 2013 By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 2013 By: /s/ SAFRAA. CATz

Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being subrdtte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @eaCorporation for the purpose of
complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}leé Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio® 3% hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officei@acle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chie&Rkcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that, to the best of his or her Kedge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc
2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of Oracle

Corporation.
Date: June 26, 2013 By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer
Date: June 26, 2013 By: /s/ SAFRAA. C ATz

Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer



